CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

BRUSSELS

24 AND 25 FEBRUARY 1998



,	,	,	

CONTENTS

PAGE

	INTRODUCTION
I.	
II.	OPENING MEETING AND HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING
	STATEMENTS BY:
	ERIK DERYCKE, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM
	HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO, PRESIDENT OF THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION
	OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY 5
	KOFI ANNAN, SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS
	(Statement delivered by Sir Kieran Prendergast, Under-Secretary-General for Political Affairs)
	IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE
	AZZEDINE LARAKI, SECRETARY GENERAL OF THE
	ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE
	SAID KAMAL, ASSISTANT SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE
	LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES
	CARLOS LEMOS SIMMONDS, VICE-PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF
	COLOMBIA (ON BEHALF OF ERNESTO SAMPER PIZANO, PRESIDENT OF COLOMBIA AND CHAIRMAN OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES
	YASSER ARAFAT, CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND PRESIDENT OF THE
	PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY
III.	RESUMED HIGH LEVEL-PLENARY MEETING
	STATEMENTS BY:
	SADOK FAYALA, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF TUNISIA
	CHERIF YOUNOUSS DIAITÉ, AMBASSADOR, DIRECTOR OF THE CABINET OF THE MINISTER FOR
	FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SENEGAL (ON BEHALF OF ABDOU DIOUF, PRESIDENT OF SENEGAL)
	L. N. SISULU, DEPUTY MINISTER OF HOME AFFAIRS OF SOUTH AFRICA
	(ON BEHALF OF NELSON MANDELA, PRESIDENT OF SOUTH AFRICA)
	FARUK LOGOGLU, DEPUTY UNDER-SECRETARY FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS,
	MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF TURKEY
	MOUNIR ZAHRAN, PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF EGYPT TO THE
	United Nations and other international organizations in Geneva (on Behalf of Amre Moussa, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Egypt)
	AHMAD MOHAMMED ALI, PRESIDENT OF THE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK,
	SIMBARASHE S. MUMBENGEGWI, PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF ZIMBABWE
	TO THE EUROPEAN LINION (ON BEHALF OF ROBERT G. MUGABE, PRESIDENT OF
	ZIMBASWE AND CHAIRMAN OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY)

	<u>Page</u>
	Nassir Alassap, Ambassador op Saudi Arabia to Belgium (on behalf op His Royal Highness Prince Saud Al-Faysal, Minister for Foreign Appairs op Saudi Arabia
IV.	GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS
	Promoting the inalienable rights of the Palestinian people - a key to peace in the Middle East
	The need to improve the living conditions of the Palestinian people and to promote economic and social development
	THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS: THE CURRENT SITUATION AND PROSPECTS
	STATEMENTS BY EMINENT PERSONS:
	SHULAMIT ALONI, MERETZ PARTY, FORMER MINISTER OF EDUCATION OF ISRAEL
	Nabil Shaath, Minister of Planning and International Cooperation, Palestinian Authority
	HARRY G. BARNES, JR., DIRECTOR, CONFLICT RESOLUTION AND HUMAN RIGHTS PROGRAMS, THE CARTER CENTER
	MICHAEL HINDLEY, MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT (LABOUR, UNITED KINGDOM), CO-CHAIRMAN OF THE PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION
	HENRY SIEGMAN, DIRECTOR, UNITED STATES/MIDDLE EAST PROJECT AND SENIOR FELLOW, COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS
	MOHAMED ABDELLAH, CHAIRMAN OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS COMMITTEE OF
	THE PEOPLE'S ASSEMBLY OF EGYPT
V.	CLOSING MEETING
	JEAN DE RUYT, DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF MULTILATERAL POLICY OF THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM
	M. NASSER AL-KIDWA, PERMANENT OBSERVER OF PALESTINE TO THE UNITED NATIONS
	IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE
VI.	CONCLUDING REMARKS OF THE ORGANIZERS
VII.	LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. INTRODUCTION

OBJECTIVES OF THE CONFERENCE

A HIGH-LEVEL CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WAS ORGANIZED BY THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN COOPERATION WITH THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES. THE CONFERENCE WAS HELD AT BRUSSELS ON 24 AND 25 FEBRUARY 1998.

IN CONVENING THE CONFERENCE, THE THREE ORGANIZERS EXPRESSED GREAT CONCERN AT THE CONTINUING SERIOUS SITUATION FACED BY THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST, AND AT THE GROWING HARDSHIPS AND HOPELESSNESS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE LIVING IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES, INCLUDING JERUSALEM. THEY EXPRESSED THEIR BELIEF THAT EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE A POLITICAL SETTLEMENT WOULD SUCCEED ONLY IF THEY WERE ACCOMPANIED BY POLICIES DESIGNED TO RESTORE FAITH IN A JUST SOLUTION BASED ON INTERNATIONALLY ACCEPTED PRINCIPLES AND TO PROMOTE IMPROVED LIVING CONDITIONS AND ECONOMIC COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT, THUS GIVING HOPE FOR A BETTER FUTURE NOT ONLY TO PALESTINIANS BUT ALSO TO ALL THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION.

THE ORGANIZERS STRESSED THAT, IN THAT SPIRIT, THEY HAD DECIDED TO REDOUBLE THEIR EFFORTS TO RESPOND CONSTRUCTIVELY TO THE SITUATION AND TO HELP THE PEACE PROCESS MOVE FORWARD. THE OBJECTIVE OF THE CONFERENCE WAS TO ADDRESS THE MOST PRESSING ISSUES IN THAT REGARD AND TO PROMOTE INTENSIFIED INTERNATIONAL ACTION IN SUPPORT OF THE ATTAINMENT OF PALESTINIAN RIGHTS AND FOR THE SUCCESS OF THE PEACE EFFORTS.

ORGANIZATION OF THE CONFERENCE

THE CONFERENCE WAS ATTENDED BY 102 GOVERNMENTS, 10 UNITED NATIONS ORGANS, AGENCIES AND BODIES, 6 INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS, 47 NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS AND 3 SPECIAL GUESTS. IT WAS ALSO ATTENDED BY DELEGATIONS OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, HEADED BY IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN; THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, HEADED BY AZZEDINE LARAKI, SECRETARY-GENERAL; AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, HEADED BY SAID KAMAL, ASSISTANT SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR PALESTINIAN AFFAIRS (SEE SECTION VII FOR THE LIST OF PARTICIPANTS).

THE CONFERENCE CONSISTED OF AN OPENING MEETING AND A HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING, AND A GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS, WITH THE PARTICIPATION OF A NUMBER OF EMINENT PERSONS.

AT THE OPENING MEETING AND THE HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING, HELD ON THE MORNING OF 24 FEBRUARY, STATEMENTS WERE MADE BY: ERIK DERYCKE, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM ON BEHALF OF THE HOST COUNTRY; HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO, PRESIDENT OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY; SIR KIERAN PRENDERGAST, UNDER-SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS, WHO READ OUT A MESSAGE FROM KOFI ANNAN, UNITED NATIONS SECRETARY-GENERAL; IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE; AZZEDINE LARAKI, SECRETARY GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES; CARLOS LEMOS SIMMONDS, VICE-PRESIDENT OF COLOMBIA, ON BEHALF OF ERNESTO SAMPER PIZANO, CHAIRMAN OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES; AND YASSER ARAFAT, CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND PRESIDENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY.

IN THE RESUMED HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING, ON THE AFTERNOON OF 24 FEBRUARY, STATEMENTS WERE MADE BY SADOK FAYALA, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF TUNISIA; CHERIF YOUNOUSS DIAITÉ, DIRECTOR OF THE CABINET OF THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SENEGAL; L. N. SISULU, DEPUTY MINISTER OF HOME AFFAIRS OF SOUTH AFRICA; FARUK LOGOGLU, DEPUTY UNDER-SECRETARY FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS OF TURKEY; MOUNIR ZAHRAN, PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF EGYPT TO THE UNITED NATIONS AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS IN GENEVA; AHMAD MOHAMMED ALI, PRESIDENT OF THE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK; SIMBARASHE S. MUMBENGEGWI, AMBASSADOR OF ZIMBABWE AND PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE TO THE EUROPEAN UNION; AND NASSIR ALASSAF, AMBASSADOR OF SAUDI ARABIA TO BELGIUM.

BEGINNING ON THE AFTERNOON OF 24 FEBRUARY, AND CONTINUING ON 25 FEBRUARY, A GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS WAS HELD ON THE POLLOWING THEMES:

- PROMOTING THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE-A KEY TO PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST;
- " THE NEED TO IMPROVE THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO PROMOTE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT;
 - THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS: THE CURRENT SITUATION AND PROSPECTS.

THE FOLLOWING EMINENT PERSONS MADE STATEMENTS IN THE GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS: SHULAMIT ALONI, FORMER MINISTER OF EDUCATION OF ISRAEL AND MEMBER OF THE MERETZ PARTY; NABIL SHAATH, MINISTER OF PLANNING AND INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY; HARRY G. BARNES, JR., DIRECTOR OF CONFLICT RESOLUTION AND HUMAN RIGHTS PROGRAMMES OF THE CARTER CENTER; MICHAEL HINDLEY, MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND CO-CHAIRMAN OF THE PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION; HENRY SIEGMAN, DIRECTOR OF THE UNITED STATES/MIDDLE EAST PROJECT AND SENIOR FELLOW AT THE COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS; AND MOHAMED ABDELLAH, CHAIRMAN OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS COMMITTEE OF THE PEOPLE'S ASSEMBLY OF EGYPT. REPRESENTATIVES OF THE FOLLOWING GOVERNMENTS AND UNITED NATIONS BODIES ALSO MADE STATEMENTS: CYPRUS, UKRAINE, GHANA, RUSSIAN FEDERATION, UNITED ARAB EMIRATES, LEBANON, GUYANA, PAKISTAN, INDONESIA, MALAYSIA, BANGLADESH, BRAZIL, QATAR, CHINA, VIET NAM, SYRIAN ARAB REPUBLIC, JORDAN, THE UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (UNEP) AND THE UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION (UNESCO).

AT THE CLOSING MEETING, HELD ON THE AFTERNOON OF 25 FEBRUARY, STATEMENTS WERE MADE BY JEAN DE RUYT, DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF MULTILATERAL POLICY OF THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM, M. NASSER AL-KIDWA, PERMANENT OBSERVER OF PALESTINE TO THE UNITED NATIONS AND THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, WHO READ OUT A DOCUMENT CONTAINING CONCLUDING REMARKS DRAFTED BY THE THREE ORGANIZERS. THE DOCUMENT WAS ISSUED AS A PRESS RELEASE (SEE SECTION VI).

THE PRESENT REPORT CONTAINS THE FULL TEXT OF STATEMENTS MADE BY INVITED SPEAKERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROGRAMME CIRCULATED AT THE CONFERENCE.

II. OPENING MEETING AND HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING

ERIK DERYCKE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM

IT GIVES ME GREAT PLEASURE TO WELCOME TO BRUSSELS THE PARTICIPANTS IN THIS UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ORGANIZED BY THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN COOPERATION WITH THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES.

I WISH TO EXTEND PARTICULAR GREETINGS TO YASSER ARAFAT, CHAIRMAN OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY, WHOM I AM DELIGHTED TO SEE AGAIN IN BRUSSELS.

I SHOULD LIKE TO TAKE THE OPPORTUNITY AFFORDED BY THE OPENING OF THIS CONFERENCE TO EMPHASIZE THE ATTACHMENT OF MY COUNTRY, AND OF OUR PARTNERS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION, TO A JUST AND LASTING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST.

WHEN WE LOOK BACK AND ANALYSE THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PEACE PROCESS, WE ARE BOUND TO SAY THAT, FOR THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION, MOMENTS OF HOPE HAVE BEEN FOLLOWED BY PERIODS OF DEEP DISCOURAGEMENT.

THE FUTURE OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ITS RELATIONS WITH THE HEBREW STATE HAVE FOR MANY YEARS BEEN A CENTRAL CONCERN OF NATIONAL LEADERS AND PUBLIC OPINION BOTH IN BELGIUM AND THROUGHOUT THE REST OF EUROPE.

SUFFICE IT TO MENTION HERE THE VERY IMPORTANT VENICE DECLARATION OF 1980, IN WHICH THE THEN NINE MEMBERS OF THE UNION CALLED FOR RECOGNITION OF THE RIGHT TO EXISTENCE AND SECURITY OF ALL THE STATES IN THE REGION, INCLUDING ISRAEL, FOR JUSTICE FOR ALL PEOPLES, AND FOR THE EXERCISE OF THE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

IT WAS ALSO WITH SOME OPTIMISM THAT WE FOLLOWED IN OCTOBER 1991 THE WORK OF THE MADRID CONFERENCE, THE MANDATE OF WHICH WAS TO ATTAIN A JUST AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST ON THE BASIS OF UNITED NATIONS SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967), 338 (1973) AND 425 (1978). THE PRINCIPLE OF THE EXCHANGE OF THE TERRITORIES OCCUPIED BY ISRAEL IN THE COURSE OF THE VARIOUS CONFLICTS AGAINST GUARANTEED PEACE WITH ITS ARAB NEIGHBOURS IS THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE PEACE PROCESS.

THE MADRID CONFERENCE DEFINED THE MACHINERY OF BILATERAL PEACE TALKS. THE MOSCOW CONFERENCE ESTABLISHED A FORUM FOR MULTILATERAL NEGOTIATIONS TO ACCOMPANY AND UNDERPIN THOSE TALKS.

THE STRUCTURE FOR THE CREATION OF MORE HARMONIOUS RELATIONS BETWEEN ALL THE STATES IN THE REGION HAS BEEN COMPLETED BY THE HOLDING OF A NUMBER OF REGIONAL ECONOMIC CONFERENCES.

AS YOU KNOW, THE ISRAELI-PALESTINIAN DIMENSION OF THIS PROCESS HAS GONE THROUGH TWO STERILE YEARS SINCE THE MADRID CONFERENCE.

How gratified we were to learn in the summer of 1993 of the holding in Norway of Secret Negotiations that were to lead to mutual recognition between Israel and the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO). That recognition made possible the signing in Washington, D.C., of the Declaration of Principles that laid down a series of Basic Rules intended to lead after a period of five years of Limited Palestinian autonomy to a final status for the Palestinian territories.

YOU WILL ALSO REMEMBER THE AGREEMENT ON THE GAZA STRIP AND THE JERICHO AREA THAT MADE POSSIBLE THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY AND CHAIRMAN ARAFAT'S RETURN TO THE TERRITORIES.

GREAT HOPE WAS BORN OF THE EXTRAORDINARY HANDSHAKE BETWEEN PRIME MINISTER RABIN AND CHAIRMAN ARAFAT ON THE WHITE HOUSE LAWN. IT WAS, THEREFORE, WITH ENTHUSIASM THAT BELGIUM AND ITS PARTNERS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION DECIDED TO EMBARK FIRMLY ON A PARTNERSHIP FOR PEACE.

THERE ARE MANY ASPECTS TO THIS PARTNERSHIP BY THE UNION AIMED AT THE RESOLUTION OF THE ISRAELI-PALESTINIAN DISPUTE: LET ME JUST MENTION THE SUPPORT FOR THE HOLDING OF THE PALESTINIAN ELECTIONS, THE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE—WHICH, IN THE CASE OF BELGIUM, EXCEEDED I BILLION FRANCS FOR THE PERIOD 1993-1997—AND THE APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL ENVOY FOR THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS, MIGUEL ANGEL MORATINOS.

THE MOMENTUM ENGENDERED BY THE OSLO ACCORDS WAS, HOWEVER, SHORT-LIVED. CONFIDENCE WAS SEVERELY UNDERMINED BY THE TERRIBLE EVENTS OF LATE 1995 AND EARLY 1996

I WOULD MENTION IN PARTICULAR THE TRAGIC DEATH OF PRIME MINISTER RABIN, ASSASSINATED BY AN ENEMY OF PEACE, AND THE MURDEROUS ATTACKS IN FEBRUARY AND MARCH 1998 IN ISRAEL.

THE SIGNING OF THE HEBRON AGREEMENT BROUGHT WITH IT A NOTE OF HOPE, BUT, MORE THAN A YEAR AFTER THAT ACCORD, WE CANNOT BUT EXPRESS OUR GREAT DISAPPOINTMENT AT THE ABSENCE OF ANY MEANINGFUL RESULTS.

WE ARE VERY WORRIED BY THIS BLOCKAGE OF THE SITUATION, WHICH COULD LEAD, IN TIME, TO SERIOUS TROUBLE IN THE REGION. THERE IS KEEN DISENCHANTMENT AND BITTERNESS AMONG THE PALESTINIAN POPULATION. THE UNEMPLOYMENT, THE ABSENCE OF MEDIUM-TERM PROSPECTS, THE DRASTIC FALL IN LIVING STANDARDS IN THE TERRITORIES, AND UNILATERAL MEASURES SUCH AS THE CONTINUED EXPANSION OF SETTLEMENTS ARE ALL FACTORS THAT MAY GIVE RISE TO AN EXPLOSION.

DESPITE THE STANDSTILL IN THE PEACE PROCESS, BELGIUM AND ITS EUROPEAN PARTNERS REMAIN VERY MUCH ATTACHED TO THE MADRID AND OSLO PROCESS. ALTHOUGH IT HAS NOW BEEN BOGGED DOWN FOR ALMOST A YEAR, THAT PROCESS REMAINS THE ONLY OPTION FOR ATTAINING A JUST AND LASTING OVERALL PEACE.

WE WELCOME THE FACT THAT THE BRITISH PRESIDENCY HAS CHOSEN TO MAKE THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS ONE OF THE PRIORITIES OF ITS FOREIGN POLICY DURING ITS TERM OF OFFICE. WE ARE, IN ANY EVENT, DETERMINED TO MAKE THE NECESSARY DIPLOMATIC EFFORTS TO SUPPORT THE NEGOTIATIONS AND REDUCE THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

REVITALIZATION OF THE PEACE PROCESS IS AN URGENT NECESSITY AND SHOULD CONCERN BOTH THE COMPLETE IMPLEMENTATION OF THOSE PROVISIONS OF THE INTERIM AGREEMENTS THAT HAVE NOT YET BEEN PUT INTO EFFECT AND THE RESUMPTION OF THE TALKS ON THE FINAL STATUS OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES.

IN ADDITION TO A SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTION ON TECHNICAL ISSUES, SUCH AS THE OPENING OF AN AIRPORT AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF A SEAPORT IN THE GAZA STRIP AND ESTABLISHMENT OF TRANSIT ARRANGEMENTS TO ENSURE SAFE PASSAGE BETWEEN THE GAZA STRIP AND THE WEST BANK, BELGIUM CONSIDERS THAT THE FIFTEEN CAN OFFER USEFUL COOPERATION IN THE SPHERE OF SECURITY. IN THIS REGARD, THE EUROPEAN UNION IS PREPARING A PROGRAMME OF ASSISTANCE TO HELP THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY IN COMBATING TERRORISM.

ALSO, AS THE VERY RECENT VISIT TO THE REGION BY JACQUES SANTER, PRESIDENT OF THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION, SHOWED, NEITHER EUROPE NOR BELGIUM CAN REMAIN INDIFFERENT TO THE INCREASING DEGRADATION OF THE ECONOMIC AND THE SOCIAL SITUATION IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES. THAT SITUATION WORRIES US, FOR IT IS CONSISTENT NEITHER WITH THE FOLLOWING OF A PROPER PATH TO PEACE NOR WITH THE STRENGTHENING OF THE SECURITY NECESSARY FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THAT PEACE.

THE RENEWAL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION'S AID WHEN THE PIVE-YEAR PROGRAMME EXPIRES IN OCTOBER 1998 REMAINS ESSENTIAL FOR THE IMPROVEMENT OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES. MAKING THE BEST USE OF THAT AID WILL, HOWEVER, BE IMPOSSIBLE UNLESS THE OBSTACLES TO THE MOVEMENT OF PEOPLE AND GOODS ARE REMOVED.

HISTORY WILL JUDGE SEVERELY THOSE WHO FAIL TO SEIZE AN HISTORIC OPPORTUNITY TO ENABLE THEIR PEOPLE TO LIVE IN PEACE, TO ENJOY THE DIVIDENDS OF PEACE AND TO FORGET THE ANTAGONISMS, STRAINS AND CONFLICTS OF THE PAST AND MAKE OPTIMUM USE OF THE AVAILABLE HUMAN, CULTURAL, ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL POTENTIAL AND SO TRANSFORM THE REGION INTO A ZONE OF PROSPERITY AND WELL-BEING.

HOWEVER, CURRENT EVENTS, AND HERE I REFER TO THE IRAQI CRISIS, SHOW US THAT THAT GOAL SEEMS FAR FROM HAVING BEEN ACHIEVED

I WISH, NONETHELESS, TO REAFFIRM THAT, IN BELGIUM'S VIEW, THE WILL OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND OF THE PARTIES TO A GIVEN CONFLICT MUST CONTINUE TO BE MANIFESTED ABOVE ALL THROUGH DIPLOMACY.

I WISH TO EXPRESS HERE THE HOPE THAT THE PARTIES WILL DO ALL THEY CAN TO SAVE THE PEACE PROCESS, WHICH IS BEING SERIOUSLY HARMED BY THE PRESENT STAGNATION. I CALL UPON THE PARTIES TO HONOUR THE ENGAGEMENTS THEY CONTRACTED IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE MADRID AND OSLO PROCESS.

IT IS ESSENTIAL TO GET OUT OF THE PRESENT IMPASSE. THE FATE OF PRESENT AND FUTURE GENERATIONS, WHICH HAVE THE RIGHT TO LIVE IN PEACE, IS AT STAKE.

IT REMAINS FOR ME TO EXPRESS, ON BEHALF OF THE BELGIAN GOVERNMENT, THE HOPE THAT THE DISCUSSIONS AMONG THE PARTICIPANTS IN THIS CONFERENCE WILL CONTRIBUTE AS POSITIVELY AS POSSIBLE TO THE ACTION BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO REINFORCE THE PEACE EFFORTS IN THE MIDDLE EAST, AND TO WISH YOU, AGAIN ON BEHALF OF MY GOVERNMENT, A PLEASANT STAY IN BRUSSELS,

HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO PRESIDENT OF THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

FIRST OF ALL, I WOULD LIKE TO THANK THE ORGANIZERS OF THIS CONFERENCE FOR INVITING ME TO ATTEND THIS IMPORTANT GATHERING. I AM HONOURED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE CONFERENCE IN MY CAPACITY AS PRESIDENT OF THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE UNITED NATIONS GENERAL ASSEMBLY.

AS YOU ARE WELL AWARE, THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY HAS BEEN CONCERNED WITH EFFORTS TO FIND A COMPREHENSIVE, JUST AND LASTING SOLUTION TO THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE FOR THE PAST 50 ODD YEARS. IN FACT, SINCE ITS VERY EARLY DAYS, THE ORGANIZATION HAS BEEN TRYING TO SOLVE THE PROBLEM THROUGH A VARIETY OF CHANNELS. ON 29 NOVEMBER 1947, THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY ADOPTED RESOLUTION 181 (II), PARTITIONING PALESTINE INTO TWO STATES, ONE ARAB, THE OTHER JEWISH, WITH AN ECONOMIC UNION BETWEEN THEM AND A SPECIAL INTERNATIONAL RÉGIME FOR THE CITY OF JERUSALEM. TODAY, FIVE DECADES LATER, THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE IS STILL AWAITING A VIABLE POLITICAL RESOLUTION AND REMAINS ON THE AGENDA OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY. THE OCCUPATION OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES HAS LASTED FOR 30 YEARS.

THE FIRST SIGNS OF HOPE FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WERE HERALDED BY THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE CONFERENCE HELD AT MADRID IN 1991. THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY WAS HOPEFUL THAT THAT LANDMARK CONFERENCE COULD SET IN MOTION A QUALITATIVELY NEW STAGE IN THE SEARCH FOR PEACE IN THE REGION. INDEED, PILOTED BY THE CO-SPONSORS OF THE PEACE PROCESS, WITH A CRITICAL ROLE PLAYED BY THE GOVERNMENT OF NORWAY, ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AT LONG LAST CAME TO FACE EACH OTHER AT THE NEGOTIATING TABLE. WE HAVE ALL OBSERVED AND WELCOMED THE MILESTONE BILATERAL AGREEMENTS INITIALLED BY THE TWO SIDES IN THE PAST SEVEN YEARS. I SHOULD LIKE TO STRESS HERE HOW FAR-REACHING AND DRAMATIC WERE SOME OF THOSE DOCUMENTS, MOST NOTABLY, THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES IN 1993 AND THE INTERIM AGREEMENT ON THE WEST BANK AND THE GAZA STRIP IN 1995.

AS WE MEET TODAY, WE HAVE TO NOTE WITH A CONSIDERABLE MEASURE OF CONCERN THAT, IN THE COURSE OF 1997, THE ISRAELI-PALESTINIAN TRACK OF NEGOTIATIONS HAS LARGELY BEEN STALEMATED.

THE YEAR STARTED OFF WITH PROMISING ADVANCES ON THE ISSUE OF HEBRON, JUST TO BE FOLLOWED BY VERY DISAPPOINTING SETBACKS THAT LINGERED FOR SOME 10 MONTHS. RECENTLY, THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS HAS RESTARTED WITH A SERIES OF CONTACTS IN WASHINGTON, D.C.

THROUGHOUT 1997, THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY BECAME INCREASINGLY ALARMED AT THE CONTINUED DETERIORATION OF THE SITUATION ON THE GROUND, PARTICULARLY ON THE QUESTION OF ISRAELI SETTLEMENT ACTIVITIES, THE PROLONGED CLOSURES WITH DAMAGING ECONOMIC EFFECT AND THE EXACERBATION OF VIOLENCE AND TENSION. IT UNANIMOUSLY CONDEMNED THE BOMBING ATTACKS WHICH RESULTED IN THE LOSS OF MANY INNOCENT LIVES, AND CALLED UPON THE PARTIES NOT TO LET THE PEACE PROCESS BE DERAILED BY THE ENEMIES OF PEACE. IT ALSO CALLED UPON THEM TO IMPLEMENT FULLY THE AGREEMENTS ALREADY REACHED AND TO REFRAIN FROM UNILATERAL MEASURES THAT JEOPARDIZE THE PEACE PROCESS.

BOTH THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE SECURITY COUNCIL ADDRESSED THE ISSUE OF ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS ON A NUMBER OF OCCASIONS. THE SECURITY COUNCIL HAS TWICE MET ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A NEW ISRAELI SETTLEMENT AT JABAL ABU GHNEIM, SOUTH OF EAST JERUSALEM. IT HELD EXTENSIVE DISCUSSIONS ON THE ISSUE, BUT WAS UNABLE TO TAKE ACTION ON IT OWING TO THE LACK OF UNANIMITY AMONG ITS PERMANENT MEMBERS. THE FIFTY-FIRST SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY WAS RESUMED ON THIS QUESTION. AT THE TENTH EMERGENCY SPECIAL SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY, THE ISSUE OF SETTLEMENTS AND THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WAS BROUGHT INTO SHARP FOCUS AGAIN. ITS CONVENING BECAME YET ANOTHER DEMONSTRATION OF THE LEVEL OF CONCERN AT THE PRESENT STATE OF AFFAIRS IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORY IN GENERAL, AND JERUSALEM IN PARTICULAR, AS A RESULT OF THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT'S SETTLEMENT POLICIES.

THE VAST MAJORITY OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, AS REPRESENTED IN THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY, REPEATEDLY AFFIRMED THAT THE PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW, THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS, IN PARTICULAR SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967), 336 (1973) AND 425 (1978), SHOULD BE RESPECTED. THESE RESOLUTIONS, SO OFTEN REFERRED TO, HAVE UNDERSCORED THE INADMISSIBILITY OF THE ACQUISITION OF TERRITORY BY WAR AND ARE AT THE BASIS OF THE AGREEMENTS REACHED BY THE PARTIES, WHICH SHOULD BE FULLY IMPLEMENTED.

THOSE PRINCIPLES WERE REAFFIRMED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY DURING THE DISCUSSION OF THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE IN DECEMBER 1997. IN ITS RESOLUTION 52/52 OF 9 DECEMBER 1997, THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY, WHILE EXPRESSING ITS FULL SUPPORT FOR THE ONGOING PEACE PROCESS AND THE NECESSITY FOR COMMITMENT TO THE AFOREMENTIONED PRINCIPLES, CALLED UPON THE CONCERNED PARTIES, THE CO-SPONSORS AND THE ENTIRE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO EXERT ALL THE NECESSARY EFFORTS AND INITIATIVES TO BRING THE PEACE PROCESS BACK ON TRACK. THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY ALSO STRESSED THE NEED FOR THE REALIZATION OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, PRIMARILY THE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION, AND THE WITHDRAWAL OF ISRAEL FROM THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORY OCCUPIED SINCE 1967. IT EMPHASIZED THE IMPORTANCE FOR THE UNITED NATIONS TO PLAY A MORE ACTIVE AND EXPANDED ROLE IN THE CURRENT PEACE PROCESS AND IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES. AS YOU KNOW, THIS RESOLUTION, ADOPTED BY AN OVERWHELMING MAJORITY, RECEIVED AN EVEN GREATER SUPPORT THAN IN PREVIOUS YEARS.

IN CONCLUSION, I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO RECALL THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY'S POSITION THAT THE UNITED NATIONS SHOULD CONTINUE TO HAVE A SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY WITH RESPECT TO THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE UNTIL THE QUESTION IS RESOLVED IN A SATISFACTORY MANNER IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY. PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST MUST PREVAIL. IT WILL NOT BE POSSIBLE, HOWEVER, UNLESS THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ARE ATTAINED. AS THE CURRENT PEACE PROCESS HAS RECOGNIZED, THOSE RIGHTS ARE KEY TO ANY SERIOUS ENDEAVOURS TO ACHIEVE A SUSTAINABLE SOLUTION OF THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE AND THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT IN GENERAL. IN THIS CONNECTION, I WISH TO COMMEND THE RESOLVE OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN ITS PERSISTENT EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE THAT GOAL THROUGH THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE IMPORTANT MANDATE ENTRUSTED TO IT BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY.

KOFI ANNAN SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS (STATEMENT DELIVERED BY SIR KIERAN PRENDERGAST, UNDER-SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS)

IT IS AN HONOUR FOR ME TO CONVEY A MESSAGE TO THIS CONFERENCE ON THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE BEING HELD UNDER THE JOINT AUSPICES OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES.

I WISH TO EXPRESS GRATITUDE BOTH FOR THE HOSPITALITY OFFERED BY THE GOVERNMENT OF BELGIUM AND FOR THE ASSISTANCE PROVIDED TO THE UNITED NATIONS SECRETARIAT IN ORGANIZING THIS MEETING.

BELGIUM'S STRONG SUPPORT FOR THE OBJECTIVES AND WORK OF THE UNITED NATIONS IS WELL-KNOWN. THE COUNTRY'S LOCATION AT THE HEART OF EUROPE AND ITS ROLE AS A SEAT OF EUROPEAN INSTITUTIONS ADD AN IMPORTANT DIMENSION TO THIS EVENT. THE UNITED NATIONS IS ALSO GRATEPUL FOR THE PERSONAL INTEREST IN THIS MEETING DEMONSTRATED BY HIS EXCELLENCY THE FOREIGN MINISTER OF BELGIUM.

I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO CONGRATULATE THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES FOR THEIR COOPERATION WITH THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE DIVISION FOR PALESTINIAN RIGHTS, AND FOR THEIR GENEROSITY IN SHOULDERING PART OF THE COSTS. WORKING TOGETHER IN THIS MANNER IS YET ANOTHER EXAMPLE OF THE ONGOING PRODUCTIVE COOPERATION BETWEEN OUR RESPECTIVE ORGANIZATIONS, AS CALLED FOR IN GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTIONS.

LIKE EACH OF MY PREDECESSORS, I ATTACH HIGH PRIORITY TO THE SEARCH FOR A NEGOTIATED SETTLEMENT TO THE ARABISRAELI CONFLICT IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND ITS CORE QUESTION, THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE. THE CURRENT, PROLONGED
STALEMATE BETWEEN ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION IS A SOURCE OF GREAT CONCERN. INDEED, THERE IS
FEAR THAT WITHOUT RENEWED MOMENTUM IN THE PEACE PROCESS, AND WITHOUT TANGIBLE SIGNS OF PROGRESS, THE SITUATION MAY
DETERIORATE FURTHER, WITH UNFORESEEABLE CONSEQUENCES. REGRETTABLY, HOWEVER, THE POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES REMAIN
FAR APART.

AT SUCH A TIME IT IS IMPORTANT TO REMEMBER THE MANY HISTORIC ACHIEVEMENTS OF RECENT YEARS; MUTUAL RECOGNITION BY ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION, THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES AND SUBSEQUENT AGREEMENTS, THE WITHDRAWAL OF ISRAELI FORCES FROM PARTS OF THE WEST BANK AND THE GAZA STRIP, AND THE BEGINNING OF A PROCESS OF RECONCILIATION AND ECONOMIC COOPERATION AMONG THE COUNTRIES OF THE REGION.

THESE DEVELOPMENTS WERE WELCOMED WORLDWIDE AND GAVE RISE TO HOPE THAT AN IRREVERSIBLE TURNING POINT HAD BEEN REACHED. THE PARTIES MUST NOT TURN BACK NOW; THEY MUST FIND IT IN THEMSELVES TO PERSEVERE. I CALL UPON ALL SIDES TO TAKE THE DIFFICULT DECISIONS NEEDED TO BUILD ON THEIR IMPRESSIVE ACHIEVEMENTS AND MOVE TOWARDS A COMPREHENSIVE, JUST AND LASTING SETTLEMENT BASED ON THE PRINCIPLES ENSHRINED IN SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973) AND REPLECTED IN THE OSLO ACCORDS.

IT IS NOW 50 YEARS SINCE THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY DECIDED TO PARTITION PALESTINE. THE HISTORY OF THE CONFLICT SINCE THEN, AND THE ADVANCES MADE SINCE THE MADRID CONFERENCE OF 1991, HAVE SHOWN THAT THE ROAD TO PEACE REQUIRES AN END TO EXCLUSIVE CLAIMS, RESPECT FOR THE LEGITIMATE RIGHTS AND NEEDS OF ALL THE PARTIES, MUTUAL ACCOMMODATION AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION.

THE ROAD TO PEACE REQUIRES THE PARTIES TO RESPECT AND IMPLEMENT FULLY THE AGREEMENTS THEY HAVE SIGNED, AND TO REFRAIN FROM UNILATERAL ACTS THAT UNDERMINE TRUST AND EXACERBATE TENSIONS. THE ROAD TO PEACE ALSO MAKES IT ESSENTIAL TO PUT AN END TO TERRORISM AND VIOLENCE AMONG PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS—ACTS BY EXTREMISTS AIMED NOT ONLY AT INNOCENT CIVILIANS BUT ALSO AT THE PEACE PROCESS ITSELF.

THE CREATION OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL CONDITIONS CONDUCIVE TO PEACE IS ALSO OF FUNDAMENTAL IMPORTANCE. THE UNITED NATIONS HAS LONG PLAYED A CRUCIAL ROLE IN THIS REGARD, ESPECIALLY THE UNITED NATIONS RELIEF AND WORKS AGENCY FOR PALESTINE REFUGEES IN-THE NEAR EAST (UNRWA). THE UNITED NATIONS PRESENCE ALSO INCLUDES THE UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP) PROGRAMME OF ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE OFFICE OF THE SPECIAL COORDINATOR IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES. DONOR COUNTRIES, FOR THEIR PART, AND IN PARTICULAR THOSE OF THE EUROPEAN UNION, HAVE PROVIDED CRITICAL ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY.

THESE EFFORTS MUST CONTINUE UNHINDERED, PARTICULARLY IN THE LIGHT OF WORSENING ECONOMIC CONDITIONS IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES AND THE GREAT CHALLENGES THAT REMAIN.

AS YOU KNOW, I HAD PLANNED TO VISIT THE MIDDLE EAST IN FEBRUARY 1998, IN ORDER TO LISTEN TO THE CONCERNS OF THE LEADERS AND PEOPLES OF THE REGION. UNFORTUNATELY, OWING TO CIRCUMSTANCES BEYOND MY CONTROL, THE TRIP WAS POSTPONED. BUT I WILL RESCHEDULE AT THE EARLIEST POSSIBLE OPPORTUNITY.

TODAY, AS YOU MOBILIZE INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, I WOULD LIKE TO REAFFIRM THAT THE UNITED NATIONS, AND I PERSONALLY AS ITS SECRETARY-GENERAL, WILL CONTINUE TO DO OUR UTMOST TO HELP THE PARTIES FIND A PEACEFUL RESOLUTION TO THE COMPLEX ISSUES THEY FACE. TOO MANY DECADES HAVE PASSED WITHOUT PEACE. WE MUST DO ALL WE CAN TO REALIZE THAT LONG-HELD ASPIRATION.

IBRA DEGUENE KA CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

ON BEHALF OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, IT IS A SPECIAL PLEASURE FOR ME TO DISCHARGE THE DUTY OF EXPRESSING THANKS, ON BEHALF OF ALL THE FIGURES PRESENT HERE AND ON MY OWN BEHALF, TO ERIK DERYCKE, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM.

I WOULD REQUEST YOU, MR. MINISTER, TO CONVEY TO HIS MAJESTY KING ALBERT II, PRIME MINISTER JEAN-LUC DEHAENE AND THE BELGIAN GOVERNMENT AS A WHOLE OUR APPRECIATION FOR HAVING AGREED TO RECEIVE US HERE, IN THE HEART OF EUROPE, A GROWING EUROPE TO WHICH WE REMAIN DEEPLY ATTACHED.

I WISH TO EXPRESS MY DEEP GRATITUDE TO ALL THE SPECIAL ENVOYS AND REPRESENTATIVES OF GOVERNMENTS, INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS, UNITED NATIONS AGENCIES, NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS AND CIVIL SOCIETY.

YOUR PRESENCE IN LARGE NUMBERS OFFERS PROOF OF THE UNIVERSAL NATURE OF THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE, AND THIS PRESENCE ALSO MARKS YOUR COMMITMENT TO HELPING TO SOLVE THIS ISRAELI-ARAB CRISIS WHICH HAS BEEN A SUBJECT OF CONCERN FOR THE UNITED NATIONS FOR SOME 50 YEARS.

IN ORGANIZING THIS INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE IN BRUSSELS IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES AND THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE ONLY ONE AIM IN VIEW: TO MAKE AN EFFECTIVE CONTRIBUTION TO RELAUNCHING THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO STRENGTHEN THE MOBILIZATION OF EUROPEAN AND INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC OPINION SO AS TO ENSURE THAT THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ARE RESPECTED AND REALIZED IN PRACTICE.

AS YOU KNOW, THIS CONFLICT HAS PROVOKED FIVE WARS IN THE MIDDLE EAST SINCE 1948, AND STILL CONTINUES TO CONSTITUTE A GRAVE THREAT TO PEACE AND STABILITY IN THAT REGION.

MANY RESOLUTIONS HAVE BEEN ADOPTED BY THE UNITED NATIONS SECURITY COUNCIL AND GENERAL ASSEMBLY, AND MOST OF THEM HAVE REMAINED A DEAD LETTER.

THE SIGNATURE OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES BETWEEN ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION IN 1993 MARKED A SIGNIFICANT HISTORIC STAGE IN THE LONG MARCH TOWARDS PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST. THAT DECLARATION LED TO THE TRANSFER OF SOME POWERS TO THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY IN THE GAZA STRIP AND JERICHO, AND PUT A STOP TO THE ACCELERATING CYCLES OF VIOLENCE. IT GENERATED A GREAT DEAL OF HOPE ON THE PART OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY THAT A PEACEFUL POLITICAL SOLUTION COULD BE FOUND TO THAT DISTRESSING CONFLICT.

But it must be acknowledged that in the past year, the hope that arose out of those agreements has steadily waned, and today the peace process is deadlocked. There has even been a backsliding, if not a calling into question of the commitments freely entered into by the occupying Power.

TO THIS MAY BE ADDED THE CONTINUATION OF THE ILLEGAL POLICY OF FORCED SETTLEMENT OF PALESTINIAN LAND, THE VIOLATION OF THE INTERNATIONAL STATUS OF JERUSALEM, REPEATED VIOLATIONS OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AS WELL AS PUNITIVE EXPEDITIONS AND DELIBERATE ACTS OF PROVOCATION BY ARMED SETTLERS AGAINST INNOCENT CIVILIAN GROUPS.

IN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL TERMS, THE PREQUENT CLOSURE OF THE BORDERS OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES COSTS THE YOUNG PALESTINIAN ECONOMY ALMOST \$ 1 O MILLION PER DAY.

THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE EXPECTED A QUALITATIVE IMPROVEMENT IN ITS RIGHTS FOLLOWING THE ADOPTION OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES, BUT IT HAS TO BE ACKNOWLEDGED THAT TODAY THE PALESTINIANS HAVE LOST ALL THEIR ILLUSIONS, AS THE STATUS OF THEIR RIGHTS AS A PEOPLE CONTINUES TO WORSEN DAY BY DAY, DESPITE THE REPEATED APPEALS OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY.

THE PALESTINIANS HAVE THE RIGHT TO DEVELOPMENT. THEY MUST BE GUARANTEED FREE ACCESS TO PLACES OF WORSHIP, THEIR CHILDREN MUST BE ABLE TO ENJOY A PROPER EDUCATION AND THEIR LIVES AND THEIR GOODS MUST BE PROTECTED, TOGETHER WITH THEIR FREEDOM TO TRAVEL BACK AND FORTH. THESE ARE FUNDAMENTAL HUMAN RIGHTS FOR WHICH REMINDERS SHOULD NOT BE NECESSARY IN THIS FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY YEAR OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS.

IN SHORT, ADEQUATE STEPS MUST BE TAKEN TO ENSURE THAT THE PALESTINIANS THEMSELVES EXERCISE THEIR SOVEREIGNTY OVER THEIR OWN LAND, AS A STATE.

THE LEGAL INSTRUMENTS EXIST. THEY ARE THE VERY DECISIONS ADOPTED BY THE UNITED NATIONS OVER A PERIOD OF MANY DECADES AS INSTRUMENTS OF A PEACEFUL AND LASTING SETTLEMENT OF THE MIDDLE EAST CRISIS. I AM REFERRING TO GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTIONS 181 (II) OF 1947 AND 194 (III) OF 1948, AND SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 237 (1967), 242 (1967), 338 (1973), 425 (1978) AND 497 (1981).

In conclusion, allow me to make a further solemn call from this platform to the co-sponsors of the peace process, the European Union, all countries and all those of goodwill to ensure that all of us together, with the United Nations, increase our efforts to contribute to the speedy resumption of the peace negotiations

WE MUST MOBILIZE, AND DO SO RAPIDLY, FOR NOTHING IS MORE DESTRUCTIVE FOR A SOCIETY THAN FOR ITS PEOPLE TO FEEL THAT THEY ARE BEING TREATED DIFFERENTLY FROM OTHERS.

LET US ENSURE THAT THE HIGHLY SYMBOLIC CHANGES OF POLITICAL AND HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE WHICH THE PEACE PROCESS GENERATED IN 1993 CONTINUE TO FOSTER A MOMENTUM FOR PEACE AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE MIDDLE EAST IN WHICH ALL THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF PEOPLES, ALL PEOPLES, WILL BE RESPECTED.

LET US ENSURE A NEW DAWN OF PEACE AND DEVELOPMENT FOR THE MIDDLE EAST, THAT REGION WHICH IS HISTORY'S AND THE WORLD'S CROSSROADS, IN ORDER THAT, IN CONCORD AND FRATERNITY, THE ISRAELI AND ARAB PEOPLES, WHOM GOD CREATED TO LIVE TOGETHER, MAY JOIN FORCES TO MAKE A LEAP INTO THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY, NURTURING EVERY HOPE AND CREATING EVERY PREREQUISITE FOR THEIR PEOPLES TO CO-HABIT AND DEVELOP TOGETHER.

AZZEDINE LARAKI

SECRETARY GENERAL OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE

I WOULD LIKE TO SALUTE, WITH GREAT PLEASURE, THE PRESENCE AMONG US TODAY OF PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT.

ALLOW ME ALSO TO EXPRESS MY THANKS AND APPRECIATION TO THE UNITED NATIONS COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO ITS CHAIRMAN, IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, FOR THEIR EFFECTIVE WORK IN PUBLICIZING THE PALESTINE QUESTION AND EXPLAINING ITS DIMENSIONS. IN SO DOING, THE COMMITTEE HAS CONTRIBUTED TO ENHANCING INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT FOR THE JUST STRUGGLE WAGED BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TO REGAIN THEIR INALIENABLE AND IMPRESCRIPTIBLE NATIONAL RIGHTS.

I AM ALSO PLEASED TO EXPRESS MY THANKS AND APPRECIATION TO THE GOVERNMENT OF BELGIUM FOR THE ARRANGEMENTS AND FACILITIES IT HAS CONTRIBUTED AND WHICH HAVE MADE IT POSSIBLE TO CONVENE THIS CONFERENCE.

OUR CONFERENCE IS TAKING PLACE SEVERAL YEARS AFTER THE LAUNCHING OF THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS, AND THE SIGNING OF THE INTERIM SELF-RULE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND ISRAEL. REGRETTABLY, HOWEVER, WE ARE WITNESSING A HALT IN THE PEACE NEGOTIATIONS AND AN INCREASED TENSION, WHICH THREATENS TO UNDERMINE THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO BRING BACK THE CLIMATE OF CONFLICT TO THE REGION. THE DIRECT CAUSE OF THIS DEVELOPMENT IS THE INTRANSIGENCE OF THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT AND ITS REFUSAL TO ABIDE BY THE AGREEMENTS SIGNED IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO RECOGNIZE THE PRINCIPLES UNDERPINNING THIS PROCESS.

CONCOMITANT WITH THESE ISRAELI STANDS IS A SERIOUS ESCALATION OF THE INHUMAN AND ILLEGAL PRACTICES AND MEASURES EXERCISED BY THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION AUTHORITIES AGAINST THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. AMONG THESE PRACTICES ARE ARRESTS THAT LAST FOR LONG PERIODS WITHOUT ANY CHARGES MADE OR TRIALS HELD, AND CRUEL TORTURE IN THE PRISONS. MOREOVER, IN FLAGRANT DEFIANCE OF THE WILL OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND THE RESOLUTIONS OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY, THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT PERSISTS IN ITS POLICY OF COLONIZATION IN THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES BY ESTABLISHING NEW SETTLEMENTS AND EXPANDING EXISTING ONES. THESE PRACTICES AND MEASURES CONSTITUTE A BRAZEN VIOLATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND OF ALL INTERNATIONAL CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS, IN PARTICULAR THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION OF 1949 RELATIVE TO THE PROTECTION OF CIVILIANS PERSONS IN TIME OF WAR, OF 12 AUGUST 1949.

THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION AUTHORITIES ARE MAKING MASSIVE EFFORTS TO CHANGE THE CIVILIZATIONAL AND CULTURAL LANDMARKS AS WELL AS THE DEMOGRAPHIC SET UP OF AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF. IT IS SEALING OFF THE CITY AND ISOLATING IT FROM OTHER PALESTINIAN TOWNS AND VILLAGES; PREVENTING PALESTINIAN CITIZENS FROM ENTERING THE CITY FOR WORSHIP; AND TRYING TO EMPTY THE CITY OF ITS ARAB PALESTINIAN INHABITANTS BY WITHDRAWING THEIR IDENTITY PAPERS AND CONFISCATING THEIR PROPERTY. THE AIM OF THESE PRACTICES, WHICH ARE CONTRARY TO THE PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW AND TO THE RESOLUTIONS OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY, IS TO PRESENT THE WORLD WITH A FAIT ACCOMPLI, THEREBY PREJUDGING THE OUTCOME OF THE NEGOTIATIONS ON THE FINAL STATUS OF THE CITY IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE PEACE PROCESS.

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, WHICH HAS CONSTANTLY WELCOMED THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND THE COURAGE OF THE CONCERNED PARTIES IN FORGING AHEAD TO ENSURE THE ACHIEVEMENT OF THE SET OBJECTIVES, IS TODAY CALLED UPON TO MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO BRING ABOUT PEACE AND SECURITY. THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE EXPECT THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO PLAY THE ROLE REQUIRED OF IT. OCCUPATION HAS LASTED TOO LONG AND RIGHTS ARE STILL USURPED AND FREEDOMS DENIED. CONTINUATION OF THIS SITUATION CONSTITUTES A THREAT TO SECURITY AND STABILITY IN THE REGION. THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ASPIRE TO JUST AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE AS THE BEST GUARANTEE OF SECURITY, STABILITY AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE REGION.

THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE HOLDS THAT THERE ARE INDEFECTIBLE LINKS BETWEEN RIGHT AND PEACE AND THAT THE DENIAL OF RIGHTS INEVITABLY LEADS TO VIOLENCE AND TENSION, HENCE OUR COMMITMENT TO PEACE AS A STRATEGIC OPTION BASED ON RIGHT, JUSTICE AND THE EXERCISE OF SOVEREIGHTY BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE OVER THEIR OWN TERRITORY. THIS IS A SINE QUA NON THAT REQUIRES THE END OF ISRAELI OCCUPATION OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES AND THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE AND IMPRESCRIPTIBLE NATIONAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. WE ALSO URGE THE RESUMPTION OF PEACE NEGOTIATIONS ON THE SYRIAN AND LEBANESE TRACKS, ON THE BASIS OF THE SAME PRINCIPLES ON WHICH THEY WERE LAUNCHED, AND FROM THE POINT WHERE THEY HAD BEEN INTERRUPTED. WE FURTHER URGE ALL PARTIES TO ADHERE TO, AND IMPLEMENT, THE AGREEMENTS AND TREATIES ARRIVED AT WITHIN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE PEACE PROCESS.

PEACE IS A COLLECTIVE AND IMPERATIVE EFFORT WHICH CAN NEITHER BE IMPOSED NOR EVADED. IT CAN ONLY BE REALIZED WITH THE COMMITMENT OF ALL PARTIES TO THE FOUNDATIONS UPON WHICH IT IS BASED. WE ARE CONFIDENT THAT OUR JOINT EFFORTS WILL CONTRIBUTE TO SAFEGUARDING THE RIGHT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TO EXERCISE THEIR NATIONAL AND LEGITIMATE RIGHTS; THAT PEACE AND STABILITY WILL BE REALIZED IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND THAT A CLIMATE OF TOLERANCE AND COEXISTENCE WILL PREVAIL AMONG ITS PEOPLES. WE ARE VERY HOPEFUL TO ACHIEVE THESE GOALS AND WE SHALL MAKE EVERY EFFORT IN THIS DIRECTION.

SAID KAMAL

ASSISTANT SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES
(ON BEHALF OF AHMED ESMAT ABDEL MEGUID,
SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES)

I AM HAPPY TO SPEAK TO YOU ON BEHALF OF AHMED ESMAT ABDEL MEGUID, SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB 'STATES, WHO SENDS HIS GREETINGS TO YOU ALL, TOGETHER WITH HIS APPRECIATION OF YOUR COOPERATION AND OF YOUR RESPONSE TO THE CONVENING OF THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. HE WOULD HAVE BEEN WITH US HAD IT NOT BEEN FOR THE SITUATION IN THE REGION, WHICH MADE IT NECESSARY FOR HIM TO REMAIN IN CAIRO. YOUR PRESENCE HERE TODAY REPRESENTS A NATURAL EXTENSION OF THE POSITIONS YOU HAVE TAKEN IN SUPPORT OF SUCH RIGHTS, AND IT IS A CONFIRMATION OF YOUR COMMITMENT AND THAT OF THE COUNTRIES AND ORGANIZATIONS YOU REPRESENT TO THE VALUES OF JUSTICE AND PEACE INCULCATED BY ALL DIVINELY REVEALED RELIGIONS AND ENSHRINED IN THE CONSTITUTIONS OF CIVILIZED STATES AND THE FOUNDING CHARTERS OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS. I SHOULD LIKE, ON BEHALF OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, TO CONVEY TO THE GOVERNMENT OF THE KINGDOM OF BELGIUM OUR GRATITUDE FOR HOSTING THIS CONFERENCE AND FOR ALL THE FACILITIES IT HAS MADE AVAILABLE.

AS YOU KNOW, THIS CONFERENCE, WHICH IS BEING HELD THROUGH THE JOINT EFFORTS OF THE UNITED NATIONS, AS REPRESENTED BY ITS COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, IS AN EXPRESSION OF THE FAITH OF THESE ORGANIZATIONS IN THE VALUES OF PEACE AND JUSTICE AND OF THEIR COMMITMENT, BY VIRTUE OF THEIR FOUNDING CHARTERS AND THEIR VERY NATURE, TO THE STABILITY, PEACE AND PROGRESS OF THEIR MEMBER STATES AND OF ALL MANKIND. IT IS ALSO AN EXPRESSION OF THEIR DEEP INVOLVEMENT IN THE CAUSE OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AN ISSUE THAT HAS EXISTED FOR SOME HALF CENTURY WITHOUT FINDING A LASTING SOLUTION DESPITE A HUGE NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS AND, FURTHERMORE, DESPITE THE THOUSANDS OF PALESTINIAN DEAD AND WOUNDED AND THE MILLIONS OF DISPLACED AND OPPRESSED THAT HAVE BEEN ITS VICTIMS.

THERE IS NO NEED FOR ME TO GO BACK TO THE ROOT CAUSES OF THE ISSUE OR TO THE REASONS FOR WHICH THE PEOPLE OF PALESTINE WAS DEPRIVED OF THE LEGITIMATE RIGHTS IN WHOSE SUPPORT WE ARE GATHERED HERE TODAY. THERE IS NO NEED FOR ME TO LAUNCH INTO A REVIEW OF THE VARIOUS STAGES OF THE ODIOUS, HISTORIC OPPRESSION THAT DESCENDED UPON IT OWING TO GLOBAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH THE GREAT POWERS COMPETED TO ADVANCE THEIR INTERESTS WITHOUT REGARD FOR THE RIGHTS AND INTERESTS OF THIS PEOPLE. ITS HOMELAND WAS THUS USURPED IN ITS ENTIRETY, ITS BASIC RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED, AND IT WAS SUBJECTED TO RECURRENT SLAUGHTER AND EXPULSION. FOR HALF A CENTURY IT HAS BEEN SUFFERING BITTERLY, WHILE THE FRATERNAL ARAB PEOPLES SUFFER WITH IT, UNDER THE TYRANNOUS POLICIES AND PRACTICES OF THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION.

DESPITE ALL THE INJUSTICE DONE TO SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, IT DID NOT LOSE HOPE OF VICTORY AND JUSTICE. IT PERSEVERED, WITH THE SUPPORT OF THE ARAB STATES, RESOLUTELY AND FAITHFULLY, IN THE STRUGGLE FOR PREEDOM, NATIONAL INDEPENDENCE AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN INDEPENDENT STATE WITH ITS CAPITAL AT JERUSALEM. THE SUCCESSIVE RESOLUTIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS, THE MOST RECENT BEING GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION ES. 1 O/3 "UNITING FOR PEACE", MAVE PROVIDED SUPPORT TO THIS PEOPLE AND HAVE STRENGTHENED ITS CONFIDENCE IN ITS SENSE OF BELONGING WITHIN THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY.

THIS HAS MADE IT MORE COMMITTED TO ITS RIGHTS AND MORE COVETOUS OF FREEDOM AND PEACE, INASMUCH AS IT PROCLAIMED ITS PEACE INITIATIVE WHEN PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT SPOKE FROM THE PODIUM OF THE UNITED NATIONS IN 1974. HE THEN RENEWED THE INITIATIVE AT THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE UNITED NATIONS IN GENEVA IN 1988 AND THEN PARTICIPATED IN THE MADRID PEACE CONFERENCE OF 1991 ON THE BASIS OF A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES. THEN CAME THE AGREEMENTS OF 1993 AND THE SUBSEQUENT SUPPLEMENTARY AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND ISRAEL

THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES HAS SUPPORTED THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN ITS QUEST FOR PEACE, JUST AS IT HAS SUPPORTED IT IN ITS STRUGGLE FOR INDEPENDENCE. THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES WAS AN EARLY SUPPORTER OF THE PEACE PROCESS, EVEN PRIOR TO THE CONVENING OF THE MADRID CONFERENCE. AT ITS SEPTEMBER 1991 SESSION, THE COUNCIL OF THE LEAGUE ADOPTED A RESOLUTION WELCOMING THE EFFORTS BEING MADE FOR THE ACHIEVEMENT OF A JUST, COMPREHENSIVE AND LASTING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND SUPPORTING THE ARAB STATES DIRECTLY INVOLVED IN THE NEGOTIATIONS.

FOLLOWING THE SIGNING IN WASHINGTON, D.C., IN SEPTEMBER 1993 OF THE AGREEMENT CONCLUDED IN OSLO, THE COUNCIL OF THE LEAGUE, AT ITS SESSION HELD IN THAT SAME MONTH, STATED THAT IT REGARDED THE AGREEMENT AS AN IMPORTANT FIRST STEP TOWARDS THE APPLICATION OF THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE AND ONE THAT MUST BE SUPPLEMENTED BY FURTHER RAPID STEPS ON ALL NEGOTIATING TRACKS. THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES MAINTAINED ITS SUPPORT FOR THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE LIGHT OF THE ARABS BELIEF THAT PEACE IS A STRATEGIC CHOICE. THE HOPE WAS THAT GENUINE PROGRESS WOULD BE MADE IN THE PROCESS, AND IT MIGHT WELL HAVE BEEN BUT FOR THE POLICIES PURSUED BY THE PRESENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT UNDER THE LEADERSHIP OF BENJAMIN NETANYAHU.

ALL THE INDICATIONS ARE, HOWEVER, THAT THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT LACKS ENTHUSIASM FOR THE PEACE PROCESS AND THAT IT OPPOSES ALL OF THE PRINCIPLES ON WHICH IT IS BASED. DESPITE THE POSITIVE STANCE TAKEN BY THE PALESTINIANS AND THE ARABS AND THE INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS BEING MADE TO MAINTAIN THE PROCESS UNTIL SUCH TIME AS IT PRODUCES A COMPREHENSIVE AND JUST PEACE, THE POLICIES PURSUED BY THE NETANYAHU GOVERNMENT SINCE IT CAME TO POWER HAVE REMAINED THE SAME AND HAVE INDEED BECOME MORE INTRANSIGENT FROM ONE DAY TO THE NEXT. THEY ARE EXEMPLIFIED BY THE CONTINUED PURSUIT OF THE SETTLEMENT POLICY, THE EXPROPRIATION OF LAND, THE IMPOSITION OF ECONOMIC BLOCKADES AND COLLECTIVE PUNISHMENTS ON THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, PROCRASTINATION IN THE NEGOTIATIONS, AND GENERAL DISREGARD FOR THE AGREEMENTS SIGNED BY THE PREVIOUS ISRAELI GOVERNMENT WITH THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND EVEN AN ENDEAVOUR TO UNDERMINE THEM, AS IS HAPPENING ON THE PALESTINIAN TRACK, OR TO SUSPEND THEM, AS IS HAPPENING ON THE SYRIAN AND LEBANESE TRACKS. AT THE SAME TIME, THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT HAS ALSO ESCALATED ITS REPEATED ATTACKS ON SOUTHERN LEBANON AND THE WESTERN BEKAA AND IS PERSISTING IN THE PURSUIT OF ITS SETTLEMENT POLICY IN THE OCCUPIED SYRIAN ARAB GOLAN.

EVERYONE NOW KNOWS THAT THE PRESENT GOVERNMENT IN ISRAEL IS PURSUING A POLICY THAT IS OPPOSED TO THE PEACE PROCESS AND ITS VARIOUS MECHANISMS. IT IS THEREBY CHALLENGING ARAB AND PALESTINIAN RIGHTS ACKNOWLEDGED BY THE UNITED NATIONS AND ALSO CHALLENGING ALL THE PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY AND THE INTERNATIONAL COVENANTS ESTABLISHING THE RIGHT OF PEOPLES, INCLUDING THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, TO EXERCISE SELF-DETERMINATION AND TO ENJOY SOVEREIGHTY OVER THEIR RESOURCES.

FACED WITH A SITUATION IN WHICH ISRAEL APPEARS TO BE TRYING TO IMPOSE A STATE OF NO WAR AND NO PEACE, AT ITS SEPTEMBER 1997 SESSION THE COUNCIL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES CONSIDERED THE STATUS OF THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND DWELT AT LENGTH ON THE DANGERS OF CURRENT ISRAELI POLICY AND ITS DEVASTATING IMPACT ON THE PEACE PROCESS. IT ALSO CONSIDERED ALL THE INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS BEING MADE TO SALVAGE THE PEACE PROCESS, BRING IT BACK ON TRACK AND ADVANCE IT TOWARDS THE REALIZATION OF THE PRINCIPLES ON WHICH IT WAS BASED, AS REPRESENTED BY THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE.

MUCH HAS BEEN EXPECTED OF THE INTENSIVE TALKS BETWEEN ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION TO WHICH THE UNITED STATES HAS BEEN A PARTY AT THE HIGHEST LEVELS. WE AT THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, LIKE ALL WHO CHERISH PEACE, HAVE BEEN PROMPTED BY THE HOPE THAT THE INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS LED BY THE UNITED STATES AS A MAJOR SPONSOR OF THE PEACE PROCESS WOULD SUCCEED IN INDUCING ISRAEL TO BE BOUND BY THE PRINCIPLES OF THE PEACE PROCESS AND BY THE AGREEMENTS REACHED IN THAT FRAMEWORK. THERE HAS NOT, HOWEVER, BEEN ANY CHANGE IN ISRAEL'S POSITION THUS FAR, AND WE HAVE SEEN NO COMPLIANCE WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS ON THE GROUND. THIS MEANS, MOST REGRETTABLY, THAT WE ARE FACED WITH AN IMPASSE AND THAT THE INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS AND THOSE OF THE UNITED STATES REQUIRE AN ADDITIONAL IMPETUS AND NEED TO BE IMBUED WITH A NEW SPIRIT IN KEEPING WITH THE PRESSING NEED TO SAFEGUARD THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND A RENEWAL OF THE SPIRIT OF OPTIMISM THAT PREVAILED AT THE OUTSET AND THAT WOULD PROTECT US ALL FROM THE DANGERS OF DESPAIR AND HATRED AND BAR THE WAY TO ACTS OF EXTREMISM AND VIOLENCE AND PERHAPS EVEN WAR AND DESTRUCTION.

IN MARCH 1998 THE COUNCIL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES WILL HOLD ITS ONE HUNDRED AND NINTH REGULAR SESSION. AS AT PREVIOUS SESSIONS, IT WILL CONSIDER ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT QUESTIONS ON ITS AGENDA, NAMELY THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT AND THE PEACE PROCESS. IT WILL REVIEW THE SITUATION IN ITS ENTIRETY IN THE LIGHT OF THE PRESENTATIONS MADE BY THE MINISTERS FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF THE ARAB STATES AND OF POLITICAL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE REGION AFFECTING THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE. THE MINISTERS WILL CERTAINLY TAKE AS THEIR POINT OF DEPARTURE THE FINAL COMMUNIQUÉ OF THE ARAB SUMMIT CONFERENCE HELD AT CAIRO IN JUNE 1968, WHICH AFFIRMED THE ARAB COMMITMENT TO PEACE AS A STRATEGIC CHOICE, WHILE ALSO LINKING ANY GENUINE PROGRESS WITH ISRAEL'S DISCHARGE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS AND WITH ITS ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE ARAB AND PALESTINIAN RIGHTS SET FORTH IN THE INSTRUMENTS AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS. THE COMMUNIQUÉ WAS ALSO BASED ON THE NUMEROUS RESOLUTIONS OF THE COUNCIL ITSELF RELATING TO THE TERMS OF THE ARAB POSITION.

THERE CAN ALSO BE NO DOUBT THAT A MAJOR QUESTION WILL BE RAISED CONCERNING THE ROLE OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IN AND INTERNATIONAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED BY THE PARTIES TO THE CONFLICT IN THE MIDDLE EAST THAT WERE FOSTERED AND WITNESSED BY THE CO-SPONSORS OF THE PEACE PROCESS. IT WILL BE CLEAR TO EVERY ARAB CITIZEN THAT ISRAEL IS UNJUST IN ITS DEALINGS WITH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN CONNECTION WITH ITS BASIC RIGHTS. THIS IS PARALLELED BY THE INJUSTICE OF CERTAIN PARTIES IN THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IN THEIR APPROACH TO THE RESOLUTIONS IN QUESTION WHEN THEY INSIST, IN A GRIEVOUS AND REGRETTABLE MANNER, ON USING DOUBLE STANDARDS WHEN ADDRESSING DIFFERENT ISSUES AND CONFLICTS. REFERENCE MUST BE MADE HERE TO THE POSITIVE POSITIONS TAKEN BY THE EUROPEAN UNION IN CONNECTION WITH THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO ITS SUPPORT FOR RECONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT IN THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORY.

THIS SENSE OF INJUSTICE PRESENTS THE SUPPORTERS OF PEACE WITH A CRUEL DILEMMA AND FILLS THE SITUATION OF DEADLOCK THAT ISRAEL IS TRYING TO IMPOSE ON THE REGION WITH HAZARDS AND SURPRISES THAT WILL RETURN THE REGION TO THE INSTABILITY OF PREVIOUS YEARS IN ORDER TO PROMOTE THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SUBSTANCE OF ISRAEL'S DESTRUCTIVE POLICY OF PRAGMENTING THE REGION INTO PETTY STATES. THIS IS THE MOST DANGEROUS THREAT TO THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO REGIONAL SECURITY.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SITUATION WE ARE TRYING TO DEPICT IN ALL CANDOUR AND CLARITY, AND FROM WHICH WE AND ALL THOSE COMMITTED TO PEACE ARE TRYING TO EXTRICATE OURSELVES, FALLS PRIMARILY ON THE GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL BECAUSE OF ITS INTRANSIGENCE AND ITS DENIAL OF THE BASIC RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. IT IS ALSO UP TO ISRAELI SOCIETY AND ITS ACTIVIST FORCES TO MAKE UP THEIR MINDS IN FAVOUR OF PEACE AND TO PARTICIPATE IN MAKING A GENUINE PEACE AND IN CONFRONTING THE POLICIES THAT WOULD DESTROY IT.

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND ITS CONCERNED INSTITUTIONS AND STATES CANNOT BE ABSOLVED OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE RETURN OF TENSION TO THE MIDDLE EAST. THE AGREEMENTS AND RESOLUTIONS THEY HAVE AT HAND MUST BE IMPLEMENTED; THE INTERESTS THEY HAVE IN THE REGION ARE WORTH PROTECTING; AND THEY HAVE EXCELLENT RELATIONS WITH THE STATES OF THE REGION, SUCH AS THOSE BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES AND ISRAEL. ALL OF THESE ARE ELEMENTS THAT ARE ADEQUATE AND, IF WELL USED, ABLE TO EXERT INFLUENCE TO PREVENT ISRAEL FROM SABOTAGING THE PEACE PROCESS AND THREATENING AN IMPORTANT REGION SUCH AS THE MIDDLE EAST IN CONNECTION WITH A SENSITIVE ISSUE SUCH AS THAT OF PALESTINE.

THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, FULLY CONFIDENT OF YOUR DESIRE TO SERVE PEACE, SECURITY AND INTERNATIONAL STABILITY, AFFIRMS ITS CONCERN FOR A JUST AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST BASED ON THE NORMS OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY AND CONDUCIVE TO THE RESTORATION OF RIGHTS TO THOSE TO WHOM THEY ARE DUE, AND PRIMARILY THE RIGHT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TO EXERCISE SELF-DETERMINATION AND ESTABLISH AN INDEPENDENT STATE WITH ITS CAPITAL AT JERUSALEM. THE LEAGUE LOOKS FORWARD, WITH COMPLETE TRUST AND OPTIMISM, TO YOUR CONFERENCE AND TO THE REPORTS IT WILL TRANSMIT TO YOUR COUNTRIES, PEOPLES AND ORGANIZATIONS.

CARLOS LEMOS SIMMONDS VICE-PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF COLOMBIA (ON BEHALF OF ERNESTO SAMPER PIZANO, PRESIDENT OF COLOMBIA AND CHAIRMAN OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES)

I WOULD LIKE TO BEGIN BY THANKING THE SPONSORS OF THIS CONFERENCE, THE MEMBER STATES AND THE MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AS WELL AS THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES FOR THEIR INITIATIVE IN CONVENING THIS IMPORTANT MEETING. THIS CONFERENCE PROVIDES AN OPPORTUNITY FOR THE NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES TO MEET AT A SIGNIFICANT EVENT IN ORDER TO RESTATE THEIR VISION AND CONCERN FOR THE SITUATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

I ALSO WISH TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE BELGIAN GOVERNMENT'S SUPPORT FOR THIS EVENT WHICH FOSTERS DISCUSSION ON THE QUESTION OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN A CONTINENT THAT IS CALLED TO PLAY AN INCREASINGLY DECISIVE PART IN THE FUTURE OF THE MIDDLE EAST.

I SHOULD ALSO THANK THE PRESIDENT OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY FOR JOINING US ON THIS OCCASION. THE ROLE OF THIS UNITED NATIONS BODY IN THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS HAS BEEN CRUCIAL.

I FINALLY MUST THANK THE PRESIDENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY, YASSER ARAFAT, FOR HONOURING US WITH HIS PRESENCE. ONCE AGAIN WE WISH TO EXPRESS THE SOLIDARITY OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES IN THE JUST STRUGGLE OF HIS PEOPLE.

GIVEN THE CRITICAL AND UNCERTAIN STATE IN WHICH THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS FINDS ITSELF AT PRESENT AND IN SPITE OF THE UNDENIABLE PROGRESS MADE BY THE PALESTINIANS IN RECENT YEARS, THE OUTCOME OF THEIR SEARCH FOR INDEPENDENCE AND SELF-DETERMINATION GIVES US CAUSE FOR GRAVE CONCERN.

IT CAN NO LONGER BE DENIED THAT THE PEACEFUL CLIMATE THAT HAD BRIEFLY EXISTED DURING THE PROCESS OF RECONCILIATION BETWEEN PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS HAS DETERIORATED TO SUCH AN EXTENT THAT ANY REAL POSSIBILITY OF REACHING A PEACEFUL SETTLEMENT IS NOW IN QUESTION.

AT THIS PRECARIOUS JUNCTURE IN THE HISTORY OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, I WOULD LIKE TO EXPLAIN HOW THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES REGARDS THIS ISSUE WHICH HAS BEEN AT THE FOREFRONT OF THEIR CONCERN AND TO WHICH SO MUCH EFFORT HAS BEEN DEVOTED.

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY MUST INSIST ON RESPECT FOR INTERNATIONAL LAW, ON RESPECT FOR THE RESOLUTIONS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE SECURITY COUNCIL THAT ARE IN FORCE, AND ON RESPECT FOR INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW IN OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES, INCLUDING JERUSALEM.

AS THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES HAS REPEATEDLY STRESSED, THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT'S DECISION TO CONTINUE ITS POLICY OF SETTLEMENTS IN OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES, AND SPECIFICALLY IN JERUSALEM, DIVERGES FROM THE SPIRIT OF THE OSLO ACCORDS, SO ERODING THE FRAGILE CLIMATE OF TRUST ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THE PARTIES. SUCH POLICIES ALSO SEEK TO INFLUENCE THE OUTCOME OF NEGOTIATIONS ON PERMANENT STATUS AND CONTRAVENE INTERNATIONAL LAW.

ISRAEL MUST APPRECIATE THAT THE ONLY WAY IT CAN CONTRIBUTE TO THE CLIMATE OF TRUST REQUIRED BY ANY PROCESS OF UNDERSTANDING IS BY DULY COMPLYING WITH THE ACCORDS IT HAS ENTERED INTO AND WITH UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS.

THE SECURITY COUNCIL MUST ADOPT A FIRM STANCE TO SECURE RESPECT FOR ITS OWN RESOLUTIONS AND FOR INTERNATIONAL LAW. IT IS THEREFORE INCOMPREHENSIBLE HOW, AT THIS CRITICAL POINT WHEN THE PEACE PROCESS AND INTERNATIONAL SECURITY ARE AT RISK, THE SECURITY COUNCIL FAILS TO HEED CALLS TO JOINT ACTION BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND BY THE OVERWHELMING MAJORITY OF ITS OWN MEMBERS. THE WORLD ORDER WILL BE ERODED IF COUNTRIES DECIDE TO ENFORCE SELECTIVELY SOME LAWS AND UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS WHILE DISREGARDING OR DELAYING COMPLIANCE WITH OTHERS.

AT A TIME WHEN THE IMPORTANCE OF PREVENTION IN MAINTAINING INTERNATIONAL PEACE IS HIGHLIGHTED, IT DOES NOT MAKE SENSE TO IGNORE DETERIORATING CONDITIONS IN A REGION WHICH, AFTER SO MANY YEARS, WAS FINDING A WAY TOWARDS PEACE.

ONE OF THE GRAVEST AREAS OF CONCERN FOR THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES AT PRESENT IS THAT OF THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PALESTINIAN POPULATION. BEHIND THE POLITICAL ASPECTS OF THE PALESTINIAN-ISRAELI CONFLICT THERE IS A HUMAN QUESTION WHICH MUST BE ADDRESSED TO GUARANTEE THE PALESTINIANS THE RIGHT TO DEVELOP AS A PEOPLE

AS CHAIRMAN OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES, THE COLOMBIAN GOVERNMENT LAST YEAR SENT THE SWISS GOVERNMENT A LETTER STATING THAT THE MOVEMENT FULLY SUPPORTED THE REQUEST FOR A CONFERENCE OF THE HIGH CONTRACTING PARTIES TO THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION RELATIVE TO THE PROTECTION OF CIVILIAN PERSONS IN TIME OF WAR TO BE CONVENED IN ORDER TO CONSIDER MEASURES WHICH WOULD ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES.

THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES AGREES WITH THE PRINCIPLE THAT DIRECT TALKS ARE THE BEST WAY FOR INDEPENDENCE AND SELF-DETERMINATION TO BE OBTAINED FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND FOR PEACE TO BE SECURED FOR ALL INHABITANTS OF THE REGION. CONSEQUENTLY, NO INDIVIDUAL POSITION OF ANY PARTY MUST BE ALLOWED TO PREVAIL OVER THE REGION'S COMMON INTEREST TO UPHOLD THE CLIMATE OF TRUST REQUIRED FOR FURTHER SUCCESSFUL NEGOTIATIONS. THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES REGARDS ITS OWN EFFORTS TO THIS END AS AN ATTEMPT TO SAFEGUARD THE SIGNIFICANT PROGRESS THAT HAS ALREADY TAKEN PLACE TOWARDS PEACE BETWEEN PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS.

THE BEST RESPONSE TO ACTS OF TERRORISM THAT SEEK TO UNDERMINE HOPES FOR PEACE IS FOR ALL PARTIES TO INSIST ON ABSOLUTE COMPLIANCE IN GOOD FAITH WITH THE PEACE ACCORDS TO WHICH THEY ARE SIGNATORIES. BEFORE NEGOTIATIONS CAN MOVE ON, IT MUST BE REALIZED THAT THE FRUIT OF PEACE CAN ONLY BE FULLY APPRECIATED AFTER A SATISFACTORY CONCLUSION TO THE NEGOTIATION PROCESS. IN FACT, ANY REPRISALS AGAINST INNOCENT CIVILIANS AND AUTHORITIES FOR TERRORIST ACTS COMMITTED BY RADICAL SECTORS PROVIDE AMMUNITION PRECISELY TO THOSE WHO ARE SEEKING TO DESTROY THIS PEACE PROCESS.

THE MOVEMENT'S ACCURATE PERCEPTION OF THE MIDDLE EAST SITUATION IS DEMONSTRATED BY THE FACT THAT THE DECLARATION ADOPTED BY THE MOVEMENT'S ELEVENTH CONFERENCE OF HEADS OF STATE OR GOVERNMENT AT CARTAGENA REGARDING THE PALESTINIAN QUESTION IS STILL VALID AND UP TO DATE.

THE HEADS OF STATE OR GOVERNMENT GATHERED IN CARTAGENA EXPRESSED THEIR TOTAL SUPPORT FOR THE PALESTINIANS LEGITIMATE STRUGGLE FOR RESPECT FOR THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND INDEPENDENCE TO BE GUARANTEED.

THEIR DEMAND FOR ISRAEL TO WITHDRAW FROM ALL OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN AND ARAB TERRITORIES, INCLUDING JERUSALEM, WAS AGAIN STRESSED.

THE MOVEMENT ALSO DREW ATTENTION TO THE FACT THAT THE UNITED NATIONS MUST CONTINUE TO ACT IN KEEPING WITH ITS RESPONSIBILITY IN THIS MATTER UNTIL THE PALESTINIANS WERE IN A POSITION TO EXERCISE THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION, UNTIL AN INDEPENDENT, SOVEREIGN STATE WAS ESTABLISHED IN THEIR NATIONAL TERRITORY AND THE REFUGEE PROBLEM WAS ADDRESSED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS.

IN VIEW OF THE ABOVE, THE HEADS OF STATE OR GOVERNMENT OF COUNTRIES MEMBERS OF THE MOVEMENT DULY VOICED THEIR REGRET FOR ISRAEL'S DECISION TO SEIZE PALESTINIAN PROPERTIES AND LAND IN JERUSALEM AND FOR ISRAELI ATTEMPTS TO ALTER THE RELIGIOUS AND HISTORICAL CHARACTER OF THE HOLY CITY. THE MOVEMENT RATIFIED ALL SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS IN THIS REGARD, EXPRESSED THEIR SUPPORT FOR THOSE OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY REGARDING JERUSALEM AND CONSIDERED ALL ISRAELI ACTION IN CONTRAVENTION OF SUCH RESOLUTIONS NULL AND VOID. AN APPEAL WAS ALSO MADE FOR A FULL, METICULOUS APPLICATION OF ALL ACCORDS, PARTICULARLY OF THE STIPULATIONS CONTAINED IN SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967), 338 (1973), 465 (1980) AND 478 (1980). THE IMPORTANCE OF AN EFFECTIVE ENFORCEMENT OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY MECHANISM RELATING TO THE PALESTINIAN QUESTION WAS ALSO UNDERLINED.

THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES IS THEREFORE CONSTANTLY CONCERNED ABOUT THE SITUATION OF ALL OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES AND IS COMMITTED TO SEEKING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST. I WISH TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE SOLIDARITY DEMONSTRATED BY MEMBERS OF THE MOVEMENT WITH THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE DURING THESE DIFFICULT TIMES, NOTABLY AT THE SPECIAL EMERGENCY SESSIONS HELD BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN 1997. THE DEVELOPING WORLD HAS STATED THAT THE UNITED NATIONS MUST ACTIVELY PERSEVERE IN ITS EFFORTS TO ENSURE THAT THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ARE RESPECTED AND THAT PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST IS SECURED.

WE ARE AWARE THAT WHAT HAPPENS TO THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE NEXT FEW MONTHS WILL HAVE LONG-LASTING EFFECTS ON INTERNATIONAL PEACE. WE, THE NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES, WILL THEREFORE REMAIN WATCHFUL AND WILLING TO COOPERATE WITH ALL ATTEMPTS TO REACH THIS OBJECTIVE, AND SO FULFIL THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ALL NATIONS REGARDING THE FUTURE OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

YASSER ARAFAT

CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND PRESIDENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

IN THE NAME OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ITS LEADERSHIP, AS WELL AS ON MY OWN BEHALF, IT GIVES ME PLEASURE TO EXPRESS OUR DEEP APPRECIATION TO THE GOVERNMENT AND PEOPLE OF THE FRIENDLY KINGDOM OF BELGIUM FOR HOSTING THIS INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TO ENABLE THEM TO EXERCISE THEIR INALIENABLE NATIONAL RIGHTS IN THEIR HOMELAND. WE HIGHLY VALUE BELGIUM'S CONTINUOUS AND CONSTRUCTIVE EFFORTS, ALONG WITH ITS PARTNERS, THE STATES MEMBERS OF THE FRIENDLY EUROPEAN UNION, WHO AIM TO SUPPORT THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND ENDEAVOUR TO SALVAGE IT FROM THE DZADLOCK IT HAS REACHED AND PUSH IT FORWARD AND TOWARDS THE RECONSTRUCTION OF THE INSTITUTIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THEIR NATIONAL ECONOMY AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE DESTROYED BY THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION

WE ARE ALSO PLEASED TO EXPRESS OUR UTMOST GRATITUDE AND DEEP APPRECIATION TO THE CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE FOR THE SIGNIFICANT ROLE THEY HAVE PLAYED IN SUPPORT AND DEFENCE OF THE LEGITIMATE NATIONAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. ADDITIONALLY, WE WOULD LIKE TO REAFFIRM OUR WISH THAT PALESTINE WILL ACQUIRE FULL PARTICIPATION IN THE WORK OF THE UNITED NATIONS.

IT IS ALSO MY PLEASURE TO EXTEND OUR GENUINE THANKS AND APPRECIATION TO BROTHER AZZEDINE LARAKI, THE SECRETARY GENERAL OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, AND TO THE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, FOR THEIR SINCERE EFFORTS IN ORGANIZING THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE AND FOR THEIR PARTICIPATION AND ENDEAVORS TOWARDS ITS SUCCESS.

I WOULD LIKE ALSO TO EXPRESS OUR SPECIAL THANKS TO KOFI ANNAN, SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATION, AND TO HIS REPRESENTATIVE, SIR KIERAN PRENDERGAST, AND TO HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO, PRESIDENT OF THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY. FOR THEIR PARTICIPATION IN THE CONFERENCE.

I AM VERY PLEASED AS WELL TO CONVEY OUR GRATITUDE TO THE MEMBERS OF THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES AND TO ITS CHAIRMAN, ERNESTO SAMPER PIZANO, PRESIDENT OF COLOMBIA, AND TO HIS REPRESENTATIVE CARLOS LEMOS SIMMONDS, WHO JOINS US IN THIS CONFERENCE IN EXPRESSING THE SUPPORT AND SOLIDARITY OF THE MOVEMENT WITH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR JUST STRUGGLE TO RESTORE AND EXERCISE THEIR RIGHTS.

I ALSO WISH TO EXPRESS OUR SINCERE APPRECIATION TO THE MINISTERS FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND THEIR REPRESENTATIVES AND TO THE AMBASSADORS AND TO THE REPRESENTATIVES OF NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS FOR THEIR EFFORTS IN SUPPORT OF THE QUESTION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR JUST AND LEGITIMATE NATIONAL RIGHTS.

THE CONVENING OF THIS CONFERENCE UNDER THE CRITICAL AND SENSITIVE CIRCUMSTANCES THAT HAVE BESIEGED THE PEACE PROCESS ON ALL TRACKS, ESPECIALLY THE SYRIAN, LEBANESE AND PALESTINIAN TRACK, TAKES ON GREAT SIGNIFICANCE OWING TO THE STAGNATION FACING THIS PROCESS AND TO THE FAILURE OF ALL REGIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS TO REVIVE IT. AS SUCH, THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, WHOSE PLIGHT HAS BEEN LINKED FROM THE ONSET WITH THE UNITED NATIONS, HAVE PARTICULARLY HIGH EXPECTATIONS FROM THAT ORGANIZATION AND THE WHOLE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, WHICH MAINTAIN THE RESPONSIBILITY TO GRANT THEM JUSTICE AND ENABLE THEM TO RESTORE AND EXERCISE THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHTS, PRIMARILY THEIR RIGHT TO RETURN, TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND TO ESTABLISH THEIR INDEPENDENT STATE, WITH AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF AS ITS CAPITAL.

THE UNITED NATIONS BEARS A HISTORICAL RESPONSIBILITY TOWARDS THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR CAUSE SINCE IT WAS THE UNITED NATIONS THAT ADOPTED GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION 181 (II), PARTITIONING MANDATED PALESTINE IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH TWO STATES, ONE FOR ARABS AND ONE FOR JEWS, AND IT IS THE UNITED NATIONS THAT HAS AFFIRMED THROUGH MANY RESOLUTIONS BY SEVERAL BODIES THE JUSTNESS AND LEGITIMACY OF THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND HAS ALSO SPECIFIED THE BASIS AND PRINCIPLES FOR ESTABLISHING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST. HENCE, THE UNITED NATIONS BEARS A PERMANENT RESPONSIBILITY TOWARDS THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR JUST CAUSE UNTIL THE ACHIEVEMENT OF A JUST AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE, WHICH WILL, GUARANTEE SECURITY AND STABILITY FOR ALL THE PEOPLES AND STATES IN THE MIDDLE EAST REGION AND, WILL GUARANTEE AN END TO THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION OF THE PALESTINIAN AND ARAB LANDS AND HOLY PLACES.

THE YEAR 1998 MARKS 50 YEARS SINCE THE TRAGEDY (NAKBA) IN 1948 THAT BEFELL THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS, WHICH LED TO THEIR UPROOTING AND DISPERSION FROM THEIR HOMELAND, DEPRIVATION OF ALL THEIR HUMAN RIGHTS, THE SEIZURE OF THEIR PROPERTIES AND RESOURCES AND SUBJECTION THROUGHOUT THE LAST FIVE DECADES TO DIASPORA AND TO ALL KINDS AND TYPES OF OPPRESSION, INJUSTICE AND CONTINUOUS SUFFERING. AT THE SAME TIME, IT ALSO MARKS 50 YEARS OF CONTINUED STRUGGLE BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TOWARDS THE RESTORATION OF THEIR NATIONAL IDENTITY, PRESERVATION OF THEIR EXISTENCE AND THE EXERCISE OF THEIR LEGITIMATE RIGHTS, PARTICULARLY THEIR RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND TO THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THEIR INDEPENDENT STATE WITH AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF AS ITS CAPITAL THIS WILL ENABLE THEM TO CONTRIBUTE EQUITABLY, SIDE BY SIDE, WITH ALL PEOPLES OF THE REGION AND LIBERATION MOVEMENTS IN THE WORLD TO BUILD AND CONSOLIDATE A PERMANENT PEACE AND TO ACHIEVE SECURITY, STABILITY AND PROSPERITY FOR ALL.

AS WE RECALL THESE BITTER AND PAINFUL HISTORICAL EVENTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES FROM WHICH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE SUFFERED FOR SO LONG AND CONTINUE TO SUFFER FROM, WE URGE THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND THE UNITED NATIONS, AND WE URGE OUR FRIENDS, AND ALL THOSE WHO CHERISH FREEDOM, JUSTICE, PEACE AND DEMOCRACY IN THE WORLD, TO INTENSIFY THEIR GOOD EFFORTS EFFECTIVELY AND TO DO THEIR UTMOST TO SUPPORT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN THEIR JUST STRUGGLE, IN ORDER TO TRANSFORM THESE NOBLE GOALS INTO REALITY, PROTECT THE PEACE OF THE BRAVE AND EXERCISE THEIR INDEPENDENCE AND NATIONAL SOVEREIGNTY LIKE THE REST OF THE PEOPLES OF THE WORLD.

THE YEAR ALSO COINCIDES WITH THE FIFTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES WITH THE GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL, WHICH REPRESENTED THE BEGINNING OF A NEW ERA IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND A HISTORICAL TURN IN THE COURSE OF THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT, WITH THE AIM OF ACHIEVING THE DESIRED PEACE, THE PEACE OF THE BRAVES, WHICH WE HAVE CHOSEN WITH FAITH AND CONVICTION AND WHICH WE BEGAN TO BUILD WITH OUR LATE PARTNER, YITZHAK RABIN, AND WHICH WE CONTINUED FORWARD AFTER HIM WITH SHIMON PERES, FOLLOWED BY THE SIGNING OF THE HEBRON PROTOCOL WITH THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT.

THE ESSENCE OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES AND THE AGREEMENTS THAT FOLLOWED ARE THE MUTUAL RECOGNITION OF THE LEGITIMATE AND POLITICAL RIGHTS OF TWO SIDES AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A PEACE PROCESS WHICH LEADS TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973) AND WHICH WILL GUARANTEE THE RESTORATION AND EXERCISE OF THE NATIONAL INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE ATTAINMENT OF A HISTORIC RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE PALESTINIAN AND ISRAELI PEOPLES BASED ON EQUALITY AND MUTUAL RESPECT, AS WAS PROVIDED FOR IN THE TRANSITIONAL AGREEMENT. THIS ALSO INCLUDED THE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE TRANSITIONAL PERIOD, LASTING FOR FIVE YEARS AND AIMING TO BUILD TRUST, TO ESTABLISH THE PALESTINIAN JURISDICTION, TO TRANSFER AUTHORITY, TO WITHDRAW THE ISRAELI ARMY PROM PALESTINIAN LANDS AND OUTSIDE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN CITIES AND VILLAGES AND TO START THE NEGOTIATIONS REGARDING THE ISSUES ON FINAL STATUS, PARTICULARLY JERUSALEM, SETTLEMENTS, BORDERS, REFUGEES, WATER AND OTHER SENSITIVE AND COMPLEX ISSUES. THE FUTURE AND FATE OF THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST DEPENDS ON A JUST AND ACCEPTABLE RESOLUTION OF THESE ISSUES. ALL OF THESE ARE AIMED AT BUILDING A NEW REALITY UNDER WHICH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WILL ENJOY THE TERMINATION OF ISRAELI OCCUPATION AND THUS ENJOY INDEPENDENCE, SOVEREIGNTY AND ECONOMIC PROSPERITY IN A WAY THAT WILL GUARANTEE SECURITY AND STABILITY TO ALL PEOPLES AND STATES OF THE MIDDLE EAST REGION.

WE CONTINUE TO WORK FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF PEACE, THE PEACE OF THE BRAVE, WITH DETERMINATION AND PERSEVERANCE. WE HAVE REALIZED IMPORTANT ACHIEVEMENTS IN THIS REGARD, DESPITE THE GREAT DIFFICULTIES THAT WE HAVE FACED AND CONTINUE TO FACE WITH ATTEMPTS TO FOIL PEACEFUL EFFORTS AND KILL THE PEACE PROCESS IN ITS NASCENCE. NEVERTHELESS, THROUGH GUIDANCE AND DETERMINATION WE WERE ABLE TO PURSUE THE PEACE PROCESS UNTIL A NEW REALITY EMERGED FROM THE ISRAELI SIDE. THIS REALITY HAS BEEN CHARACTERIZED BY THE ABSENCE OF POLITICAL WILL, ON THE PART OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MR. NETANYAHU, INCLUDING EVADING THE CONTINUATION OF THE PEACE PROCESS, DEHIAL OF AND RETRACTION FROM THE AGREEMENTS REACHED AND FROM THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE, AND ITS REFUSAL TO IMPLEMENT THESE AGREEMENTS AND THE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS. THIS GOVERNMENT IS CLEARLY ATTEMPTING TO CREATE AND FORMULATE A NEW BASIS FOR THE PEACE PROCESS, WHICH AIMS TO ENTRENCH THE ISRAELI CONDITIONS AND TO DISCARD EVERYTHING THAT WAS AGREED UPON, AND IMPOSE A DE FACTO SITUATION AND ISRAELI CONDITIONS UPON US. THROUGH UNILATERAL MEASURES IT AIMS TO DICTATE ITS WILL ON THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR LEADERSHIP AND TO FORCE THEM TO SURRENDER LARGE PARTS OF THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORY, PARTICULARLY IN AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF AND ITS SURROUNDINGS. NONE OF THESE ATTEMPTS WILL SUCCEED. SUCH ATTEMPTS ARE TOTALLY REJECTED AND WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR LEADERSHIP.

AS WE AFFIRM OUR COMMITMENT TO PEACE AS A STRATEGIC CHOICE AND EXERT EVERY POSSIBLE EFFORT TO RESCUE THE PEACE PROCESS FROM ITS DEADLOCK, WE CALL UPON THE GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL TO RECOGNIZE THE NECESSITY OF IMPLEMENTING THE AGREEMENTS REACHED AND FOR THE PARTIES TO COMPLY WITH THE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS OF THESE AGREEMENTS. WE WILL CONTINUE TO COMPLY WITH OUR OBLIGATIONS DESPITE THE GREAT DIFFICULTIES RESULTED FROM ISRAELI POLICIES AND POSITIONS, WHICH CONTRADICT THE SPIRIT AND ESSENCE OF PEACE. IN RETURN THE ISRAELI SIDE MUST, IN PARTICULAR, COMPLETE THE THREE REDEPLOYMENT STAGES THAT HAVE BEEN AGREED UPON AND REFRAIN FROM ANY UNILATERAL MEASURES, CREATING NEW FACTS ON THE GROUND AND PREJUDGING THE FINAL STATUS NEGOTIATIONS AND UNILATERALLY FIXING THE MAP OF THE FINAL SETTLEMENT.

THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT'S CONTINUOUS PURSUIT OF ITS DE FACTO POLICY IS CHARACTERIZED BY THE CONTINUED DEMOLITION OF HOUSES, CONFISCATION OF PALESTINIAN LANDS, BUILDING AND EXPANSION OF ILLEGAL ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS, ESPECIALLY IN AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF. WITH REGARD TO AL-QUDS AL-SHARIF, THE ISRAELI POLICY IS ALSO CHARACTERIZED BY THE CITY'S JUDAIZATION. ISOLATION AND SIEGE, ALONG WITH THE CITY OF BETHLEHEM, WITH SETTLEMENTS AND ARMY FORCES, AND ATTEMPTS TO OBLITERATE ITS HISTORICAL, RELIGIOUS, AND CIVILIZED CHARACTER AND ITS ISLAMIC, CHRISTIAN AND ARAB IDENTITY AND TO DISTORT ITS DEMOGRAPHIC COMPOSITION THROUGH THE CONFISCATION OF IDENTITY CARDS OF THE PALESTINIAN CITIZENS AND THEIR EXPULSION FROM IT. THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT RECKLESSLY PLAYING WITH ITS LEGAL STATUS AND CREATING A SUBSTITUTE CITY BY SUILDING THE NEW SETTLEMENT OF JABAL ABU GHNEIM TO RIVAL THE CITY OF BETHLEHEM, WHICH IS PREPARING TO CELEBRATE THE SECOND MILLENNIUM OF THE BIRTH OF JESUS CHRIST. ALL OF THESE FEVERISH ACTIONS AND ATTEMPTS CONTRADICT THE SPIRIT OF PEACE AND AGREEMENTS REACHED AND THREATEN TO DESTROY THE WHOLE PEACE PROCESS IN THE REGION. THUS, SAVING THE PEACE PROCESS REQUIRES COMPLIANCE BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS AND IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS DUE REQUIREMENTS ACCORDING TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE INTERIM AGREEMENT AND THE HEBRON PROTOCOL, PARTICULARLY THOSE RELATING TO THE OPENING OF THE GAZA AIRPORT, THE RESUMPTION OF WORK ON THE SEAPORT, THE ESTABLISHMENT OF SAFE PASSAGE, THE OPENING OF CHECKPOINTS, THE RELEASE OF PALESTINIAN PRISONERS AND DETAINESS IN ISRAELI PRISONS, THE FACILITATION OF WORK IN THE INDUSTRIALIZED ZONES AND CEASING OTHER DELIBERATE VIOLATIONS.

THE REFUSAL OF THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT TO IMPLEMENT ITS DUE OBLIGATIONS, IN ADDITION TO OTHER NUMEROUS VIOLATIONS OF THE AGREEMENTS AND ITS CONTINUOUS MEDIA CAMPAIGN AGAINST THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY AND THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, HAVE INTENSIFIED THE FEELINGS OF ANGER AND FRUSTRATION WITHIN THE PALESTINIAN MASSES, HAVE ENGENDERED A LACK OF TRUST AND HAVE KILLED ALL. OF THE HOPES THAT WERE ELEVATED WITH THE START OF THE PEACE PROCESS. THIS HAS LED TO THE CREATION OF A CRITICAL REALITY THAT MUST BE DEALT WITH IMMEDIATELY BEFORE IT IS TOO LATE. IN THE LIGHT OF THIS, WE URGE THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND THE UNITED NATIONS AND ITS BODIES NOT TO ALLOW THE CONTINUING INTRANSIGENCE OF THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT AND ITS EVASIVENESS AND TO BRING AN END TO ITS CONTINUOUS RECKLESSNESS AND ITS OUTRIGHT REJECTION OF ALL RESOLUTIONS OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY, OF HUMAN RIGHTS, OF THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION AND THE AGREEMENTS REACHED. THE ISRAELI MAJORITY, WHICH WANTS PEACE, SHOULD TAKE ACTION AND MAKE INITIATIVES TO EXERT PRESSURE ON THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT TO MOVE FORWARD WITH THE PEACE PROCESS TOWARDS ITS INTENDED GOALS FOR THE FUTURE OF OUR CHILDREN END THEIR CHILDREN.

IN THIS REGARD, WE APPRECIATE THE EFFORTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, INCLUDING THE PERSONAL EFFORTS OF PRESIDENT CLINTON AND SECRETARY MADELINE ALBRIGHT, AND WE HOPE TO SEE CONTINUATION AND INTENSIFICATION OF THESE EFFORTS TO GUARANTEE ISRAELI COMPLIANCE WITH AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGREEMENTS, WHICH WERE SIGNED IN WASHINGTON, D.C., WITH THE PRESENCE AND THE SIGNATURES OF THE CO-SPONSORS OF THE PEACE PROCESS AND WHICH WERE WITNESSED AND SIGNED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION, NORWAY, THE ARAB REPUBLIC OF EGYPT AND JORDAN AND WITH THE PRESENCE OF JAPAN. WE ALSO HIGHLY VALUE THE EFFORTS OF THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION AND THE EUROPEAN UNION, CHINA, JAPAN AND OUR ISLAMIC BROTHERS AND NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES AND MEMBERS OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, WHO ARE CONCERNED ABOUT THESE AGREEMENTS AND ABOUT INTERNATIONAL PEACE AND SECURITY.

WE CALL UPON THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO UPHOLD ITS RESPONSIBILITIES AND TO UNDERTAKE ITS ROLE TO EXERT PRESSURE ON THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT TO FORCE IT TO COMPLY WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PEACE AGREEMENTS, AND TO CEASE ITS VIOLATION OF THESE AGREEMENTS. WE FIRMLY BELIEVE THAT MANY CONCERNED AND EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL PARTIES ACTUALLY POSSESS THE NECESSARY MEANS, ACCORDING TO INTERNATIONAL LAW AND TO LEGAL, POLITICAL AND MORAL OBLIGATIONS TOWARDS PEACE, WHICH ACCORD THEM THE ABILITY TO UNDERTAKE THIS CONSTRICTIVE ROLE TOWARDS THE ESTABLISHMENT OF PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST.

WE LOOK WITH GREAT HOPE AND CONFIDENCE TO YOUR SERIOUS FOLLOW UP OF THE OUTCOME OF THE TENTH EMERGENCY SPECIAL SESSION OF THE UNITED NATIONS GENERAL ASSEMBLY, PARTICULARLY TO THE CONVENING OF THE EXPERT MEETING OF THE HIGH CONTRACTING PARTIES TO THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION OF 1949, IN PREPARATION FOR THE CONFERENCE ON MEASURES TO ENFORCE THE PROVISIONS OF THIS CONVENTION. WE ALSO HOPE THAT OTHER UNITED NATIONS BODIES, PARTICULARLY THE SECURITY COUNCIL, WILL UNDERTAKE THEIR DUTIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED NATIONS.

SPEAKING OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL AND ITS RESOLUTIONS, AND OF INTERNATIONAL LAW, REMINDS US IN PARTICULAR OF THE CURRENT CRISIS IN THE MIDDLE EAST, WHICH MAY CAUSE MORE SEVERE SUFFERING TO ANOTHER ARAB PEOPLE, THE BROTHERLY IRAQI PEOPLE, TO THE SERIOUS DESTRUCTION THAT THIS CRISIS MIGHT BRING TO THE REGION AS A WHOLE.

WE STRONGLY SUPPORT AND CALL FOR A PEACEFUL SETTLEMENT SOLUTION TO THIS CURRENT CRISIS REGARDING IRAQ, BASED ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS AND UPHOLDING INTERNATIONAL LAW, INCLUDING THE PRESERVATION OF THE UNITY, SOVEREIGNTY AND TERRITORIAL INTEGRITY OF IRAQ. WE ALSO SUPPORT ALL THE GOOD EFFORTS EXERTED TO REACH A DESIRED SOLUTION BY POLITICAL AND PEACEFUL MEANS AND THROUGH CONSTRUCTIVE DIALOGUE, ESPECIALLY THE CONSTRUCTIVE EFFORT, WHICH KOFI ANNAN HAS DONE, LEADING TO THE FRUITFUL SIGNING OF THE LAST AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE UNITED NATION AND THE IRAQI GOVERNMENT. THIS AGREEMENT PREDOMINATED WHAT WE CALLED UPON FOR A PEACEFUL OPTION THAN ANY OTHER OPTIONS.

WITHIN TWO YEARS, OUR WORLD WILL WITNESS A UNIQUE AND IMPORTANT EVENT FOR AIL HUMANITY, WHICH IS THE CELEBRATION OF THE SECOND MILLENNIUM OF JESUS CHRIST. GOD HAS BLESSED OUR COUNTRY, PALESTINE, AND SPECIFICALLY BETHLEHEM, THE BIRTHPLACE OF JESUS CHRIST, TO BE THE SITE OF THIS MILESTONE EVENT IN THE HISTORY OF HUMANITY. AS WE PREPARE TO CELEBRATE THE RECEPTION OF THE FIRST RAYS OF DAYLIGHT OF THE YEAR 2000, WE HOPE THAT THIS GREAT RELIGIOUS AND HISTORICAL OCCASION WILL BE A NEW BEGINNING FULL OF LOVE AND PEACE FOR OUR WORLD AND FOR MANKIND AND A NEW CHAPTER FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, IN WHICH THEY WILL BE ENABLED TO ESTABLISH THEIR INDEPENDENT PALESTINIAN STATE, WITH AL-QUIDS AL-SHARIF AS ITS CAPITAL.

WE UNDERTAKE THE NECESSARY WORK, WE EXERT THE NECESSARY AND CONTINUOUS EFFORTS, WE FULFIL OUR RESPONSIBILITY ACCORDING TO OUR LIMITED CAPACITIES AND WE CONTRIBUTE THROUGH THIS OUR SHARE TO THE PREPARATIONS TO COMMEMORATE THIS OCCASION. NEVERTHELESS, NONE OF THIS IS ENOUGH. WE THEREFORE CALL UPON THE UNITED NATIONS AND THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND COUNTRIES OF THE WORLD TO EXERT AND INTENSIFY EFFORTS AND TO PARTICIPATE WITH US TO MAKE THESE GREAT RELIGIOUS AND HISTORICAL CELEBRATIONS OF THE BIRTH OF JESUS CHRIST SUCCESSFUL.

FINALLY, I EXTEND TO YOU, YOUR EXCELLENCIES, LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, OUR UTMOST GRATITUDE AND DEEP APPRECIATION POR YOUR PARTICIPATION WITH US IN THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE, THROUGH WHICH YOU HAVE EXPRESSED YOUR SOLIDARITY AND GENEROUS SUPPORT FOR THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. WE URGE YOU TO REAFFIRM YOUR GOOD EFFORTS AND DO ALL YOU CAN TO ENABLE THEM TO REALIZE THESE RIGHTS SO THEY CAN LIVE IN THEIR HOMELAND WITH FREEDOM AND DIGNITY, LIKE THE REST OF THE PEOPLES ON EARTH, AND TO PROTECT THE PEACE OF BRAVE IN THE HOLY LAND FOR OUR FUTURE GENERATIONS AND FOR THE SAKE OF OUR CHILDREN AND THEIR CHILDREN.

III. RESUMED HIGH-LEVEL PLENARY MEETING

SADOK FAYALA SECRETARY OF STATE FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF TUNISIA

PERMIT ME AT THE OUTSET TO SAY HOW HAPPY I AM TO BE TAKING PART IN THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO CONVEY TO YOU THE GREETINGS OF PRESIDENT ZINE EL ABIDINE BEN ALL WISHING SUCCESS TO YOUR WORK OF PROMOTING THE CAUSE OF THE FRATERNAL PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN ITS QUEST FOR FREEDOM AND EMANCIPATION AND OF SECURING FOR ALL THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION THE REQUIREMENTS FOR TRANQUILLITY, PEACE AND SECURITY.

I AM ALSO HAPPY TO CONVEY APPRECIATION TO THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ITS CHAIRMAN, IBRA DEGUÈNE KA OF SENEGAL, FOR THEIR ENDEAVOURS AND INITIATIVES IN SUPPORT OF THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO EXPRESS THE HOPE THAT THE COMMITTEE WILL CONTINUE ITS ACTIVITIES UNTIL SUCH TIME AS THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE SUCCEEDS IN REGAINING ALL OF ITS RIGHTS. I LIKEWISE CONVEY OUR WARM GRATITUDE TO THE BELGIAN GOVERNMENT FOR ALL THE FACILITIES IT HAS PROVIDED US FOR THE SUCCESS OF THE CONFERENCE.

SINCE THE PALESTINIAN TRAGEDY FIRST BEGAN, THE COMMITTEE HAS BEEN PLAYING A FUNDAMENTAL AND EFFECTIVE ROLE IN PROMOTING LEGITIMATE PALESTINIAN RIGHTS UNDER INTERNATIONAL LAW AND IN SUPPORTING THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN ITS STRUGGLE TO REGAIN THE EXERCISE OF ALL ITS RIGHTS, LIKE ALL OTHER PEOPLES OF THE EARTH, AND PARTICULARLY ITS RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND AN INDEPENDENT STATE IN ITS OWN TERRITORY.

THE HOLDING OF THIS CONFERENCE IS ONE FURTHER INDICATION THAT THE UNITED NATIONS IS CONTINUING TO DISCHARGE ITS RESPONSIBILITIES IN FULL, WHICH IS OF PARTICULAR IMPORTANCE GIVEN THE CRITICAL SITUATION IN THE MIDDLE EAST REGION AND THE DESPAIR AND FRUSTRATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE OWING TO THE SUSPENSION OF THE PEACE PROCESS, THE NARROWING OF HORIZONS AND THE DETERIORATION IN LIVING CONDITIONS THAT HAS RESULTED FROM THE POLICY OF THE ISRAELI AUTHORITIES OF IMPOSING CLOSURES AND BLOCKADES ON THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORY.

SUPPORT FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAS ALWAYS BEEN A CORE CONCERN FOR TUNISIA. OUR COUNTRY HAS ENDEAVOURED, SINCE THE BEGINNING OF THE FRATERNAL PALESTINIAN PEOPLE'S STRUGGLE FOR ITS LEGITIMATE RIGHTS, TO LEND A HELPING HAND AND TO ASSIST IT AT ALL LEVELS AND IN ALL INTERNATIONAL FORUMS. IT HAS DONE SO IN ITS FIRM BELIEF THAT THIS PEOPLE HAS THE RIGHT TO ACHIEVE ITS NATIONAL GOALS AND TO LIVE IN DIGNITY IN ITS OWN TERRITORY LIKE THE WORLD'S OTHER PEOPLES.

HAVING ASSOCIATED ITSELF WITH THE PEACE PROCESS SINCE IT BEGAN IN MADRID, UNDER THE DIRECT AND ONGOING SPONSORSHIP OF ZINE EL ABIDINE BEN ALI, AND HAVING PLAYED A HISTORIC ROLE AT EACH OF ITS STAGES, INASMUCH AS IT REPRESENTS A STRATEGIC CHOICE AND THE SOLE GUARANTEE OF THE SECURITY AND INTERESTS OF ALL THE PARTIES CONCERNED, TUNISIA EXPRESSES ITS GREAT AND PROFOUND CONCERN AT THE DETERIORATION AND SUSPENSION OF THE PROCESS OWING TO THE INTRANSIGENCE OF THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT, ITS DISAVOWAL OF THE UNDERTAKINGS GIVEN IN THE CONTEXT OF THE OSLO, WASHINGTON, D.C., AND CAIRO AGREEMENTS, AND ITS PERSISTENCE IN STEPPING UP SETTLEMENT ACTIVITY IN JERUSALEM AND THE REST OF THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORY. THE RESULT OF THE UNILATERAL MEASURES IT IS TAKING IS TO UNDERMINE THE PRINCIPLES AND FOUNDATIONS ON WHICH THE PEACE PROCESS WAS BASED AND TO REVERSE THE GAINS ACHIEVED WITHIN ITS FRAMEWORK HERALDING THE PEACEFUL COEDISTENCE OF THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION, THE CREATION OF APPROPRIATE CONDITIONS FOR THEIR COOPERATION AND ACTION FOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE INTERESTS OF ALL.

HAVING HERALDED THE FIRST STEPS TAKEN ON THE ROAD TO A POLITICAL SETTLEMENT THAT WILL GUARANTEE THE RESTORATION TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE OF THE ATTRIBUTES OF NATIONAL SOVEREIGNTY, INASMUCH AS ITS LEADERSHIP HAS RETURNED TO THE HOMELAND AFTER MANY YEARS OF EXILE AND DISPERSION, THE LEGITIMACY OF THAT LEADERSHIP HAS BEEN CONFIRMED IN DEMOCRATIC ELECTIONS UNDER THE AUSPICES OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY AND THE EFFORTS OF THE FLEDGLING PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY HAVE BEEN DEDICATED TO DEVELOPMENT AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF STATE INSTITUTIONS, WE REGARD THE DISRUPTION OF THE PEACE PROCESS, THE SUSPENSION OF THE AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED AND THE FAILURE TO DISCHARGE THE OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN THE AGREEMENTS AS BEING IN VIOLATION OF THE SPIRIT AND PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW AND AS REPRESENTING CONTEMPT FOR THE WILL OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY. THIS MAY RETURN THE REGION TO ITS CYCLE OF VIOLENCE AND CONFLICT AND CREATE AN ATMOSPHERE OF TENSION AND INSTABILITY IN THE MIDDLE EAST, WITH UNPREDICTABLE CONSEQUENCES.

ACCORDINGLY, PRESIDENT ZINE EL ABIDINE BEN ALI, IN HIS STATEMENT OF 9 FEBRUARY 1998 TO THE DIPLOMATIC CORPS IN TUNISIA. SAID THAT:

"SALVAGING THE PEACE PROCESS IS AN INTERNATIONAL DUTY. IT IS ESSENTIAL THAT THE EFFORTS OF ALL SHOULD BE STEPPED UP, ESPECIALLY THE EFFORTS OF THE CO-SPONSORS AND THE STATES MEMBERS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION, IN ORDER TO INDUCE ISRAEL TO DISCHARGE ITS OBLIGATIONS BY IMPLEMENTING THE AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED AND HONOURING THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE."

IN COMMENDING TO THIS DISTINGUISHED GATHERING THE ONGOING EFFORTS OF INTERNATIONAL PARTIES TO REACTIVATE THE PEACE PROCESS AND INDUCE ISRAEL TO HONOUR ITS INTERNATIONAL OBLIGATIONS AND IMPLEMENT THE RELEVANT RESOLUTIONS OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL AND THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY, ESPECIALLY SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967), 338 (1973) AND 425 (1978), I SHOULD LIKE TO STRESS THE NEED FOR FURTHER ACTION AND GREATER EFFORT TO OVERCOME PRESENT OBSTACLES AND TO ESTABLISH THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ENABLE IT TO FULFIL ITS ASPIRATION TO EXERCISE SELF-DETERMINATION AND BUILD AN INDEPENDENT STATE IN ITS OWN TERRITORY WITH ITS CAPITAL AT JERUSALEM AND SO THAT SYRIA AND LEBANON MAY RECOVER ALL THEIR OCCUPIED TERRITORIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LAW. THESE ARE PRECONDITIONS FOR THE ACHIEVEMENT OF THAT JUST, COMPREHENSIVE AND LASTING PEACE THAT IS SOUGHT BY ALL IN THE MIDDLE EAST.

CHERIF YOUNOUSS DIAITE AMBASSADOR, DIRECTOR OF THE CABINET OF THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SENEGAL (ON BEHALF OF ABDOU DIOUF, PRESIDENT OF SENEGAL)

ALLOW ME FIRST OF ALL TO CONVEY TO YOU THE CORDIAL AND FRATERNAL GREETINGS AND ENCOURAGEMENT OF ABDOU DIOUF, PRESIDENT OF OF SENEGAL.

PRESIDENT DIOUF ASKED ME TO REPRESENT HIM PERSONALLY HERE, AT THIS IMPORTANT INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE OF SOLIDARITY AND SUPPORT FOR THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

HAD IT NOT BEEN FOR PREVIOUS ENGAGEMENTS, PRESIDENT ABDOU DIOUF WOULD BE AMONG US TODAY TO RESPOND TO THE KIND INVITATION JOINTLY EXTENDED TO HIM BY IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AZZEDINE LARAKI, SECRETARY GENERAL OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, AND ESMAT ABDEL MEGUID, SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES.

WITHIN THE UNITED NATIONS, WHERE OUR COUNTRY HAS HAD THE HONOUR OF CHAIRING THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE SINCE ITS ESTABLISHMENT IN 1975, AND IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY AND THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, SENEGAL HAS ALWAYS EXPRESSED ITS SOLIDARITY WITH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ITS LEADERS, FOREMOST AMONG WHOM IS PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT, WHO IS PRESENT HERE.

FOR MANY DECADES THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAS MADE NUMEROUS EFFORTS TO REGAIN ITS RIGHTS, WITH THE SUPPORT OF ITS FRIENDS, WHOSE CIRCLE IS GROWING DAY BY DAY, AND WITH THE BACKING OF THE UNITED NATIONS, WHOSE PRIMARY AND UNIVERSAL TASK IS TO BUILD A WORLD OF PEACE, JUSTICE AND LAW, BASED ON RESPECT FOR THE DIGNITY OF PEOPLES, NATIONS AND HUMAN BEINGS, WHOM GOD CREATED IN ORDER THAT THEY MIGHT LIVE TOGETHER IN COMMUNITY AND COMMUNION, IN FRATERNITY AND SOLIDARITY.

AS THE YEAR 1998 MARKS THE FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS, IT IS HIGHLY SYMBOLIC THAT THE INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IS BEING HELD DURING AN ANNIVERSARY OF PARTICULAR SIGNIFICANCE FOR THE HISTORY OF HUMANITY AND THE DESTINY OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. BUT THIS CONFERENCE IS ALSO BEING HELD AT A CRITICAL MOMENT FOR THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST. IT IS BEING HELD IN A PLACE THAT IS A SYMBOL IN ITSELF - BRUSSELS, CAPITAL OF AN EVOLVING EUROPE - A EUROPE THAT IS BEING BUILT THROUGH SOLIDARITY, DIALOGUE AND NEGOTIATION, A EUROPE WITH WHICH WE AFRICANS, TOGETHER WITH THE PEOPLES OF THE CARIBBEAN AND PACIFIC NATIONS, HAVE, FOR OVER 4O YEARS, BEEN ENGAGED IN A JOINT EFFORT TO BUILD A UNIFIED TRANSCONTINENTAL SPHERE, BASED ON A STRATEGIC, FERTILE AND DYNAMIC EURAFRICAN PARTNERSHIP.

I SHOULD LIKE, THEREFORE, TO TAKE THIS OPPORTUNITY TO EXPRESS OUR PROFOUND GRATITUDE TO THE AUTHORITIES OF THE KINGDOM OF BELGIUM FOR AGREEING TO HOST THIS IMPORTANT MEETING IN THIS EUROPEAN LAND, AND TO THANK ERIK DERYCKE, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM, FOR OPENING THESE IMPORTANT PROCEEDINGS.

I ALSO WISH TO GREET OUR EUROPEAN PARTNERS BY EXPRESSING TO THEM OUR DEEPEST APPRECIATION FOR THE MANY FORMS OF AID WHICH THEY HAVE PROVIDED TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, OF WHOM THE EUROPEAN UNION REMAINS THE PRINCIPAL BENEFACTOR.

THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE IS INDEED THE THORNIEST AND MOST COMPLEX ISSUE WHICH THE UNITED NATIONS INHERITED UPON ITS ESTABLISHMENT IN 1945. AS YOU KNOW, THIS QUESTION, WHICH HAS BEEN CONSIDERED FOR SEVERAL DECADES BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY, IS AT THE HEART OF THE MIDDLE EAST CRISIS AND REMAINS A PRIMARY INTERNATIONAL CONCERN. A JUST AND LASTING SETTLEMENT OF THIS QUESTION IS AN ESSENTIAL CONDITION FOR STABILITY IN THIS SENSITIVE REGION OF THE WORLD.

THE UNITED NATIONS, WHICH HAS BEEN CHARGED WITH A PRIMARY AND PERMANENT RESPONSIBILITY IN THIS AREA, HAS, THROUGH THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE SECURITY COUNCIL, ADOPTED NUMEROUS RESOLUTIONS, WHICH HAVE, FOR THE MOST PART, REMAINED INEFFECTIVE.

IN SPITE OF THIS, THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY HAS NEVER LOST HOPE. IT HAS STRENGTHENED ITS SUPPORT, FOR, AS WE ALL AGREE, A SETTLEMENT OF THIS CRISIS REQUIRES A PERFECT UNIVERSAL CONCERT OF VOICES—ALL THE VOICES OF ALL THE COUNTRIES IN THE WORLD. IT ALSO, AND ESPECIALLY, REQUIRES A STRONG SYNERGY OF EFFORTS, INITIATIVES AND APPROACHES ON THE PART OF ALL PEACE- AND JUSTICE-LOVING PERSONS OF GOOD WILL.

ACCORDINGLY, WE HAVE ALL HOURISHED THE HOPE THAT THE SIGNIFICANT PROGRESS MADE IN THE LAST FEW YEARS WOULD BE CONSOLIDATED.

WITH THE MADRID CONFERENCE IN 1991 AND THE SIGNING OF THE OSLO AND WASHINGTON, D.C., ACCORDS IN SEPTEMBER 1993, WE THOUGHT THAT THIS LAND OF ANCIENT CIVILIZATIONS, THE CRADLE OF REVEALED RELIGIONS, STEEPED IN TOLERANCE AND HUMANISM, WOULD RETURN TO ITS FORMER ROLE AS A LAND OF CONVERGENCE, LOVE AND PEACE.

WE THOUGHT THAT THE PALESTINIAN REFUGEES WOULD RETURN RAPIDLY TO THEIR TOWNS AND VILLAGES WITH DIGNITY AND HONOUR, AND THAT THE IRREPRESSIBLE LONGINGS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE FOR SELF-DETERMINATION AND THE BUILDING OF A PALESTINIAN STATE WOULD FINALLY BE REALIZED.

WE THOUGHT THEN, IN GOOD FATH, THAT THE QUESTION OF EAST JERUSALEM WOULD BE SETTLED AND THAT ISRAEL, SECURE WITHIN ITS INTERNATIONALLY RECOGNIZED BORDERS, WOULD, IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LAW, PROCEED TO WITHDRAW ITS TROOPS FROM THE OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES AND TO ENTER INTO A NEW ERA OF PARTNERSHIP, PEACE, STABILITY AND SHARED DEVELOPMENT WITH THE NEIGHBOURS THAT HISTORY AND GEOGRAPHY HAD GIVEN IT.

IT MUST BE ACKNOWLEDGED THAT IN THE LIGHT OF THE DEVELOPMENTS IN 1997, THREATS LOOM OVER THE LEGITIMATE HOPES OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, OWING TO CERTAIN UNILATERAL MEASURES AND THE FREEZE IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED WITH THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY.

THE POLICY OF COLONIZATION OF THE PALESTINIAN ARAB TERRITORIES HAS CONTINUED, ALONG WITH THE CONFISCATION OF LAND IN JERUSALEM, FREQUENT AND PROLONGED CLOSINGS OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES, PROVOCATIONS BY ARMED SETTLERS AGAINST PALESTINIAN CIVILIANS, EXTORTION AND PUNITIVE MEASURES AGAINST INNOCENT POPULATIONS.

SEVERAL MONTHS AGO, THE OCCUPYING POWER LAUNCHED A DELIBERATE POLICY OF JUDAIZATION OF EAST JERUSALEM, WITH THE BUILDING OF A NEW JEWISH SETTLEMENT ON ARAB SOIL AT ABU GHNEIM, A HIGHLY SYMBOLIC SITE. OTHER SIMILAR MEASURES HAVE BEEN CARRIED OUT IN THE PAST FEW WEEKS, DESPITE THE RECENT INITIATIVES UNDERTAKEN BY THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND CERTAIN EUROPEAN COUNTRIES FOR THE RESUMPTION OF THE PEACE NEGOTIATIONS.

THIS DELIBERATE POLICY WAS STRONGLY CONDEMNED AT THE TWO EMERGENCY SPECIAL SESSIONS AND THE FIFTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY.

IN THE LIGHT OF THE DANGEROUS EVOLUTION OF THE SITUATION IN THE REGION, MARKED BY THE STALEMATE IN THE PEACE PROCESS, THE INTERNATIONAL MOBILIZATION FOR THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE DESERVES TO BE STRENGTHENED AND EXPANDED. THE PALESTINIANS HAVE A RIGHT TO LIVE AS A PEOPLE AND A NATION WITHIN A SOVEREIGN STATE. THEY HAVE A RIGHT TO PEACE, SECURITY, PERSONAL SAFETY AND THE SAFETY OF THEIR PROPERTY. IT IS CLEAR TO EVERYONE THAT THESE FUNDAMENTAL, INALIENABLE AND INDISSOLUBLE RIGHTS CANNOT BE EXERCISED ANYWHERE BUT IN THE LAND OF THEIR ANCESTORS - IN THEIR HOMELAND, IN PALESTINE, IN A FREE PALESTINE WITH A LEGAL AND INTERNATIONALLY RECOGNIZED STATUS.

MY COUNTRY, SENEGAL, REMAINS DEEPLY CONVINCED THAT THERE CAN BE NO PEACE AND SECURITY IN THIS REGION SO LONG AS THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE CONTINUE TO BE IGNORED, THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS CONTINUE TO BE FLOUTED WITH IMPUNITY AND THE PRINCIPLES LAID DOWN IN THE MADRID, OSLO, WASHINGTON, D.C., AND TABA ACCORDS, ESTABLISHING THE EXCHANGE OF "LAND FOR PEACE", REMAIN A DEAD LETTER.

IT IS IN THIS SPIRIT THAT OUR COUNTRY SUPPORTS THE HOLDING OF A CONFERENCE OF THE STATES PARTIES TO THE GENEVA CONVENTION RELATIVE TO THE PROTECTION OF CIVILIAN PERSONS IN TIME OF WAR, OF 12 AUGUST 1949, WITH THE FULL PARTICIPATION OF THE PALESTINIAN DELEGATION.

THE RISKS OF AN ESCALATION ARE REAL IF WE DO NOTHING TO GET THE PEACE PROCESS BACK ON TRACK AND ESTABLISH CONFIDENCE-BUILDING MEASURES THAT COULD HELP TO RELAUNCH THE NEGOTIATIONS, STARTING FROM THE POINTS OF AGREEMENT ALREADY REACHED BY THE PARTIES.

THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE, THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, THE UNITED NATIONS THROUGH THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE SECURITY COUNCIL, THE COSPONSORS OF THE PEACE PROCESS, NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS AND ALL PERSONS OF GOOD WILL MUST EXERT ALL POSSIBLE INFLUENCE ON THE COURSE OF EVENTS IN ORDER TO HALT THE DANGEROUS TREND TOWARDS A RESUMPTION OF HOSTILITIES. THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY MUST DO EVERYTHING IN ITS POWER TO ENSURE THAT THE VOICE OF REASON AND GOOD JUDGEMENT PREVAILS.

THIS IS THE MESSAGE THAT PRESIDENT ABDOU DIOUF ASKED ME TO DELIVER TO YOU ON THE OCCASION OF THIS IMPORTANT INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. IT IS A MESSAGE OF PEACE AND HOPE, A POWERFUL MESSAGE OF RENEWED SOLIDARITY WITH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND WITH PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT A MESSAGE OF THANKS AND ENCOURAGEMENT TO ALL PERSONS OF GOOD WILL WHO ARE WORKING EVERY DAY TO ADVANCE THE CAUSE OF PEACE, JUSTICE AND THE HUMAN RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

L. N. SISULU

DEPUTY MINISTER OF HOME AFFAIRS OF SOUTH AFRICA, (ON BEHALF OF NELSON MANDELA, PRESIDENT OF SOUTH AFRICA)

IT IS INDEED AN EXTRAORDINARY HONOUR FOR ME TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS ESTEEMED CONFERENCE ON BEHALF OF MY PRESIDENT NELSON MANDELA.

THE SOUTH AFRICAN GOVERNMENT IS CONCERNED ABOUT THE BREAKDOWN OVER THE PAST MORE IN THE PROCESS OF NEGOTIATION, A PROCESS WHICH WAS PERHAPS THE MOST NOTABLE RESULT OF THE OSLO ACCORDS AND ONE OF THE GREAT FACTORS OF HOPE FOR A FUTURE OF PEACE BETWEEN ISRAEL AND PALESTINE. SOUTH AFRICA REMAINS UNEQUIVOCALLY SUPPORTIVE OF THE PEACE PLAN MAPPED OUT AT OSLO AND SEES A FUTURE OF LASTING PEACE AND FRIENDSHIP BETWEEN ISRAEL AND PALESTINE ONLY IF IT IS BASED UPON A SPIRIT OF MUTUAL CONSULTATION AND RESPECT.

UNFORTUNATELY, HOWEVER, THE OSLO PROCESS, BASED ON THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE, HAS BEEN REPLACED BY AN APPROACH TO PEACEMAKING WHICH SEEMS TO BE PREDICATED UPON THE ACHIEVEMENT OF ARMED NON-BELLIGERENCE AND THE UNILATERAL MAXIMIZATION OF ISRAEL'S CONTROL OVER PALESTINIAN LAND. INSTEAD OF CONSULTING, THE CURRENT ISRAELI GOVERNMENT SEEMS TO HAVE TURNED TO WHOLESALE EXPROPRIATION AND CONFISCATION OF PALESTINIAN LAND, RAPID EXPANSION OF ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS, A PROGRAMME OF ROAD-BUILDING DESIGNED TO CARVE UP PALESTINIAN TERRITORY AND ISOLATION OF PALESTINIAN COMMUNITIES IN THE INTERESTS OF ENHANCING ISRAELI CONTROL. SHOCKINGLY, THIS HAS LED TO AN ALARMING INCREASE IN THE NUMBER OF FAMILIES EVICTED FROM THEIR HOMES WITH ACCOMPANYING DEMOLITIONS, ALLEGEDLY IN THE INTERESTS OF GUARANTEEING SECURITY FOR ISRAELI CITIZENS.

ISRAEL'S EMPHASIS ON MINIMIZING SECURITY THREATS IS BEING USED TO JUSTIFY A POLICY OF IMPOSING CLOSURES ON PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES. THESE CLOSURES HAVE HAD THE EFFECT OF PREVENTING PALESTINIANS FROM REACHING THEIR PLACES OF WORK, THUS INDUCING HIGH LEVELS OF UNEMPLOYMENT AND IMPOVERISHMENT IN PALESTINIAN SOCIETY. ULTIMATELY THIS THREATENS THE SECURITY OF PALESTINIAN SOCIETY; THE SECURITY OF A STABLE INCOME; THE SECURITY OF COMING HOME AT NIGHT WITHOUT THE FEAR OF FINDING AN EVICTION OR DEMOLITION ORDER STUCK TO YOUR FRONT DOOR; THE SECURITY OF KNOWING THAT YOU CAN REACH A HOSPITAL; THE SECURITY OF BEING ABLE TO RESIDE IN THE WEST BANK FOR PURPOSES OF STUDY OR CAREER EVEN IF YOU HALL FROM GAZA — THIS SECURITY IS AS LEGITIMATE AND AS VITAL FOR THE STABILITY AND DEVELOPMENT OF PALESTINIAN SOCIETY AS SECURITY FROM RANDOM TERRORISM IS FOR ISRAELI SOCIETY. IN FACT THE VERY ARBITRARINESS OF ISRAELI SECURITY DECISIONS ABOUT THESE AND OTHER ASPECTS OF DAILY PALESTINIAN LIFE AND THE UNCERTAINTY WHICH IT GIVES RISE TO AND THE HARASSMENT AND HUMILIATION WHICH OFTEN ACCOMPANY THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH DECISIONS, CONSTITUTE A PSYCHOLOGICAL ONSLAUGHT ON PALESTINIAN SOCIETY WHICH IS AS DESTRUCTIVE OF PEACE AS THE THREAT OF TERRORIST ATTACKS HANGING OVER THE HEADS OF ISRAELIS.

THE SECURITY INTERESTS OF THE TWO SOCIETIES ARE NOT IN FACT MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE. SECURITY FOR BOTH CAN BE ENHANCED ONLY WHEN BOTH SIDES RESPECT EACH OTHER AS FELLOW HUMAN BEINGS DESTINED IRREVOCABLY TO SHARE THE SAME LAND.

SOUTH AFRICA'S OWN EXPERIENCE OF PEACEMAKING AND NATIONAL RECONCILIATION IS BASED UPON THE FUNDAMENTAL PROPOSITION THAT THE SOLUTION TO INTRACTABLE CONFLICT LIES NOT ONLY IN THE BUILDING OF TRUST BETWEEN PARTIES, BUT IS ALSO TO BE FOUND IN THE MANNER EACH SIDE TO A CONFLICT REACHES OUT ACROSS THE DIVIDE THAT SEPARATES THEM, IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH COMMON GROUND AS A BASIS FOR THE SHARED GOAL OF PEACEMAKING AND BUILDING A FUTURE TOGETHER.

IN THIS REGARD AN ESSENTIAL AND BASIC REQUIREMENT IS THE NEED FOR ALL PARTIES WHO JOIN IN BUILDING A SHARED VISION AND HOPE FOR PEACE TOGETHER, TO RECOGNIZE MUTUALLY THE DIGNITY, HUMANITY AND UNIVERSAL PRINCIPLES OF JUSTICE IMBUING THE POSITIONS OF ALL SIDES.

NO PARTY TO A CONFLICT HAS EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS IN A PROCESS OF PEACEMAKING.

SOUTH AFRICA'S RECOGNITION OF THE STATE OF PALESTINE IS IN ITS MOST ESSENTIAL FORM A STATEMENT WHICH IS PROFOUNDLY SYMBOLIC AND EQUALLY CATEGORICAL IN ITS COMMITMENT TO THE CAUSE OF MAKING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST.

AT ITS CORE, IT DIGNIFIES THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR CLAIM FOR NATIONHOOD WITH AN EQUAL STATUS TO THAT OF THEIR PARTNER IN THE SEARCH OF PEACE, ISRAEL. IT RECOGNIZES THE JUSTICE OF PALESTINE'S DEMAND TO ACHIEVE THE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND AN EQUAL PLACE IN THE COMMUNITY OF NATIONS.

SOUTH AFRICA'S RECOGNITION OF PALESTINE IS THUS A PROFOUNDLY AND AFFIRMATIVELY PRO-PEACE STATEMENT WHICH DERIVES NOT ONLY FROM OUR NATION'S COMMITMENT TO THE ACHIEVEMENT OF TRUE AND LASTING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST BUT ALSO FROM OUR UNDERSTANDING THAT TRUE PEACE WILL ONLY BE POSSIBLE WHEN THERE IS A COMMON BASIS FOR MUTUAL, JUST AND EQUAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE INTRINSIC DIGNITY OF EACH SIDE.

WE PLEDGE OUR UNWAVERING SUPPORT TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN THEIR JUST QUEST FOR PEACE. WE ALSO SUPPORT THOSE IN ISRAEL WHO SHARE THIS NOBLE GOAL AND WHO ARE COURAGEOUS ENOUGH TO VOICE THEIR BELIEF IN THIS ESSENTIAL FOUNDATION FOR BUILDING PEACE. SOUTH AFRICA APPLAUDS YOUR COURAGE AND WILLINGNESS TO BECOME PART OF THE PROCESS OF REACHING OUT ACROSS THE DIVIDE TO BUILD COMMON GROUND AND MUTUAL RECOGNITION.

WE ALSO APPLAUD THE COURAGEOUS STAND TAKEN BY PROGRESSIVE WOMEN OF PALESTINE AND ISRAEL WHO HAVE HELD HANDS ACROSS THE DIVIDE IN THEIR QUEST FOR PEACE IN THE REGION.

MY PRESENCE AT THIS CONFERENCE IS NOT ONLY TO HONOUR THE JUSTICE OF A CAUSE I BELIEVE IN DEEPLY; IT IS ALSO TO EXPRESS THE SOLIDARITY OF SOUTH AFRICA WITH THE CAUSE OF PEACE. SOUTH AFRICA STANDS FIRMLY WITH THOSE WHO IDENTIFY WITH AND STRIVE FOR A JUST AND ENDURING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST. FROM THIS NATION, YOU CAN EXPECT NO LESS.

FARUK LOGOGLU DEPUTY UNDER-SECRETARY FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS,

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF TURKEY

THIS CONFERENCE ON THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IS TAKING PLACE AT AN OPPORTUNE TIME. IT HIGHLIGHTS THE FACT THAT AT THE CORE OF ALL THE TROUBLES IN THE MIDDLE EAST REGION STILL LIES THE UNRESOLVED PLIGHT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. SO LONG AS THE PALESTINIANS ARE DENIED THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHTS, LASTING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST WILL BE DIFFICULT TO ACHIEVE.

IT IS COMMENDABLE THAT THREE IMPORTANT ORGANIZATIONS HAVE COOPERATED IN PUTTING THIS CONFERENCE TOGETHER, THE UNITED NATIONS, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES. THIS IS ALREADY AN INDICATION OF THE GROWING ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE IMPORTANCE AND URGENCY OF THE ISSUES WE ARE EXPECTED TO DISCUSS IN THE COURSE OF OUR DELIBERATIONS TODAY AND TOMORROW.

THE PEOPLE AND GOVERNMENT OF TURKEY ARE CONSISTENT AND STRONG SUPPORTERS OF THE CAUSE OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THE TURKISH PEOPLE HAVE MANY REASONS TO ACT IN SOLIDARITY WITH THEIR PALESTINIAN BRETHREN. WE HAVE OVER THE YEARS HELPED TO PROMOTE THE NEEDS AND ASPIRATIONS OF THE PALESTINIANS AND PROVIDED DIRECT HELP TOWARDS THE REALIZATION OF THEIR LEGITIMATE CAUSE. WE DID THIS IN A VARIETY OF FORUMS, WHETHER UNDER THE ROOF OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL PLATFORMS OR IN THE CONTEXT OF OUR BILATERAL RELATIONS. WE WILL NOT CEASE OUR EFFORTS UNTIL SUCH TIME AS THEY ARE IN A POSITION TO EXERCISE AND ENJOY THEIR RIGHTS IN FULL.

WE REGRET THAT THE PLIGHT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE CONTINUES. WITH THE VIRTUAL RUPTURE OF THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS, THEY ARE FACING A GRAVE AND FRUSTRATING SITUATION INSTEAD OF MAKING PROGRESS IN THE REALIZATION OF THEIR RIGHTS, THEY ARE FACING SETBACKS AND DEEPER INJURIES. ISRAELI SETTLEMENT ACTIVITIES HAVE UNDERCUT THE GOODWILL REQUIRED FOR THE CONTINUATION OF NEGOTIATIONS AND ENEMIES OF PEACE HAVE MADE THE SITUATION WORSE BY RESORTING TO TERRORISM. THIS SITUATION CANNOT BE TOLERATED.

TURKEY VIEWED THE ONSET OF THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS AS ONE OF THE MAJOR EVENTS OF THE RECENT PAST. WE INVESTED A LOT OF HOPE, EFFORT AND RESOURCES IN THE PROCESS IN THE EXPECTATION THAT IT WOULD FINALLY BRING STABILITY AND SECURITY TO THIS TROUBLED REGION. TURKEY STILL BELIEVES THAT THE PEACE PROCESS REMAINS TO BE THE ONLY REALISTIC AND PREFERABLE WAY FOR SETTLING THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT AND FOR MEETING THE ASPIRATIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

VALUABLE TIME HAS ALREADY BEEN LOST IN THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS AND AS A RESULT THE PEOPLE OF PALESTINE HAVE HAD TO PUT UP WITH EVEN MORE SUFFERING. THIS IS NOT JUST AND IT IS NOT RIGHT. THE PEACE PROCESS MUST BE REVIVED, WITH ALL SIDES READY TO FULFIL THEIR OBLIGATIONS. ISRAEL SHOULD STICK TO ITS BINDING COMMITMENTS AND MUST IN PARTICULAR REFRAIN FROM ACTS THAT DEPRIVE THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE FROM THE LEGITIMATE EXERCISE OF THEIR RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS. SIMILARLY, THE PEACE PROCESS SHOULD NOT BE HELD HOSTAGE TO TERRORIST ACTS. TURKEY CONTINUES TO SUPPORT THE PEACE PROCESS AND WILL TRY TO HELP ALL APPROPRIATE EFFORTS TO REVIVE IT.

IN THE MEANTIME, WE WOULD LIKE TO EMPHASIZE THAT THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY REMAIN ALERT TO THE SITUATION AND DIFFICULTIES OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. NO PEOPLE WITH SO MUCH DEPRIVATION AND FRUSTRATION CAN BE TRULY EXPECTED TO DISENGAGE ITSELF FROM FEELINGS OF DISTRUST AND HOSTILITY. THIS IS WHY THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE NEED TO BE IMPROVED URGENTLY IN ORDER TO BUILD AN ADEQUATE LEVEL OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL WELL-BEING AND PROSPERITY. FOR WITH A SENSE OF WELL-BEING AND HOPE FOR THE FUTURE, IT WOULD BE EASIER FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE TO PUT THEIR

BEST EFFORTS IN THE MAKING OF PEACE WITH ISRAEL. WE HOPE THAT THIS CONFERENCE WILL LEAD TO MORE MEANINGFUL STEPS BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IN THE EXTENSION OF MORE ECONOMIC, FINANCIAL AND TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

TURKEY STRONGLY WISHES THAT THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY WILL BE A CENTURY OF PEACE AND COOPERATION. IN THIS CONNECTION, WE CANNOT VISUALIZE ANY GRAND SCHEME OF PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST WITHOUT THE FULL RESTITUTION OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. WE THEREFORE PRAY THAT AT THE DAWN OF THE NEW CENTURY, WE WILL ALL BE ABLE TO APPLAUD AND CONGRATULATE OUR PALESTINIAN BRETHREN FOR HAVING THEIR STATE ESTABLISHED, IN FULL POSSESSION OF THEIR RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS AND THUS IN A POSITION TO MAKE THEIR CREATIVE CONTRIBUTIONS TO HUMANITY AND CIVILIZATION. WE KNOW THIS IS NOT AN EASY TASK, BUT I WISH TO AFFIRM ONCE AGAIN THAT TURKEY WILL PERSIST IN WORKING HARD TO ACHIEVE THIS LONG-DELAYED AND JUST GOAL. WE ARE CONFIDENT THAT THIS CONFERENCE WILL CONSTITUTE A POSITIVE CONTRIBUTION IN THIS REGARD.

MOUNIR ZAHRAN

PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF EGYPT TO THE UNITED NATIONS AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS IN GENEVA (ON BEHALF OF AMRE MOUSSA, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF EGYPT)

I HAVE THE HONOUR TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS CONFERENCE ON BEHALF OF AMRE MOUSSA, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF EGYPT, WHO COULD NOT BE HERE OWING TO HIS ENGAGEMENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE COUNCIL OF MINISTERS OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY AT ADDIS ABABA. HE ASKED ME TO CONVEY TO YOU HIS BEST WISHES FOR SUCCESS.

THIS CONFERENCE, CONVENED FOR THE SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN COOPERATION BETWEEN THE UNITED NATIONS, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, IS A VERY IMPORTANT EVENT BOTH IN ITS TIMING AND SUBSTANCE THE CONFERENCE TAKES PLACE AT A TIME WHEN THE PEACE PROCESS HAS REACHED AN IMPASSE AS A RESULT OF THE NON-PULFILLMENT BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT OF ITS OBLIGATIONS STEMMING FROM THE PEACE AGREEMENTS AND PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY.

THE ESSENCE OF THE DANGER OF THIS PHASE LIES IN THE FACT THAT THE ESSENCE AND THE BASIS OF THE PEACE PROCESS ARE AT RISK.

THE PEACE PROCESS, WHICH STARTED IN 1991 WITH THE MADRID CONFERENCE IN ORDER TO IMPLEMENT SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973), WAS FOUNDED ON A SOLID BASIS THAT IS THE PRINCIPLE OF "LAND FOR PEACE", WHICH IS THE CORNERSTONE OF THE OSLO ACCORD.

AT PRESENT, THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST FACES A SERIOUS THREAT AS A RESULT OF THE NON-IMPLEMENTATION BY ISRAEL OF ITS COMMITMENTS AND THE NON-OBSERVANCE OF THE TIMETABLES SET FOR IT AND AGREED UPON WITH THE PALESTINIAN SIDE AND ITS CONTINUATION OF THE POLICY OF CONSTRUCTION OF ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES. THE ISRAELI PRACTICES CONSTITUTE A THREAT TO THE VERY ESSENCE OF THE ISRAELI OBLIGATION, WHICH IS RETURNING LAND TO ITS RIGHT OWNERS IN EXCHANGE FOR PEACE AND SECURITY FOR ALL.

ON THE OTHER HAND, WE CAUTION AGAINST ALLOWING ISRAEL TO SEIZE THE PRESENT SITUATION AS THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IS PREOCCUPIED BY THE CRISIS OF THE INSPECTION OF WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION IN IRAQ TO EVADE THE ISRAEL OBLIGATIONS TOWARDS THE PEACE PROCESS. IT SHOULD NOT ALSO BE FORGOTTEN THAT ISRAEL ALSO POSSESS WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION WHICH CONSTITUTE A TREAT TO INTERNATIONAL PEACE AND SECURITY INCLUDING THE WHOLE REGION, WE, THEREFORE, REPEAT OUR CALL FOR ALL PARTIES TO IMPLEMENT THE INITIATIVE LAUNCHED BY PRESIDENT HOSNI MUBARAK IN APRIL I 990 CONCERNING THE ELIMINATION OF ALL WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION FROM THE MIDDLE EAST, AN OBJECTIVE WHICH SHOULD BE ADHERED TO BY ALL STATES IN THE REGION WITHOUT EXCEPTION.

THE ISRAELI POLICY OF BUILDING SETTLEMENTS IN THE PALESTINIAN AND ARAB TERRITORIES OCCUPIED SINCE 1967 DEPRIVES THE PALESTINIANS FROM ONE OF THEIR MOST IMPORTANT RIGHTS WHICH IS LAND. AND AT THE TIME THE ISRAELI SIDE CONTINUES ITS PROVOCATION AGAINST THE PALESTINIAN NATIONAL SENTIMENTS, BY CONTINUING ITS POLICY OF BUILDING AND EXPANDING THE SETTLEMENTS, ISRAEL CONTINUES ALSO ITS POLICY OF ENCIRCLEMENT, CLOSURE AND STARVATION WHICH LED TO THE DETERIORATION OF THE ECONOMIC SITUATION AND THE INCREASE OF UNEMPLOYMENT BETWEEN THE ARAB POPULATION OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES, INCLUDING THE TERRITORIES UNDER THE CONTROL OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY.

THE CLEAR FACT IN THIS REGARD WHICH CANNOT BE IGNORED BY ANY OBJECTIVE POLITICAL ANALYST IS THAT THERE IS A CLEAR RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE TWO PILLARS OF THE EQUATION OF LAND FOR PEACE. THE MORE THE SEIZURE OF PALESTINIAN LAND IS ACCELERATED, THE MORE INSECURITY PREVAILS AND THE MORE THE CHANCE OF PEACE WILL BE DELAYED.

THE ISRAELI POLICY OF FAIT ACCOMPLI AND BUILDING OF SETTLEMENTS HAS MANY FACETS AND VARIOUS LEVELS. IT APPEARS TO BE A CONSISTENT ISRAELI STRATEGY TO REVERSE THE JUST PEACE PROCESS AS AGREED UPON AND AS SUMMARIZED BY THE EQUATION OF LAND FOR PEACE, A PROCESS WHICH EGYPT STARTED IN NOVEMBER 1977.

HOWEVER, THE LAW OF FORCE, IF IT REMAINS DOMINANT OVER THE FORCE OF LAW, THERE WILL BE ONLY ONE CONSEQUENCE, NAMELY VIOLENCE AND MORE VIOLENCE, WHICH THE REGION HAS WITNESSED FOR SO MANY YEARS. THIS NOT ONLY JEOPARDIZES THE NATIONAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, BUT ALSO THREATENS THE RIGHTS AND INTERESTS OF ALL OTHER PEOPLES IN THE REGION; IN THE ARAB AND ISLAMIC WORLD, IN ADDITION TO THE INTERESTS OF EUROPE THAT SHARES WITH THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION, GEOGRAPHY, HISTORY AND THE FUTURE.

THEREFORE, ISRAEL SHOULD STOP BUILDING SETTLEMENTS IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES, SINCE THE WEST BANK, INCLUDING EAST JERUSALEM, IS NOT PART OF ISRAEL. THEY ARE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES AND WILL, REMAIN SO NO MATTER WHAT ISRAEL DOES OR CLAIM. FORCE CAN USURP A RIGHT BUT CANNOT ESTABLISH A RIGHT. LEGITIMACY HAS ITS WELL-KNOWN SOURCES. IT CANNOT DERIVE FROM THE POLICY OF A FAIT ACCOMPLI OR THE ISRAELI PRACTICES WHICH ARE UNIQUE IN THE WORLD AND ALL UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS ASCERTAIN THEIR INVALIDITY.

THIS LEADS ME TO EXPRESS THANKS AND APPRECIATION TO THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE HAS SUCCESSFULLY COVERED ALL THE ILLEGAL ISRAELI PRACTICES WHICH THREATEN THE PEACE PROCESS. I WOULD LIKE ALSO TO EXPRESS OUR DISMAY FOR THE NONCOMPLIANCE BY ISRAEL WITH THE NECESSITY TO IMPROVE THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THIS CONSTITUTES A LEGAL OBLIGATION UPON ISRAEL AS THE "OCCUPYING POWER", IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GENEVA CONVENTIONS OF 1949, AS WELL AS A POLITICAL NECESSITY TO CONFIDENCE-BUILDING IN THE PEACE PROCESS.

AGAINST THIS BACKGROUND, WE SUPPORTED THE RESOLUTION OF THE WORLD HEALTH ASSEMBLY IN MAY 1997 RELATED TO THE HEALTH CONDITIONS OF THE ARAB POPULATION IN THE OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES, WHICH REFLECTS THE NEEDED ATTENTION AND PROMOTION OF THEIR RIGHTS.

SIMILARLY, THE DETERIORATION OF THE SITUATION OF WORKERS AND EMPLOYERS IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES DESERVES PARTICULAR ATTENTION SINCE WORKERS ARE IN THE FOREFRONT OF THOSE WHO ARE SERIOUSLY AFFECTED BY THE ISRAELI PRACTICES. THIS IS WHY EGYPT HAS SUPPORTED AN EXPANDING ROLE OF THE INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION (ILO) IN THIS RESPECT.

EGYPT WAS ONE OF THE CO-SPONSORS OF THE ILO RESOLUTION IN THIS RESPECT ADOPTED IN JUNE 1996 IN THE EIGHTY-THIRD SESSION OF THE INTERNATIONAL LABOUR CONFERENCE ON THE ISSUE OF THE PROTECTION OF THE RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS OF ARAB EMPLOYERS AND WORKERS IN PALESTINE AND THE OTHER ARAB OCCUPIED TERRITORIES WITH A VIEW TO ENHANCE THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST. THAT RESOLUTION REFERRED TO THE PHILADELPHIA DECLARATION CONTAINING A CONFIRMATION OF THE RIGHT TO WORK AS A BASIC FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT WHICH SHOULD BE EXERCISED BY ALL PEOPLES ON AN EQUAL FOOTING REGARDLESS OF THEIR ETHNIC, RELIGIOUS OR NATIONAL ORIGINS. THE INTERNATIONAL LABOUR CONFERENCE WELCOMED THE PEACE PROCESS WHICH WAS STARTED BY THE MADRID CONFERENCE IN 1991 IN THE MIDDLE EAST AIMING TO ACHIEVE A JUST, LASTING AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST AS A CONDITION SINE QUA NON FOR SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC PROSPERITY. IT CONFIRMED THAT MILITARY OCCUPATION AND THE POLICY OF ESTABLISHING SETTLEMENTS ARE BOTH INCONSISTENT WITH THE PURPOSES AND PRINCIPLES OF ILO AND INTERNATIONAL LABOUR STANDARDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LABOUR CONFERENCE RESOLUTIONS OF 1974 AND 1980 CONCERNING THE SITUATION OF ARAB WORKERS AND ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS IN PALESTINE AND OTHER ARAB OCCUPIED TERRITORIES. THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF ILO WAS REQUESTED TO TAKE THE NECESSARY STEPS TO FORMULATE AND IMPLEMENT A PLAN OF ACTION AND ACTIVITIES FOR ILO IN FAVOUR OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY IN VARIOUS WORK FIELDS. THE CONFERENCE EXPRESSED ITS DEEP CONCERN OVER THE ISRAELI VIOLATIONS IN THIS RESPECT, AS NOTED BY ILO IN ITS ANNUAL REPORTS SINCE 1978. A SPECIAL REFERENCE WAS MADE TO PARAGRAPH 25 OF THE 1995 ILO REPORT WHICH REVEALED THE CHANGE IN THE PHYSICAL AND DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTER OF THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN AND ARAB TERRITORIES; MEASURES WHICH DIRECTLY VIOLATED INTERNATIONAL LAW, AND THE CONFISCATION OF TERRITORIES AND WATER DIRECTLY RELATED TO THE POLICY OF SETTLEMENT WHICH CONSTITUTE A SERIOUS OBSTACLE TO THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST.

I SHOULD ALSO MENTION THE MOST RECENT REPORT OF THE COMMISSIONER-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS RELIEF AND WORKS AGENCY FOR PALESTINE REFUGEES IN THE NEAR EAST (UNRWA) CONCERNING ITS LIMITED RESOURCES WHICH MAKES IT DIFFICULT TO ASSUME ITS IMPORTANT HUMANITARIAN ROLE. THIS FACT MAKES IT URGENT NOT TO REDUCE ITS ALREADY LIMITED RESOURCES, BUT TO INCREASE THEM IN THE UNITED NATIONS BUDGET IN ORDER TO ENABLE UNRWA TO FACE THE GROWING REQUIREMENTS TO FULFIL ITS RESPONSIBILITIES. DONOR COUNTRIES SHOULD BE ENCOURAGED TO INCREASE THEIR CONTRIBUTIONS IN THIS RESPECT. IN ADDITION, THE OFFICE OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR REFUGEES (UNHCR) SHOULD ALSO EXERCISE A COMPLEMENTARY ROLE TO THAT OF UNRWA.

IT IS WORTHWHILE TO MENTION IN THIS CONTEXT THAT EGYPT WAS AMONG THE STATES WHICH PLEADED FOR THE CONTINUATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT (UNCTAD) UNIT SUPPORTING PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE REFORM OF UNCTAD. WE CONTINUE TO PROVIDE THE SAID UNIT WITH THE NECESSARY FINANCIAL RESOURCES.

ISRAEL SHOULD HALT ITS ILLEGAL PRACTICES WHICH DENY THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. ALL THE ARBITRARY MEASURES TAKEN AGAINST THE PALESTINIANS SUCH AS CLOSURE AND STARVATION AS A COLLECTIVE PUNISHMENT IN REACTION TO THE ANGRY REACTION OF THE POPULATIONS AS A RESULT OF THE CONTINUATION OF THE CONFLICT AND THE FRUSTRATION

OF THE PALESTINIANS IS DUE TO THE LACK OF ANY SERIOUS HOPE OF A JUST SETTLEMENT IN THE PRESENT CIRCUMSTANCES. AN END TO THESE PRACTICES SHOULD TAKE PLACE IN THE LIGHT OF THE PEACE PROCESS WHICH WAS LAID DOWN DURING THE MADRID CONFERENCE AND AFTER THE SIGNATURE BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT OF THE OSLO ACCORD AND THE CAIRO AGREEMENT AND WASHINGTON, D.C., DECLARATION.

THE HOPE OF REACHING SUCH A JUST SETTLEMENT IS DIRECTLY LINKED TO THE EFFICIENCY AND CREDIBILITY OF THE INTERNATIONAL ORDER AND THE RESPECT OF ITS LEGAL BASICS AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION BY DIFFERENT INSTITUTIONS. HENCE, THE FACT THAT GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION ES. 10/3 OF 15 JULY 1997 ON THE SETTLEMENTS AND ISRAELI PRACTICES WAS ADOPTED IN AN EXTRAORDINARY SESSION IN THE FRAMEWORK OF "UNITED FOR PEACE", BY A MAJORITY OF 139 TO 3, WITH 13 ABSTENTIONS, IS VERY SIGNIFICANT BY ITSELF.

THE FIRST SIGNIFICANCE OF THIS RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE ISRAELI PRACTICES IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES IS THAT THOSE PRACTICES PUT THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IN A SITUATION OF HELPLESSNESS WHICH CALLS TO MEMORY THE COLD WAR ERA WHEN THE MUTUAL EXCHANGE OF "VETO" WAS ALMOST PARALYZING THE ROLE OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL.

THE SECOND SIGNIFICANCE IS THAT THE SAID GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION GAINS HIGHER LEGAL VALUE COMPARED TO OTHER RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY SINCE IT WAS BASED ON A UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTION "UNITED FOR PEACE", IT SHOULD THEREFORE BE EVEN MORE RESPECTED AND COMPLIED WITH.

A THIRD POINT WHICH IS EQUALLY RELEVANT IN THIS RESPECT IS THAT THE SAID GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION IS BASED ON WAYS AND MEANS OF ENFORCING RESPECT FOR THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES. THIS CALLS FOR A MORE ACTIVE INVOLVEMENT OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE OF THE RED CROSS TO ENSURE THE IMPLEMENTATION BY ISRAEL OF THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION AND STOP ITS PRACTICES WHICH CONSTITUTE A FLAGRANT AND CONTINUOUS VIOLATION OF ITS PROVISIONS.

THE WORLD IS WITNESSING AT PRESENT A SERIES OF IMPORTANT AND EVEN CRUCIAL DEVELOPMENTS. IT IS UNACCEPTABLE AND ILLOGICAL THAT THE VERY BASICS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW BE BROUGHT INTO QUESTION OR POLEMICS AS WE ARE ON THE EVE OF A NEW MILLENNIUM WHERE THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY LOOKS FORWARD TO PEACE, SECURITY AND STABILITY. JUSTICE IS THE PREREQUISITE FOR PEACE.

WE THEREFORE LOOK FORWARD TO THE FULFILLMENT BY ALL MEMBERS OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, ESPECIALLY THE FIVE PERMANENT MEMBERS OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL, OF THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES IN ORDER TO ATTAIN THE COMMON OBJECTIVE OF THE INTERNATIONAL ORDER WHICH IS THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A SECURE AND STABLE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY BASED ON THE RULE OF LAW AND EQUALITY AMONG STATES AND PEOPLES, ESPECIALLY AND ABOVE ALL THE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATIONS, WHICH IS ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT COLLECTIVE HUMAN RIGHTS INSCRIBED IN THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION ON HUMAN RIGHTS FOR WHICH WE ARE CELEBRATING IN 1998 THE PIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY.

AHMAD MOHAMMED ALI PRESIDENT OF THE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK

ON BEHALF OF THE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK, IT GIVES ME GREAT PLEASURE TO EXPRESS MY SINCERE GRATITUDE TO THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE FOR HAVING INVITED US TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS CONFERENCE, THE PURPOSE OF WHICH IS TO DISCUSS AN ISSUE OF THE VERY GREATEST IMPORTANCE THAT HAS PREOCCUPIED THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY THROUGHOUT THE SECOND HALF OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY.

I SHOULD ALSO LIKE TO THANK BOTH THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES FOR THEIR ACTIVE INVOLVEMENT IN THE PREPARATIONS FOR THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE.

THANKS ARE ALSO DUE TO THE KINGDOM OF BELGIUM FOR HOSTING THE CONFERENCE AND FOR THE WARM WELCOME AND GENEROUS HOSPITALITY WE HAVE ENJOYED, AS WELL AS FOR THE EXCELLENT ARRANGEMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN MADE TO ENSURE THE SUCCESS OF THE CONFERENCE.

THOSE WHO FOLLOW CLOSELY WORLD POLITICS IN THE SECOND HALF OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY ARE AWARE THAT THE MIDDLE EAST HAS ALWAYS BEEN AND REMAINS ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT REGIONS IN AND FOR THE WHOLE WORLD. HOWEVER, IT HAS ALSO BEEN ONE OF THE MOST TROUBLED AND DISTURBED DURING THE LAST THREE DECADES OF THIS CENTURY. IT HAS BEEN THE SCENE OF A CONTINUAL SERIES OF DESTRUCTIVE WARS THAT HAVE SERIOUSLY AFFECTED THE REGION ON THE ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND POLITICAL LEVELS.

IT DOES NOT TAKE LONG FOR ANYONE WHO TRIES TO UNDERSTAND THE REALITY OF WHAT IS GOING ON IN THIS STRATEGIC REGION TO UNDERSTAND THAT IT IS PALESTINE AND THE MISFORTUNES THAT HAVE RAINED DOWN ON ITS PEOPLE SINCE 15 MAY 1948 WHICH LIE AT THE HEART OF THE CONFLICT AND WHICH REPRESENT THE REAL REASON FOR THESE SUCCESSIVE POLITICAL, ECONOMIC AND

SOCIAL TROUBLES. IT IS PALESTINE WHICH HAS BEEN THE CAUSE OF THESE MURDEROUS WARS, THE SUFFERING ENDURED BY SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS, AND THE PSYCHOLOGICAL AND PHYSICAL CHANGES. YET EACH TIME THAT THE PALESTINIANS HAVE TRIED TO PUT THIS UNHAPPY PAST BEHIND THEM BY COMPLYING WITH UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND ATTEMPTING TO REALIZE THEIR OWN ASPIRATIONS, THE ISRAELIS HAVE DONE EVERYTHING POSSIBLE TO JEOPARDIZE THIS SECURITY AND STABILITY AND TO SABOTAGE THE TIES OF TRUST BETWEEN THE PARTIES INVOLVED.

SINCE THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE STATE OF ISRAEL IN PALESTINE TERRITORIES IN 1948, THE PALESTINIANS HAVE BEEN OBLIGED TO EMIGRATE AND, IN WAVE AFTER WAVE, TO LEAVE THEIR HOMELAND, UNDER THE FORCE OF POLITICAL, ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL PRESSURES, MANY MILITARY DECISIONS RESULTING IN THE EXPROPRIATION OF THEIR PROPERTY, THE DESTRUCTION OF THEIR HOMES AND THE IMPOSITION OF COLLECTIVE SANCTIONS AGAINST THEM, REGARDLESS OF ALL THE CHARTERS OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE RESOLUTIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS.

SUBSEQUENT TO ISRAEL'S OCCUPATION OF ALL THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES AND OF SOME TERRITORIES OF NEIGHBOURING ARAB STATES IN 1967, THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE DETERIORATED: ACCORDING TO A 1997 REPORT OF UNCTAD, NEARLY 40 PER CENT OF THE PALESTINIANS IN THE GAZA STRIP AND 23 PER CENT OF THOSE IN THE WEST BANK LIVE BELOW THE POVERTY LINE. THE DETAILS ARE GIVEN IN A STUDY THAT HAS BEEN SUBMITTED TO THIS CONFERENCE.

INITIALLY, ISRAEL SEIZED MORE THAN 53 PER CENT OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES IN THE WEST BANK AND THE GAZA STRIP AND ESTABLISHED COLONIES OF SETTLERS THERE IN RESPONSE TO WHAT IT TERMED SECURITY CONCERNS. IT PROPOSES TO SEIZE FURTHER TERRITORIES IN ORDER TO BUILD NEW SETTLEMENTS OR EXPAND EXISTING ONES, AND TO CONSTRUCT A ROAD NETWORK TO LINK THOSE SETTLEMENTS WITH EACH OTHER AND THEN WITH OTHER ISRAELI TOWNS AND TO ISOLATE ARAB AREAS FROM EACH OTHER AND BREAK THEIR TIES WITH THE ARAB CITY OF JERUSALEM. ALL THESE ACTS CONSTITUTE A FLAGRANT VIOLATION OF THE CHARTER AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS, HUMAN RIGHTS, AND THE AGREEMENTS REACHED UNDER THE AUSPICES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION. SUCH ACTS ALSO CONSTITUTE A FAILURE TO LIVE UP TO THE PROMISES AND COMMITMENTS MADE BY ISRAEL AT THE MADRID CONFERENCE, WHEN IT PROMISED TO PREEZE THE CONSTRUCTION OF SETTLEMENTS AND TO REFRAIN FROM ANY MEASURES LIKELY TO AFFECT THE FINAL STATUS NEGOTIATIONS.

ISRAEL HAS, FURTHERMORE, SEIZED CONTROL OF THE MAJORITY OF THE WATER RESOURCES. THEREBY DEPRIVING THE PALESTINIANS OF THE ADDITIONAL SHARE THEY WERE AWARDED UNDER THE OSLO II ACCORD, CONCLUDED ON 28 SEPTEMBER I 995, A SHARE WHICH WAS SET AT 28 MILLION CUBIC METRES, IN ADDITION TO THE ESTIMATES OF THE WORLD BANK MISSION TO THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES, WHICH AMOUNTED TO BETWEEN 600 MILLION AND 800 MILLION CUBIC METRES. IN FACT, THE SHARE ALLOCATED TO THE PALESTINIANS IS A MERE 200 MILLION AND 228 MILLION CUBIC METRES, AND OF THAT, 66 PER CENT IS USED BY ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS IN PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES, SO THAT THE PALESTINIANS ARE USING ONLY 34 PER CENT OF THEIR SHARE, OR 40 CUBIC METRES PER CAPITA, AS COMPARED WITH AN ESTIMATED ISRAELI PER CAPITA CONSUMPTION OF 375 CUBIC METRES.

WITH REGARD TO THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY, ISRAEL HAS TURNED IT INTO A WEAK ECONOMY DEPENDENT UPON ITS OWN ECONOMY BY DEPRIVING IT OF A PROPER FOUNDATION. FOR EXAMPLE:

- (A) ISRAEL HAS SEIZED AGRICULTURAL LAND AND THE MAIN SOURCES OF REVENUE, THEREBY PROMOTING AN INCREASE IN THE UNEMPLOYMENT RATE;
- (B) IT HAS PROMULGATED LAWS AND TAKEN THE NECESSARY DECISIONS TO ENSURE COMPLETE CONTROL OVER PALESTINIAN IMPORTS AND EXPORTS, THUS CAUSING A SERIOUS DETERIORATION IN THE TRADE BALANCE AND THE PALESTINIAN BALANCE OF PAYMENTS. IN THIS CONTEXT, THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT HAS PLACED EVERY IMAGINABLE OBSTACLE IN THE WAY OF PALESTINIAN EXPORTS TO FOREIGN MARKETS. NUMEROUS OFFICIAL AND INFORMAL BODIES HAVE EXPRESSED PROFOUND DISQUIET WITH REGARD TO THE OBSTACLES CREATED BY ISRAEL WITH A VIEW TO PREVENTING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION AUTHORIZING ACCESS TO EUROPEAN MARKETS FOR PALESTINIAN PRODUCTS ON THE BASIS OF A CERTIFICATE OF PALESTINIAN ORIGIN. ISRAEL HAS ALSO PROHIBITED THE IMPORT OF THE EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL NECESSARY TO BUILD UP A PALESTINIAN INDUSTRY AND HAS NIPPED IN THE BUD ANY PROSPECTIVE COMPETITION ON DOMESTIC OR FOREIGN MARKETS FROM PALESTINIAN PRODUCTS:
- (C) ISRAEL HAS IMPOSED THE NEW SHEKEL AS THE OFFICIAL CURRENCY IN PALESTINE, WITH ALL THE NEGATIVE CONSEQUENCES THAT INVOLVES:
- (D) IT HAS DIVERTED TAX REVENUES DERIVED FROM INDIRECT IMPORTS TO THE ISRAELI TREASURY INSTEAD OF USING THEM TO STRENGTHEN THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY. ACCORDING TO A 1997 REPORT OF UNCTAD, THE LOSSES SUSTAINED BY THE PALESTINIANS AS A RESULT OF THIS WERE ESTIMATED, IN 1992 ALONE, AT \$195 MILLION, AND. IN 1995, AT \$155 MILLION;
- (E) THE SEAPORT: DESPITE THE VITAL IMPORTANCE OF CONSTRUCTING A SEAPORT IN THE GAZA STRIP, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OSLO ACCORDS, ISRAEL CONTINUES TO PROCRASTINATE AND IMPEDE THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH A PROJECT;
- (F) WITH REGARD TO TOURISM, POLITICAL INSTABILITY AND THE LACK OF SECURITY HAVE LED TOURISTS TO REFRAIN FROM VISITING PALESTINE. YET PALESTINE IS ONE OF THE RICHEST REGIONS OF THE WORLD IN RELIGIOUS AND HISTORICAL SITES; IN 1966 (THAT IS TO SAY, IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION), THE NUMBER OF TOURISTS WHO HAD VISITED THE WEST BANK HAD RISEN TO 617,000. This contrasts with Barely 100,000 for the Period 1987-1989.

AS A RESULT, ANNUAL LOSSES TO THE PALESTINIAN PUBLIC TREASURY HAVE RISEN TO SOME \$70 MILLION (ACCORDING TO THE JORDANIAN YEARBOOK OF GENERAL STATISTICS FOR 1986), AND A LARGE PART OF THE PALESTINIAN WORKFORCE HAS THUS BEEN DEPRIVED OF EMPLOYMENT.

WITH REGARD TO THE INFRASTRUCTURE:

- (A) AS A RESULT OF THE OCCUPATION, THE POLITICAL INSTABILITY AND THE LACK OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES MADE AVAILABLE TO THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY AND MUNICIPALITIES, THE INFRASTRUCTURE IN THE WEST BANK AND THE GAZA STRIP HAS SERIOUSLY DETERIORATED: THE MAIN ROADS ARE IN DIRE NEED OF REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE; RURAL ROADS ARE FEW AND IN A POOR STATE; THE WATER SUPPLY SYSTEM IS DILAPIDATED AND INADEQUATE; AND THE SEWERAGE SYSTEM IS INEFFECTIVE, SINCE FEW HOUSES (BARELY 34 PER CENT) ARE CONNECTED TO IT, AND THE RATE OF WASTE IS VERY HIGH, WHICH CAUSES A SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF POLLUTION, PROMOTES THE SPREAD OF DISEASES AND IMPEDES MOVEMENT;
- (B) SIMILARLY, THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM IS IN NEED OF MAINTENANCE: ITS PRODUCTION CAPACITY MUST BE INCREASED, AND IT MUST BE DEVELOPED AND EXTENDED IN ORDER TO MEET THE NEEDS OF CITIZENS AND OF INVESTORS IN THE SECTORS OF INDUSTRY AND AGRICULTURE IN THIS REGION, WHERE INVESTMENT IS ENCOURAGED BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY. ACCORDING TO PALESTINIAN STATISTICS, THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM IN THE WEST BANK AND THE GAZA STRIP WILL REQUIRE INVESTMENT OF MORE THAN \$ 1 BILLION:

DESIGNATION	MILLIONS OF UNITED STATES DOLLARS
REPAIR OF THE DISTRIBUTION NETWORK	130
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK	150
EQUIPMENT: CONNECTION AND LINKS TO THE MAIN DISTRIBUTION NETWORK	150
INDEPENDENT GENERATORS	650
LINKS TO THE INTERNATIONAL NETWORK IN EGYPT AND JORDAN	150
TOTAL	1 230

- (C) EDUCATION IS ALSO FACING SERIOUS OBSTACLES: SCHOOLS AND UNIVERSITIES ARE CLOSED SEVERAL DAYS EACH YEAR BECAUSE OF POLITICAL UNREST. SCHOOL BUILDINGS ARE DILAPIDATED AND IN NEED OF REPAIR AND EXTENSION. NEW SCHOOL BUILDINGS MUST BE CONSTRUCTED IN ORDER TO MEET THE NEEDS OF CONTINUED DEMOGRAPHIC GROWTH. THE WORKING CONDITIONS OF TEACHERS ARE EXTREMELY DIFFICULT AND THE SALARIES THEY RECEIVE ARE BARELY SUFFICIENT TO MEET THEIR BASIC NEEDS;
- (D) THE REMARKS I HAVE MADE ABOUT EDUCATION APPLY EQUALLY TO THE HEALTH SECTOR, WHERE CONDITIONS ARE OFTEN EVEN MORE DISASTROUS.

AWARE OF THE PARTICULARLY SENSITIVE AND DELICATE CHARACTER OF THE CITY, THE CO-SPONSORS OF THE PEACE PROCESS HAVE POSTPONED NEGOTIATIONS ON THE ISSUE OF AL-QUDS UNTIL THE FINAL STAGE.

AT ISSUE IS THE SITE OF THE HOLIEST OF THE THREE HOLY SITES OF ISLAM AND AN IMPORTANT SACRED SITE FOR BOTH CHRISTIANS AND JEWS

DISREGARDING SUCH CONSIDERATIONS, ISRAEL HAS NOT REFRAINED FROM MODIFYING GEOGRAPHICAL AND DEMOGRAPHIC STRUCTURES AND, ANNOUNCING, ON 28 JUNE 1997, THE ANNEXATION OF THE EASTERN PART OF THE CITY, EXPELLING A LARGE NUMBER OF ITS INHABITANTS, DEMOLISHING THEIR HOUSES, AND EXPROPRIATING THEIR LAND BY MILITARY DECREE IN ORDER TO CONSTRUCT SETTLEMENTS TO HOUSE JEWISH IMMIGRANTS FROM ABROAD.

IT HAS ALSO PROCEEDED TO DEMOLISH SEVERAL OF THE CITY'S NEIGHBOURHOODS IN ORDER TO CONSTRUCT NEW JEWISH RESIDENTIAL AREAS IN THEIR PLACE

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY RECEIVES DAILY REPORTS OF SOME NEW ABUSE COMMITTED BY ISRAEL AGAINST THIS HOLY CITY; ROADS HAVE BEEN CONSTRUCTED IN ORDER TO ISOLATE AL-QUDS FROM OTHER PALESTINIAN CITIES; ARAB INSTITUTIONS (EDUCATIONAL, HEALTH AND CULTURAL) HAVE BEEN DESTROYED, NOT TO MENTION THE DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS DESIGNED TO IMPROVE THE STANDARD OF LIVING OF THE PALESTINIAN INHABITANTS OF THE CITY WHICH HAVE NEVER BEEN INITIATED BECAUSE OF THE OBSTACLES PLACED IN THEIR PATH.

THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ARE BECOMING MORE ACUTE AND DETERIORATING DAY BY DAY. AS A RESULT, BUSINESSES AND ECONOMIC ESTABLISHMENTS ARE DEGENERATING, AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE IN THE TOWNS AND TERRITORIES IS IN DIRE NEED OF CONSTRUCTION AND RECONSTRUCTION IN ORDER TO ATTRACT LOCAL AND FOREIGN INVESTMENT AND ENCOURAGE SUCH INVESTMENT TO FINANCE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS. THE STANDARDS OF LIVING OF THE PALESTINIAN COULD THEREBY BE IMPROVED, THE POVERTY IN WHICH THE PEOPLE ARE LIVING COULD BE ALLEVIATED, AND THE RATE OF UNEMPLOYMENT COULD BE CONTAINED. THAT IS THE ONLY WAY THAT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WILL FEEL ANY REAL BENEFIT FROM THE PEACE PROCESS WHICH IT HAS SUPPORTED SINCE THE PEACE AGREEMENTS WERE CONCLUDED IN 1993.

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY MUST THEREFORE EXERT POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC PRESSURE ON ISRAEL IN ORDER TO PERSUADE IT TO RESPECT THE COMMITMENTS IT HAS MADE IN THE CONTEXT OF THE CURRENT PEACE PROCESS, AS WELL AS INTERNATIONAL RULES AND RESOLUTIONS. ISRAEL MUST BE PERSUADED TO NEGOTIATE SERIOUSLY ON THE BASIS OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973) AND THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE, SO THAT A JUST, COMPREHENSIVE AND LASTING PEACE MAY BE ESTABLISHED IN THE REGION.

IT IS THE ECONOMIC RESPONSIBILITY OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO IMPROVE THE CURRENT CRITICAL CONDITION OF THE DOMESTIC PALESTINIAN ECONOMY. THIRTY YEARS OF OCCUPATION HAVE DESTROYED EVERYTHING AND LEFT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN A POSITION FROM WHICH IT CANNOT EXTRACT ITSELF BY ITS OWN MEANS ALONE. WITH ALL, DUE RESPECT TO THE SINCERE EFFORTS MADE BY SOME COUNTRIES AND INTERNATIONAL AND NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS, MANY PROMISES OF AID TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE NOT BEEN KEPT. INTERNATIONAL AID AND ASSISTANCE MUST BECOME A REALITY AND TAKE THE FORM NOT ONLY OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN CASH BUT ALSO OF INTERNATIONAL, PUBLIC AND PRIVATE INVESTMENT IN ALL AREAS OF DEVELOPMENT AND RECONSTRUCTION.

AGAINST THIS BACKGROUND, THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY MIGHT PERHAPS HAVE GREATER NEED OF A LARGE INTEGRATED DEVELOPMENT PROJECT ALONG THE LINES OF THE MARSHALL PLAN, WHICH PROVIDED FOR THE RECONSTRUCTION OF THE ECONOMY OF WESTERN EUROPE AFTER THE SECOND WORLD WAR, THAN OF SIMPLE SEPARATE AID PROGRAMMES UNRELATED TO EACH OTHER.

AWARE OF THE ROLE IT HAS TO PLAY IN IMPROVING THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ALLEVIATING THE EFFECTS OF THE POVERTY SUFFERED BY THAT PEOPLE, THE ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK, IN ITS CAPACITY AS AN INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTION AND LIKE OTHER INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS, HAS UNDERTAKEN TO ASSUME ITS RESPONSIBILITIES, AS FAR AS IT IS ABLE AND AS FAR AS ITS RESOURCES PERMIT, DESPITE THE OBSTACLES PLACED BY THE ISRAELI AUTHORITIES IN THE WAY OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF PROJECTS (THE REFUSAL OF, OR DELAY IN GRANTING, PERMITS; DELAYS IN DELIVERING CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS; AND THE CLOSURE OF BUILDING SITES OWING TO THE ABSENCE OF WORKERS PREVENTED FROM REACHING THE SITE AS A RESULT OF POLITICAL UNREST AND TRAVEL DIFFICULTIES).

DESPITE ALL THESE DIFFICULTIES, THE BANK HAS ALREADY CONTRIBUTED TO THE FINANCING OF MORE THAN 40 CONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN SUCH VITAL SECTORS AS EDUCATION, HEALTH, FOOD AND HOUSING, AND HAS APPROVED FOR THOSE PURPOSES SOME \$52 MILLION. MANY OTHER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL PROJECTS ARE BEING CONSIDERED IN ORDER TO BENEFIT THE COUNTRY, WHICH IS IN NEED OF EVERY EFFORT FROM DONOR COUNTRIES, INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND LOCAL, REGIONAL AND FOREIGN INVESTORS. THE LIST OF PROJECTS WHICH THE BANK HAS CARRIED OUT OR IS CONSIDERING IS CONTAINED IN THE STUDY THAT HAS BEEN DISTRIBUTED SEPARATELY TO THE PARTICIPANTS IN THIS CONFERENCE.

WITH THE EXPERIENCE IT HAS ACQUIRED IN THIS FIELD, THE BANK WISHES TO STATE THAT IT IS READY TO COOPERATE WITH ANY INTERNATIONAL OR REGIONAL INSTITUTION THAT WISHES TO PROMOTE DEVELOPMENT AND RECONSTRUCTION PROJECTS IN THIS COUNTRY, WHICH THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY IS ANXIOUS TO HELP PUT AN END TO ITS LONG ORDEAL, SO THAT ITS CHILDREN MAY FINALLY ENJOY FREEDOM, TRANQUILLITY AND A JUST AND COMPREHENSIVE PEACE.

SIMBARASHE S. MUMBENGEGWI PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF ZIMBABWE TO THE EUROPEAN UNION (ON BEHALF OF ROBERT G. MUGABE, PRESIDENT OF ZIMBABWE AND CHAIRMAN OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY)

ON BEHALF OF THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY (OAU), I WISH TO THANK THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES FOR THEIR COLLABORATION IN MAKING THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE A REALITY. I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO JOIN THE EXPRESSIONS OF APPRECIATION MADE BY THOSE WHO SPOKE BEFORE ME FOR THE EXCELLENT ARRANGEMENTS MADE BY THE KINGDOM OF BELGIUM AS HOST OF THE CONFERENCE. ALLOW ME AT THIS POINT TO COMMEND IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, FOR HIS DEDICATED SERVICE AND DYNAMIC STEWARDSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE.

AFRICA IN GENERAL, AND ZIMBABWE IN PARTICULAR, IS SERIOUSLY CONCERNED AT THE CURRENT STATUS OF THE PEACE PROCESS, PARTICULARLY THE NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS WHICH, HAVING STARTED OFF WELL FOLLOWING THE SIGNING OF THE OSLO ACCORDS, HAS SINCE ENCOUNTERED A NUMBER OF SERIOUS SETBACKS. QUITE CLEARLY, THE DISAPPOINTING LACK OF PROGRESS IN THESE TALKS STEMS FROM THE EXTREME AND HARD-LINE POSITION ADOPTED BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT OF BENJAMIN NETANYAHU.

UNILATERAL DECISIONS AND ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES, INCLUDING JERUSALEM, ARE A CLEAR MANIFESTATION OF THIS HARD-LINE APPROACH AND ITS LACK OF COMMITMENT TO THE FULL IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGREEMENT SIGNED WITH THE PALESTINIANS.

THIS HAS RESULTED IN THE DETERIORATION OF THE SECURITY SITUATION IN THE AREA AND PLACED THE PEACE PROCESS IN SERIOUS JEOPARDY.

THE SECURITY COUNCIL AND THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY HAVE BEEN OVERWHELMINGLY SUPPORTIVE OF THE SERIES OF BOLD STEPS TAKEN BY THE LEADERS OF ISRAEL AND THE PLO SINCE THE MADRID CONFERENCE OF 1991. THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES IN WASHINGTON, D.C., OPENED THE WAY FOR CONCRETE PROGRESS IN THE GAZA STRIP, JERICHO AND HEBRON. THESE HAVE BEEN LANDMARKS IN THE GRADUAL IMPROVEMENT IN RELATIONS AMONG THE PARTIES CONCERNED, WHICH BEGAN TO SHAPE WHAT HAD LARGELY COME TO BE ACCEPTED AS AN IRREVERSIBLE PEACE PROCESS.

OAU HAS BEEN, AND REMAINS, A STRONG ADVOCATE OF THIS PROCESS, WHICH IS THE ONLY VIABLE OPTION FOR PEACE AND STABILITY IN THE REGION. SIMILARLY, OAU HAS KEPT THE SITUATION IN THE MIDDLE EAST, AND PARTICULARLY THE SITUATION IN PALESTINE, AS TWO PERMANENT AGENDA ITEMS OF THE COUNCIL OF MINISTERS. OAU HAS ALSO BEEN SOLIDLY BEHIND THE PEACE PROCESS, AND BY THE SAME TOKEN, HAS CONSISTENTLY OPPOSED ANY ATTEMPT TO DISRUPT THE PEACE PROCESS.

THE CONVENING IN 1997 OF THE TENTH EMERGENCY SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY ON THE ILLEGAL ISRAELI ACTIVITIES IN OCCUPIED EAST JERUSALEM WAS INDICATIVE, HOWEVER, OF THE DISQUIET WITH WHICH MEMBER STATES HAVE BEEN FOLLOWING THE LATEST DEVELOPMENTS IN THE MIDDLE EAST. OAU DOES NOT RECOGNIZE ISRAEL'S ANNEXATION OF JERUSALEM

AS WAS CLEARLY ARTICULATED DURING THE OAU ASSEMBLY OF HEADS OF STATE AND GOVERNMENT AT HARARE, WE REGARD AS ILLEGAL ISRAEL'S BID TO CHANGE THE LEGAL STATUS, DEMOGRAPHIC COMPOSITION AND CHARACTER OF OCCUPIED EAST JERUSALEM THROUGH THE IMPLEMENTATION OF A POLICY AIMED AT THE ARTIFICIAL CREATION OF A JEWISH MAJORITY IN THE CITY.

THIS CONSTITUTES A FLAGRANT VIOLATION OF RESOLUTIONS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND THE SECURITY COUNCIL, IN PARTICULAR RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967), 252 (1968) AND 338 (1973), WHICH EMPHASIZE THE INADMISSIBILITY OF THE ACQUISMON OF TERRITORY BY FORCE. WE CONSIDER ALL MEASURES AND ACTIONS TAKEN BY ISRAEL TO CHANGE THE DEMOGRAPHIC COMPOSITION AND LEGAL STATUS OF JERUSALEM AS NULL AND VOID, AS THEY VIOLATE THE LETTER AND SPIRIT OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES AND THE SUBSEQUENT AGREEMENTS.

FOR US IN AFRICA, THE SITUATION IN PALESTINE AND THE MIDDLE EAST IS A MATTER OF GRAVE CONCERN, WHICH CONTINUES TO BE A PERMANENT ITEM ON THE AGENDA OF THE OAU COUNCIL OF MINISTERS AS WELL AS THAT OF THE ASSEMBLY OF HEADS OF STATE AND GOVERNMENT.

OAU HAS PASSED RESOLUTIONS WELCOMING THE PEACE PROCESS AND EXHORTING ALL PARTIES INVOLVED, PARTICULARLY THE PLO AND ISRAEL, TO PERSEVERE IN CONSOLIDATING THE PEACE PROCESS IN ORDER TO BRING TO FRUITION THE PEACE AND PROSPERITY THAT HAVE ELUDED THE REGION FOR SEVERAL DECADES.

OAU'S POSITION IS THAT THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY MUST SAVE THE MIDDLE EAST REGION, AT THIS CRITICAL JUNCTURE, FROM THE THROES OF CONFLICT AND WAR. THE PROVISIONS OF THE EXISTING AGREEMENTS AND ACCORDS CONCLUDED BETWEEN THE PLO AND ISRAEL MUST BE COMPLIED WITH IN A SINCERE MANNER.

THE ISRAELI LEADERSHIP SHOULD HONOUR ITS COMMITMENTS AND RESOLVE ALL PENDING ISSUES WITH THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY, WHICH INCLUDE THE IMMEDIATE REVERSAL OF THEIR ALARMING ACTIONS OF BUILDING NEW SETTLEMENTS IN EAST JERUSALEM AND OTHER OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN LANDS.

FINALLY, I WISH TO OBSERVE THAT THE HOPES OF THE LONG-SUFFERING PEOPLES OF THE MIDDLE EAST HAD BEEN RAISED BY THE VISION OF A FUTURE OF PEACE. THEIR LEADERS, WITH THE SUPPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY, HAD MADE SIGNIFICANT STRIDES IN THAT DIRECTION.

SOLUTIONS WILL NOT BE DURABLE, HOWEVER, IF INTRANSIGENCE PREVAILS OVER THE CAPACITY FOR COMPROMISE.

OAU IS CONVINCED THAT THE MOST PROMISING OPPORTUNITY FOR PEACE IN A GENERATION IS HERE AND MUST BE SEIZED IN EARNEST.

WE URGE THE PARTIES TO RESUME CONTACTS, IN GOOD FAITH, ON THE BASIS OF AGREEMENTS REACHED AND TO SEEK INSPIRATION IN THEIR OWN ACHIEVEMENTS SINCE MADRID IN THEIR SEARCH FOR LASTING PEACE.

NASSIR ALASSAF

AMBASSADOR OF SAUDI ARABIA TO BELGIUM (ON BEHALF OF HIS ROYAL HIGHNESS PRINCE SAUDI AL-FAYSAL, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SAUDI ARABIA)

IT GIVES ME GREAT PLEASURE, ON THIS OCCASION, TO EXTEND MY THANKS AND APPRECIATION TO THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE SECRETARIAT OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, AND THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE FOR THEIR EFFORTS IN ORGANIZING THIS CONFERENCE. I SHOULD ALSO LIKE TO THANK THE GOVERNMENT OF BELIGIUM FOR HOSTING THIS CONFERENCE, WHICH IS BEING HELD AT A TIME WHEN THE MIDDLE EAST IS GOING THROUGH A CRUCIAL PERIOD AS A RESULT OF ISRAELI INTRANSIGENCE, THE PROVOCATIVE MEASURES AND POLICIES BEING APPLIED BY THE PRIME MINISTER OF ISRAEL, HIS REFUSAL TO LIVE UP TO HIS COMMITMENTS TO THE PALESTINIANS, AND THE STALEMATE IN NEGOTIATIONS ON THE SYRIAN AND LEBANESE FRONTS.

THIS CONFERENCE REFLECTS THE CONCERN AND ALARM FELT BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY OVER THE VIOLATIONS OF THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE BY THE ISRAELI AUTHORITIES. THESE VIOLATIONS CONSTITUTE NOT ONLY A DELIBERATE ASSAULT ON A PEOPLE LIVING IN SECURITY ON ITS OWN TERRITORY AND THE CONFISCATION OF ITS LANDS AND PROPERTIES, BUT ALSO A DISREGARD FOR HUMANITARIAN PRINCIPLES AND BLATANT DEFIANCE OF INTERNATIONAL RESOLUTIONS.

DESPITE INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, INCLUDING ITS RIGHT TO SELFDETERMINATION AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN INDEPENDENT STATE ON ITS OWN TERRITORY, ISRAEL'S AGGRESSIVE BEHAVIOUR INCLUDING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE PHYSICAL ELIMINATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ATTEMPTS TO DISTORT THE HISTORY
OF PALESTINE, THE DESTRUCTION OF RELIGIOUS AND CULTURAL INSTITUTIONS AND THE ALTERATION OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC SITUATION IS AIMED AT THE TOTAL ELIMINATION OF THE PALESTINIAN IDENTITY, WITHOUT REGARD TO LEGITIMACY AND INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC
OPINION.

THE GOVERNMENT OF THE KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA, WHICH IS FOLLOWING WITH GREAT ATTENTION THE COURSE OF EVENTS IN PALESTINE AND THE STALEMATE IN THE PEACE PROCESS, IS CONCERNED OVER ISRAEL'S INTRANSIGENCE AND POLICIES THAT HAVE LED TO THE STALEMATE IN NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINIANS, AND ITS FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT THE AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS THAT HAD BEEN REACHED WITH THE PALESTINIAN SIDE IN THE FULL VIEW OF THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY. OF LATE THERE HAS BEEN IRREFUTABLE EVIDENCE OF THIS IN THE FORM OF ISRAEL'S OBSTINATE DISREGARD OF THE FOUNDATIONS OF PEACE AND ITS REFUSAL TO CARRY OUT ITS COMMITMENTS TOWARD THE PALESTINIANS. NOT ONLY IS ISRAEL'S POLICY OF ESTABLISHING SETTLEMENTS IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES CONTRARY TO THE GENEVA CONVENTIONS, IT IS ALSO NOT IN CONFORMITY WITH INTERNATIONAL RESOLUTIONS AND THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE MADRID CONFERENCE AND OTHER TREATIES THAT HAVE BEEN CONCLUDED. FURTHERMORE, THE TERRITORIES UNDER THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY ARE SUFFERING FROM VARIOUS FORMS OF HARDSHIP, INCLUDING FAMINE AND THE COLLECTIVE PUNISHMENTS OF CLOSURE AND BLOCKADE, WHILE THE WHOLE RANGE OF MEASURES AND PRACTICES OF THE GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL AIMED AT CHANGING THE IDENTITY OF JERUSALEM AND IMPOSING A NEW SITUATION BEARS WITNESS TO ISRAEL'S INTRANSIGENCE AND DELIBERATE SABOTAGING OF THE PEACE PROCESS, WHICH EXPOSES THE REGION TO EVER GREATER CHANGES AND DESTABILIZATION.

THE VIEWS OF THE KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA CONCERNING THE LEGITIMATE AND INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE STEM FROM ITS UNSHAKABLE CONVICTION OF THE LEGITIMACY OF THOSE RIGHTS AND ITS COMMITMENT TO THE OBJECTIVES AND PRINCIPLES OF INTERNATIONAL INSTRUMENTS, IN PARTICULAR, THE CHARTER OF THE UNITED NATIONS, THE CHARTER OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES AND THE CHARTER OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE.

Since the beginning of the Israeli occupation of Arab territories and the exile of the Palestinian people, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has been deeply concerned about the injustice which that people has endured, and it has devoted substantial efforts to putting an end to it, providing various types of material and moral support. Since the first glimmer of peace began to dawn in the region, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia has supported the Madrid Conference and backed all efforts aimed at bringing about Israel's withdrawal from the occupied territories and the transfer of greater powers to the Palestinian Authority.

THE QUESTION OF JERUSALEM, WHICH LIES AT THE HEART OF THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT, REMAINS THE FOCAL POINT FOR THE ARAB AND ISLAMIC WORLD AND THE CENTRAL ISSUE OF THE PALESTINIAN PROBLEM. CONSEQUENTLY, ISRAEL'S PRACTICES AND UNLAWFUL ACTS IN THE HOLY CITY CANNOT BUT HAVE A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON THE PEACE PROCESS AS A WHOLE. INASMUCH AS THE AIM OF THOSE PRACTICES IS TO JUDAIZE JERUSALEM AND ALTER ITS RELIGIOUS CHARACTERISTICS. THIS RUNS THE RISK OF REDUCING THE PEACE PROCESS TO NOTHING AND THUS DESTROYING ANY HOPE OF PEACE IN THE REGION.

I URGE THE SPONSORS OF THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS AND THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO UNDERTAKE POSITIVE ACTION IMMEDIATELY WITH A VIEW TO PUTTING AN END TO ISRAEL'S INTRANSIGENCE IN THE MOST SENSITIVE AREAS OF THE PEACE PROCESS, AND TO DEAL WITH THE QUESTION OF JERUSALEM. THAT IS THE MOST SERIOUS PROBLEM OF THE ENTIRE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT, AND IT MUST BE SOLVED DURING THE PERIOD ESTABLISHED IN THE CONTEXT OF THE PEACE PROCESS, IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONALLY BINDING RESOLUTIONS, IN PARTICULAR RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973), WHICH CALL FOR ISRAEL'S WITHDRAWAL FROM ALL THE TERRITORIES OCCUPIED IN 1967, AND RESOLUTION 252 (1968), WHICH CONCERNS THE HOLY CITY OF JERUSALEM.

THE KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA APPRECIATES THE EFFORTS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, ITS POSITION ON THE BUILDING OF ISRAELI SETTLEMENTS, AND ITS FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY FOR THE PURPOSE OF IMPROVING THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. LIKE ALL DONOR COUNTRIES, THE KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA PROVIDES FINANCIAL AID, AMOUNTING TO \$200 MILLION, OVER AND ABOVE ITS ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION TO THE BUDGET OF UNRWA WHICH IS ESTIMATED AT \$1.2 MILLION, IN ADDITION TO A NUMBER OF OTHER VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS. WE HOPE THAT THE EUROPEAN UNION WILL PLAY A LARGER ROLE IN THE PEACE PROCESS, ONE COMMENSURATE WITH THE VOLUME AND IMPORTANCE OF ITS ECONOMIC ROLE, AND THAT IT WILL INDUCE ISRAEL TO RECONSIDER ITS INTRANSIGENT ATTITUDE AND DISPLAY GREATER FLEXIBILITY, IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL RESOLUTIONS AND THE AGREEMENTS SIGNED BY BOTH SIDES.

IF JUSTICE IS TO BE CREDIBLE, AND IF THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ARE TO BE DEFENDED, THERE SHOULD BE NO DOUBLE STANDARD DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN ONE PEOPLE AND ANOTHER OR ONE STATE AND ANOTHER; ON THE CONTRARY, THE SAME STANDARD SHOULD BE USED IMPARTIALLY. IT IS THE TASK OF THIS CONFERENCE TO GIVE MATERIAL FORM TO THAT PRINCIPLE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPIRIT OF JUSTICE AND EQUALITY IN THE SERVICE OF PEACE, NOT ONLY IN THE MIDDLE EAST BUT THROUGHOUT THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY.

LASTLY, I SHOULD LIKE TO THANK THE UNITED NATIONS AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS FOR THEIR PAST AND CONTINUING SUPPORT FOR THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AND FOR THEIR GOOD WORK IN ORGANIZING THIS CONFERENCE. I SHOULD ALSO LIKE TO THANK THE GOVERNMENT OF BELGIUM FOR HOSTING THE CONFERENCE AND FOR ITS FRUITFUL EFFORTS IN SUPPORT OF THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

IV. GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS

PROMOTING THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE A KEY TO PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST

THE NEED TO IMPROVE THE LIVING CONDITIONS
OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO PROMOTE
ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS: THE CURRENT SITUATION AND PROSPECTS

STATEMENTS BY EMINENT PERSONS

MS. SHULAMIT ALONI MERETZ PARTY, FORMER MINISTER OF EDUCATION OF ISRAEL

I AM AN ISRAELI, I THINK I AM AN ISRAELI PATRIOT AND I WOULD LIKE TO GET SOME HELP FROM ALBERT CAMUS TO EXPLAIN TO YOU MY CREDO. YOU KNOW THAT DURING THE SECOND WORLD WAR, ALBERT CAMUS WROTE LETTERS TO HIS FRIENDS—TO HIS GERMAN FRIEND—AND I WANT TO QUOTE TWO SENTENCES. IN HIS FIRST LETTER, HE SAYS: "THERE ARE MEANS THAT CANNOT BE EXCUSED AND I SHOULD LIKE TO BE ABLE TO LOVE MY COUNTRY AND STILL LOVE JUSTICE. I DON'T WANT JUST GREATNESS FOR IT, PARTICULARLY A GREATNESS BORN OF BLOOD AND FALSEHOOD. I WANT TO KEEP MY COUNTRY ALIVE BY KEEPING JUSTICE ALIVE." IN A SECOND LETTER TO HIS FRIEND, HE SAYS: "IF AT TIMES WE SEEM TO PREFER JUSTICE TO OUR COUNTRY, THIS IS BECAUSE WE SIMPLY WANTED TO LOVE OUR COUNTRY IN JUSTICE AS WE WANTED TO LOVE HER IN TRUTH AND IN HOPE."

SO NOW WE UNDERSTAND THAT I DO NOT REPRESENT HERE THE CURRENT GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL. BUT I DO REPRESENT A HUGE NUMBER OF ISRAELIS WHO BELIEVE IN JUSTICE AND IN PEACE, WHO BELIEVE THAT WE ARE STRONG ENOUGH TO UNDERSTAND THE LIMIT OF POWER, WHO UNDERSTAND THAT WE WILL NEVER HAVE FREEDOM, PEACE AND TRANQUILITY AS LONG AS WE ARE OCCUPIERS. BECAUSE THE OCCUPIER AND THE OCCUPIED ARE CHAINED TOGETHER LIKE THE GUARD AND THE PRISONER AND ONLY WHEN WE BREAK THIS CHAIN AND GIVE TO THE PALESTINIANS THEIR RIGHTS AND THEIR FREEDOM WILL WE BE FREE AS WELL.

YOU KNOW, ALL OF US LEARNED IN SCHOOL THE OLD SAYING OF OUR SAGES: "DO NOT DO UNTO YOUR FELLOW HUMAN BEING THAT WHICH YOU WOULD NOT WISH TO HAVE DONE TO YOU." BUT WE DO IT. WE DO IT AND IT IS A SHAME. IN THE DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF THE ISRAEL STATE OF 15 MAY 1948, AMONG OTHER THINGS, IT IS WRITTEN: "ON 29 NOVEMBER 1947, THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE UNITED NATIONS ADOPTED A RESOLUTION CALLING FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A JEWISH STATE IN THE LAND OF ISRAEL." THIS RECOGNITION OF THE UNITED NATIONS OF THE RIGHT OF THE JEWISH PEOPLE TO ESTABLISH THEIR OWN STATE IS IRREVOCABLE. BUT THIS RESOLUTION INCLUDED THE RIGHT AND THE NEED TO BUILD IN OUR STATE AS WELL AS IN ISRAEL. AND BECAUSE WE ENDORSED THIS RESOLUTION WE HAD TO ENDORSE THE RIGHT OF THE PALESTINIANS TO THEIR OWN STATE. AND THIS IS NOT THE ONLY RESOLUTION. PEOPLE WERE TALKING YESTERDAY OF RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973) AND RECALLING THE CAMP DAVID ACCORDS SPEAKING OF THE LEGITIMATE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE MADRID SUMMIT AND THE OSLO ACCORDS AND THE MEETING ON 13 SEPTEMBER IN THE WHITE HOUSE, WITH THE SHAKING OF HANDS AND DECLARING MUTUAL RECOGNITION OF THE TWO PEOPLES. NEVERTHELESS, WE ARE STILL OCCUPYING THE LAND WHICH BELONGS TO THE PALESTINIANS. AND IT IS AN OCCUPIED LAND. IT IS NOT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE OF ISRAEL. IT IS UNDER MILITARY ADMINISTRATION AND WE WILL SURELY REMEMBER IT. SO WE CANNOT EVEN CLAIM OUR RIGHTS TO THIS LAND BECAUSE IT IS STILL UNDER MILITARY ADMINISTRATION.

NEVERTHELESS, UNDER THE SACRED WORLD OF SECURITY, WE SUPPLY THE GREEDINESS OF THE PALESTINIAN LAND, THE GREEDINESS OF OUR ZEALOTS WHO BELIEVE THAT EVERYTHING BELONGS TO THEM AND THE WORD "SECURITY" IS ANSWERING EVERYTHING AND THIS GOVERNMENT IS POURING A TREMENDOUS AMOUNT OF MONEY AND IS SUBSIDIZING MORE SETTLEMENTS AND SENDING MORE PEOPLE TO SETTLE IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES. AND THE MORE THAT GO THERE, THE MORE OUR LIVES ARE BECOMING COMPLICATED BECAUSE ISRAEL IS NOT UNDER A THREAT ANYMORE. WE ARE NO LONGER THE VICTIMS OF THE WORLD, ALTHOUGH THIS GOVERNMENT IS VERY HAPPY TO MANIPULATE OUR FEARS AND OUR TRAUMAS IN ORDER TO USE MORE AND MORE POWER AGAINST WHOM? AGAINST THOSE WHO DON'T HAVE POWER. WHEN I SAY AGAINST THOSE WHO DON'T HAVE POWER, YOU HAVE TO REMEMBER THAT WHAT THEY ARE DOING IS AS IF WE ARE THE ULTIMATE VICTIM IN THE WORLD.

NOW PEOPLE ARE ASKING HOW COME THAT THE JEWISH PEOPLE, WHO HAVE SUFFERED SO MUCH, ARE NOT SENSITIVE TO THE SUFFERINGS OF OTHERS. WHOEVER HAS STUDIED PSYCHOLOGY FOR EVEN ONE YEAR IN A UNIVERSITY KNOWS THAT PEOPLE WHO THINK THAT THEY ARE VICTIMS, CAN VICTIMIZE OTHERS VERY EASILY. THEY ARE NOT SENSITIVE TO OTHERS. BUT WE ARE NOT VICTIMS ANYMORE. WE ARE STRONG AND THIS MANIPULATION IS A SHAME BECAUSE IT IS A DEVELOPED COUNTRY, A STRONG COUNTRY AND WITHOUT UNDERSTANDING THE LIMIT OF POWER, WE WILL DESTROY WHAT WE HAVE ACHIEVED AND NOT BUILD ON WHAT WE HAVE ACHIEVED.

THEN COMES THE QUESTION OF ANOTHER SACRED PLACE—JERUSALEM. YES, JERUSALEM IS A HOLY TOWN. YES, THE JEWISH PEOPLE WERE DREAMING OF JERUSALEM. YES, JERUSALEM IS THE CAPITAL OF ISRAEL. BUT IN EAST JERUSALEM, THERE LIVE ALMOST 200,000 PALESTINIANS. NOW 200,000 IS A HUGE NUMBER—IT IS A TOWN. THEY HAVE NO CITIZENSHIP, THEY HAVE NO CIVIL RIGHTS, THEY ARE CUT OFF FROM THEIR HINTERLAND BY SETTLEMENTS SURROUNDING THEM. TO THE PEOPLE FROM THE WEST BANK, JERUSALEM IS AS SACRED TO THEM AS TO US. JERUSALEM IS THEIR CULTURAL, ECONOMIC, RELIGIOUS CENTRE. THEY ARE CUT OFF FROM THE PALESTINIANS WHO LIVE IN JERUSALEM WITH NO PRIVILEGES, NO CITIZENSHIP. AND WE ARE TURNING OUR EYES TO EVERYTHING BUT THIS IS OUR HOLY TOWN.

NOW THERE IS THE QUESTION OF JERUSALEM, ALTHOUGH IT WAS POSTPONED TO THE END. THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT DID NOT POSTPONE THIS BECAUSE THEY BUILT AGAIN AND AGAIN MORE PLACES ROUND THE TOWN TO CUT IT OFF FROM THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND LAST YEAR, THEY STARTED A KIND OF SECRET DEPORTATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. YOU SHOULD BE AWARE OF THOSE FACTS AND WE HAVE TO CHANGE IT. THERE IS A HUGE NUMBER OF ISRAELIS WHO ARE AWARE OF IT AND WE KNOW THAT PEOPLE WHO LIVE ON THIS SOIL, WILL DIE ON THIS SOIL.

BUT IT IS VERY EASY TO MANIPULATE OUR PEOPLE, BECAUSE OF THE PAST AND BECAUSE OF A DOCUMENT WRITTEN IN 1964 BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WHICH IS KNOWN AS THE "PALESTINIAN COVENANT". THIS DOCUMENT WAS WRITTEN AS A CALL TO WAR. FROM THEIR POINT OF VIEW, IT IS JUSTIFIED. FROM THE ISRAELI POINT OF VIEW, WE SAY, YOU SEE, THEY WANT TO THROW US TO THE SEA. HOW CAN THEY? WE ARE NOT THERE AND WE ARE STRONG. IT IS VERY EASY TO MANIPULATE IT AND IF YOU FOLLOW WHAT IS GOING ON IN THE STATEMENTS OF OUR PRIME MINISTER NETANYAHU, HE IS WORKING ON THIS DOCUMENT—THIS PALESTINIAN COVENANT—BRINGING IT UP AGAIN AND AGAIN IN SPITE OF THE FACT THAT FOR OUR PART WE HAVE SAID MANY TIMES THAT IT IS NULL, NEVERTHELESS, THEY ARE BRINGING IT UP AGAIN AND AGAIN AND IT IS VERY EASY TO BRING PEOPLE AGAIN INTO A KIND OF A TRAUMA OF FEAR BY MANIPULATING THOSE FEARS.

NOW I HAVE A SUGGESTION. I AM SORRY THAT MY FRIEND NABIL SHAATH IS NOT HERE, BUT WE WILL MEET AND I WILL DISCUSS IT WITH HIM. IN 1988, IN ALGIERS, THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE DECLARED THEIR SOVEREIGNTY AS A STATE. THEY DO NOT HAVE IT YET BUT THIS WAS A BEAUTIFUL DECLARATION AND ONE OF THE GREATEST ARAB POETS, IF NOT THE GREATER ONE, MAHMOUD DARWISH, WROTE A DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE—A BEAUTIFUL DOCUMENT OF PEACE, DIGNITY, HUMAN RIGHTS, DEMOCRACY AND DEVELOPMENT AND I CAN ONLY SUGGEST TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE THAT THEY ENDORSE AGAIN THIS BEAUTIFUL DOCUMENT WHICH IS A DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE AND PUBLISH IT IN ORDER TO BRING IT TO THE ATTENTION OF THEIR PEOPLE AND OUR PEOPLE BECAUSE IT SHOWS COMPLETELY DIFFERENT INTENTIONS, BECAUSE IT CAN OPEN HEARTS WHICH ARE STILL CLOSED WITH FEAR. THIS KIND, BECAUSE WE PLAY WITH WORDS—AND WHAT ARE WE DOING HERE IF NOT PLAYING WITH WORDS—THIS DOCUMENT CAN LIFT UP A NEW SPIRIT.

IF I WILL SUM UP, ALTHOUGH IN THE BEGINNING I JUST WANTED TO SAY THAT I AM SECONDING MR. NABIL SHAATH, WHO IS TALKING SO MUCH, WE ARE SAYING THE SAME THINGS IN DIFFERENT PLACES BUT I WANT TO EMPHASIZE TO YOU THAT THIS GOVERNMENT IS MAKING MISTAKES. I WANT YOU TO REMEMBER THAT THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES ARE NOT UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF ISRAEL. THAT IS WHY ALL THE SETTLEMENTS THERE ARE BREAKING INTERNATIONAL LAW AND THE DECISIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS. WE HAVE NO RIGHT TO SETTLE THERE. IN THE BEGINNING THE SETTLEMENTS WERE ALSO UNDER THE SECRET WORD OF "SECURITY".

I WANT YOU TO DO SOMETHING MORE. IT IS NOT ENOUGH ONLY TO BLAME THE ISRAELIS. IT WAS VERY EASY FOR THIS GOVERNMENT AND FOR OTHERS TO MANIPULATE OUR FEARS BECAUSE OF THE HAMAS TERRORIST ACTS. SO WHILE SPEAKING OF THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIANS, WE HAVE TO MENTION AGAIN AND AGAIN THAT THIS TERROR IS NOT GOING TO HELP TO BRING FREEDOM TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THAT THOSE PEOPLE ARE WORKING AGAINST THE WELL-BEING OF THE PEOPLE.

THE SECOND THING IS YOU WILL HAVE TO GO BACK TO YOUR RESPECTIVE COUNTRIES AND TO MAKE EVERY ATTEMPT TO ATTRACT INVESTMENT MONEY TO THE GAZA STRIP AND THE WEST BANK FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THEY ARE POOR, THEY DO NOT HAVE ANY ENTERPRISES OF THEIR OWN AND THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY SHOULD DO WHATEVER IS POSSIBLE TO HELP THEM TO BUILD THEIR ECONOMY. I AM VERY PROUD OF MY SENIOR FRIEND SHIMON PERES, WHO STARTED IN THIS RESPECT AND HE IS GOING FROM ONE PLACE TO THE OTHER, PERSUADING SOME INTERNATIONAL COMPANIES TO INVEST IN THE GAZA STRIP AND IN THE WEST BANK. I HOPE THAT YOU PEOPLE CAN HELP AS WELL.

MY LAST COMMENT: ONLY GOD COULD DO THINGS BY WORDS. WE ARE TALKING BUT IF THERE IS NO PLAN OF ACTION, VERY LITTLE WILL COME OUT OF IT. SO LET US THINK HOW WE CAN PROMOTE PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND MAKE US ISRAELIS UNDERSTAND THAT WE WILL GAIN OUR FREEDOM AND PEACE AND PROSPERITY ONLY BY RESPECTING THE SOVEREIGN RIGHTS OF OUR NEIGHBOURS, WORKING TOGETHER WITH THEM. IT CAN BE DONE BUT IT CAN BE DESTROYED AS WELL. LET US WISH FOR THE BEST.

NABIL SHAATH MINISTER OF PLANNING AND INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION, PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

IT IS A GREAT HONOUR TO ADDRESS YOU TODAY AND TO ATTEND THIS VERY IMPORTANT CONFERENCE, A CONFERENCE THAT HAS GONE ON FOR SOME TIME AND HAS PRODUCED EMINENT RESULTS. I AM ONE OF THOSE WHO HAS BEEN HONOURED BY BEING INVITED TO CONFERENCES LIKE THIS ONE IN THE LAST SEVEN, EIGHT OR NINE YEARS—I DON'T KNOW HOW LONG IT HAS LASTED—BUT I HAVE ENJOYED EVERY ONE OF THE SESSIONS IN EUROPE, ASIA AND AFRICA, A VARIETY OF PLACES. IT IS VERY IMPORTANT THAT WE CONTINUE. THESE CONFERENCES EMBODY TWO VERY IMPORTANT ENTITIES—THE UNITED NATIONS AND ITS MEMBER STATES, WORKING THROUGH THE UNITED NATIONS AND ITS INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY. THE ROLE OF THE UNITED NATIONS HAS BEEN QUESTIONED IN A VARIETY OF PLACES BUT IT IS ALWAYS, WE ALWAYS REMEMBER, THAT IN THE WORST OF CRISES, IT IS THE UNITED NATIONS AND ITS BODIES AND ITS LEGITIMACY THAT SAVES THE DAY AND I THINK, IN THE FINAL ANALYSIS, WHAT WE HAVE SEEN IN THE IRAQI CRISIS AND THE ROLE PLAYED BY THE SECURITY COUNCIL AND BY SECRETARY-GENERAL KOFI ANNAN, OF COURSE WITH THE HELP, GREAT HELP OF FRANCE, ENGLAND, THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION AND CHINA, FROM A VARIETY OF PLACES, ENABLED US TO OVERCOME A HORRIBLE CRISIS AND A DEVASTATING WAR, TOTALLY NEEDLESS. AS DIPLOMACY SHOWED, IT CAN, THROUGH THE LEGITIMACY OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND THROUGH THE EMPHASIS ON SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS, THE FULL IMPLEMENTATION OF THESE RESOLUTIONS, AND ON THE INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY EMBODIED THEREIN, AND THROUGH DIPLOMATIC EFFORT AND PATIENT PEACE PROCESSES, ONE CAN REACH RESULTS THAT CAN AVOID DEVASTATING WAR.

IT IS IN THIS SPIRIT THAT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE ENTRUSTED THEIR CASE FOR A VERY LONG TIME TO THE PROTECTIVE HAND OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND ITS MEMBER STATES. IF WE HAVE GONE TO A PEACE PROCESS THAT IS BASED ON NEGOTIATION WITH THE ISRAELIS—AND THAT WAS A VERY IMPORTANT TURNAROUND, IN WHICH THE TWO PARTIES REALLY ABANDONED CONFRONTATION FOR RECONCILIATION—WE ALWAYS REMAINED WITHIN THE CONTEXT OF THE BOUNDARY OF THE SOLUTION THAT WAS MADE BY INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY AND THE UNITED NATIONS. WITHOUT THESE BOUNDARIES AND WITHOUT THE EFFORT TO MAKE THE RULES OF THE GAME BASED ON THESE BOUNDARIES, IT WOULD BE VERY DIFFICULT TO NEGOTIATE AND TO CONTINUE NEGOTIATION, PARTICULARLY WHEN THE PRINCES OF PEACE, WHEN THOSE WHO ADOPTED THE PEACE OF THE BRAVE ON THE ISRAELI SIDE, ARE NOT THERE. YOU NEED TO CONTINUE TO EMPHASIZE THAT THERE ARE RULES OF THE GAME THAT MUST BE RESPECTED AND THERE IS THE UNITED NATIONS BEHIND THEM WHENEVER YOU ARE IN DOUBT.

IMPLEMENTATION OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS AND OF INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY IN OUR CASE IS EXTREMELY IMPORTANT. SURELY WE ACCEPTED TO GO AWAY FROM ABSOLUTE JUSTICE TO RELATIVE JUSTICE. SURELY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AFTER YEARS OF OCCUPATION, DEPRIVATION AND EXILE, HAVE REALLY ACCEPTED TO SHARE PALESTINE, ACCEPTED THAT THEIR RIGHTS ON PALESTINE ARE SOMEHOW NOT NECESSARILY OPPOSITE AND NEGATIVE AND IN OPPOSITION TO THE RIGHTS OF ISRAELIS IN PALESTINE, THAT THE TWO PEOPLES CAN SHARE PALESTINE WITHIN NORMS AND WITHIN CERTAIN RULES THAT ALLOW THEM TO SET UP THEIR INDEPENDENT STATE AND EXERCISE THEIR RIGHT OF SELF-DETERMINATION ON PART OF PALESTINE. WE ACCEPTED THAT THAT PART BE THE 22 PER CENT OCCUPIED IN 1967 FOR WHICH INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY CLEARLY DEFINES AS A LAND THAT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE HAVE A RIGHT TO REGAIN AND THAT ITS OCCUPATION IS INADMISSIBLE AND THE SELF-DETERMINATION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE CAN BE EXERCISED ON IT. THAT IS THE BASIS—ACCEPTING THIS RELATIVE JUSTICE AND NEGOTIATING A DEAL IN WHICH THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE ISRAELIS CAN LIVE TOGETHER IN TWO SEPARATE INDEPENDENT STATES, SIDE BY SIDE, COOPERATING, COORDINATING,

IN HARMONY, AND ACCEPT BEING PART OF THIS BROADER MIDDLE EAST AND ACCEPT REGIONAL COOPERATION THAT WILL. SECURE FOR THEIR PEOPLE PROSPERITY, SECURITY, PEACE AND RIGHTS, INCLUDING THE RIGHTS OF SOVEREIGNTY AND FULL INDEPENDENCE FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THAT WAS THE ESSENCE OF THE PEACE PROCESS.

SHULAMIT ALONI WAS AT THE FIRST SESSION IN PARIS IN WHICH PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELI OFFICIALS ATTENDED A PEACE CONFERENCE. I REMEMBER SHE WOULDN'T TALK TO ME THEN. ISRAELI LAW PREVENTED HER FROM TALKING TO A PLO OFFICIAL AT THAT TIME IN 1988. I REMEMBER TELLING THE AUDIENCE THEN THAT FOR A VERY LONG TIME WE, THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, SOMEHOW THOUGHT OF OURSELVES AS THE TRUE MOTHER IN THE SOLOMON STORY IN WHICH THE CHILD WAS TO BE IDENTIFIED AND THE MOTHER HAD TO BE IDENTIFIED. AND I SAID THAT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE ACCEPTED NOT TO HAVE THE CHILD AT ALL RATHER THAN DIVIDE IT. BUT THEN THERE CAME A TIME WHEN WE FELT THAT LAND WAS NOT EXACTLY LIKE CHILDREN AND SOMETIMES YOU HAD TO DIVIDE THE LAND TO SAVE THE CHILDREN. IT IS ON THIS PREMISE THAT OUR MOVE FROM CONFRONTATION TO RECONCILIATION TOOK PLACE. IT IS THE LEADERS OF THE TWO PARTIES, YASSER ARAFAT ON ONE SIDE, AND YITZHAK RABIN ON THE OTHER, AND THE WHOLE CAMP OF PEACE IN ISRAEL BEHIND YITZHAK RABIN AND THE WHOLE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE BEHIND YASSER ARAFAT THAT MADE IT POSSIBLE, WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS, TO NEGOTIATE A PEACE THAT WE HOPED WOULD BE DURABLE AND JUST.

THIS IS NOT MOVING ANYMORE. I AM NOT BLAMING EVERYTHING ON THE PRESENT GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL; WE HAD PROBLEMS WITH THE PREVIOUS GOVERNMENTS, PROBLEMS ABOUT INTERPRETATION OF SECURITY, SOVEREIGNTY, THE TRANSFER OF AUTHORITY. BUT WE NEVER COMPLAINED TO THE UNITED NATIONS THROUGHOUT THE LIFE OF YITZHAK RABIN AND THE MAN WHO FOLLOWED HIM, SHIMON PERES, BECAUSE THE PEACE PROCESS WAS GOING ON. THERE WAS PROGRESS, DIFFICULTIES, BUT THERE WERE PROGRESS. WE ACCEPTED THE NEGOTIATING ARENA AS A SUBSTITUTE FOR EVERY OTHER ARENA AND IN GOOD FAITH WE MADE PROGRESS IN THE FIRST TWO-AND-HALF-YEARS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PEACE PROCESS.

NOW, FOR A YEAR AND A HALF, WE HAVE HAD A NEW GOVERNMENT IN ISRAEL THAT BELIEVES IT CAN REWRITE THIS PEACE PROCESS, CAN CHANGE THE RULES OF THE GAME, CAN ABANDON INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY, AND CAN FORCE THE PALESTINIANS THROUGH INTRANSIGENCE TO CHANGE THEIR EXPECTATIONS, AS MR. NETANYAHU SAYS, "ADJUST THEIR EXPECTATIONS", I.E., SWALLOW SURRENDER AND GIVE UP THE RIGHTS FOR WHICH THEY HAVE STRUGGLED FOR A VERY LONG TIME. IT CANNOT WORK. WE ACCEPTED AN INTERIM SETTLEMENT IN WHICH WE REGAIN THE WEST BANK AND GAZA, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF SETYLEMENTS, JERUSALEM AND MILITARY LOCATIONS, SO THAT WE CAN NEGOTIATE THESE THREE ITEMS IN THE PERMANENT PEACE PROCESS. THEREFORE WE NEVER ACCEPTED TO NEGOTIATE IN THE PERMANENT SETTLEMENT THE PARTITION OF THE WEST BANK. IT WAS THE PARTITION OF PALESTINIE, WITH 22 PER CENT IN THE WEST BANK, INCLUDING JERUSALEM AND GAZA, AND 78 PER CENT FOR PALESTINIAN LAND OCCUPIED IN 1948 THAT BECAME ISRAEL. THEREFORE, IN THE OSLO PROCESS, THERE IS NO SUCH THING AS NEGOTIATING THE STATUS OF THE WEST BANK. THERE IS NO SUCH THING AS PARTITIONING GAZA AND THE WEST BANK. THERE IS SIMPLY DISCUSSION OF THE STATUS OF JERUSALEM AND THE STATUS OF THE STATUS

IF YOU WERE GOING TO ACCEPT AN INTERIM SETTLEMENT, YOU HAVE TO HAVE A FIXED TARGET, NOT AN ILLUSIVE, MOVING TARGET. YOU CANNOT SAY I WILL DELAY DISCUSSION OF JERUSALEM FOR THREE YEARS AND IN THE MEANWHILE HAVE THE OCCUPIER OF JERUSALEM EXPAND JERUSALEM AND EXPROPRIATE THE IDENTITY CARDS OF JERUSALEMITES AND THROW THEM OUT OF THEIR CITY. YOU CANNOT SAY WE ARE DELAYING DISCUSSION OF THE SETTLEMENTS AND SEE THE SETTLEMENTS GROW IN THE MEANWHILE. THEREFORE BY THE TIME YOU SIT DOWN TO NEGOTIATE THEM, THEY HAVE SWALLOWED HALF OF PALESTINE. THE MAPS THAT HAD BEEN TENDERED BY MR. SHARON AND MR. MORDECHAI AND HAVE BEEN SENT ON A ROADSHOW, ARE MAPS THAT GIVE THEM, ACCORDING TO THEIR VIEW, 65 PER CENT MAXIMUM—SHARON, 52 PER CENT MINIMUM—MORDECHAI, OF THE WEST BANK, LEAVING "BANTUSTANETS". YOU KNOW THE BANTUSTANS OF SOUTH AFRICA WERE LARGE, BUT THESE ARE VERY SMALL BANTUSTANS; THEY ARE ALMOST LIKE SMALL MEDIEVAL CITY-STATES AND VILLAGE-STATES IN WHICH THERE IS ABSOLUTELY NO CONNECTIVITY, KILLING THE PALESTINIAN DREAM, DESTROYING A CHANCE OF A VIABLE PALESTINIAN STATE, THEREFORE INCITING PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS AGAINST THAT HISTORIC RECONCILIATION THAT THEY TOOK ON THE BASIS OF INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY.

THIS IS THE STATUS OF THE PEACE PROCESS AT THIS TIME. PLEASE DO NOT GET LOST IN RHETORIC BECAUSE MR. NETANYAHU'S RHETORIC AT THIS TIME IS THAT, INSTEAD OF EXPLAINING WHAT IS NEEDED TO MAKE THE PEACE PROCESS GO ON, HE JUST EXPLAINS THAT HE CAN'T GO ON WITH THE PEACE PROCESS BECAUSE HE BLAMES IT ALL ON THE PALESTINIANS OR SOME OTHER PARTIES. IT IS SECURITY ONE TIME, THE PALESTINIAN CHARTER ANOTHER, HIS BUDGET A THIRD TIME, FRAGILITY OF HIS COALITION ANOTHER TIME, THE IRAQI CRISIS A FOURTH TIME. HE IS ALWAYS EXPLAINING WHY HISTORY MUST BE DELAYED. HE IS ALWAYS EXPLAINING WHY INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY CANNOT PREVAIL. THE PROBLEM AT THE PRESENT HAVE TO DO BASICALLY WITH THE NECESSITY FOR REDEPLOYMENT TO GIVE THE PALESTINIANS THE WEST BANK AND GAZA, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF JERUSALEM, SETTLEMENTS, AND FINAL BORDERS. THAT HE DOES NOT WANT TO DO. IN THE MEANWHILE, HE IS NOT WILLING TO ACCEPT ANY LIMITATIONS ON EXPANSION OF SETTLEMENTS, DESTRUCTION OF PALESTINIAN HOMES AND TAKING AWAY EXPROPRIATED PALESTINIAN LAND. AT THE SAME TIME, HE IS KEEPING THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES UNDER SIEGE. ONE WOULD HAVE WAITED. WE HAVE. THIS PEOPLE ARE STOIC AND PATIENT. THEY COULD HAVE WAITED FOR YEARS IF SETTLEMENTS WOULD STOP, IF THEY WERE NOT UNDER SIEGE, IF THERE WAS A GOODWILL TO IMPLEMENT INTERNATIONAL LEGALITY ON THE TABLE.

THE PRESENT SITUATION IS IMPOSSIBLE TO TAKE. IT IS VERY SERIOUS. THE PALESTINIANS HAVE NOT YET OPTED FOR A RETURN TO CONFRONTATION AND I HOPE THAT WE WILL NOT NEED TO. WE ALWAYS THOUGHT OF THIS PEACE PROCESS AS IRREVERSIBLE. WE ALWAYS THOUGHT OF IT AS A HISTORICAL STEP THAT CANNOT CHANGE. BUT AT THE SAME TIME THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE CANNOT WAIT WHEN THEY SEE THEIR LAND BEING ENCROACHED UPON, WHEN THEY SEE THEIR TOWNS UNDER SIEGE, WHEN THEY SEE THE DREAM DESTROYED. IT IS HERE WHERE WE NEED YOUR HELP, BOTH AS UNITED NATIONS, AS MEMBER STATES, AND AS NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS. WE NEED TO PUT PRESSURE ON NETANYAHU WHILE MAINTAINING THE PEOPLE-TO-PEOPLE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN

ISRAELIS AND PALESTINIANS BECAUSE THAT IS SOMETHING WE DON'T EVER WANT TO SEE REVERSED. THE RELATIONS OF PALESTINIANS AND ISRAELIS HAVE BEEN THE MAJOR ACHIEVEMENT OF THIS PEACE PROCESS SO FAR. WE TALK TO EACH OTHER. WE'VE KNOWN EACH OTHER. WE'VE COME TO ACCEPT EACH OTHER AS NEIGHBOURS AND PARTNERS BUT WE NEED AT THE SAME TIME TO PUT PRESSURE. ON A GOVERNMENT THAT WON'T GO THROUGH THE PROCESS, THAT WON'T MAKE THAT DREAM POSSIBLE. WE NEED YOUR PRESSURE. WE NEED SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS AND SETTLEMENTS. WE NEED AN EXPERT MEETING OF THE HIGH CONTRACTING PARTIES TO FIND OUT WAYS AND MEANS OF ENFORCING THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION TO STOP SETTLEMENT ACTIVITIES. WE NEED TO EXPAND THE ABILITY OF THE PALESTINIAN DELEGATION IN THE UNITED NATIONS TO FUNCTION. WE NEED TO END THE SIEGE. WE NEED TO ALLOW THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE A CHANCE TO CONTINUE THE HOPE BECAUSE KILLING THE HOPE MEANS KILLING THE PEACE AND MEANS GOING BACK TO CONFRONTATION. THAT IS OUR PLEA. TO THE NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS REPRESENTED HERE, AND TO THE MEMBER STATES AND INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS, YOUR HELP WILL DEFINE WHETHER IT IS POSSIBLE TO KEEP THAT PEACE PROCESS.

HARRY G. BARNES, JR. DIRECTOR, CONFLICT RESOLUTION AND HUMAN RIGHTS PROGRAMS, THE CARTER CENTER

I APPRECIATE THE INVITATION TO REPRESENT PRESIDENT JAMES E. CARTER AND THE CARTER CENTER AT THIS CONFERENCE DEVOTED TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR RIGHTS AND ASPIRATIONS. SINCE HE LEFT THE WHITE HOUSE, PRESIDENT CARTER HAS, OF COURSE, BEEN PARTICULARLY WELL-KNOWN FOR HIS WORK IN HELPING TO RESOLVE INTERNATIONAL CRISES. WHAT ARE LESS WELL KNOWN ARE THE CENTER'S EFFORTS TO ERADICATE OR CONTROL DISEASES AND TO BOOST AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION BY SMALL FARMERS. IN WHATEVER ACTIVITY WE ARE INVOLVED, WE TRY TO FOLLOW CERTAIN BASIC RULES: WE DO NOT DUPLICATE THE WORK OF OTHERS, BUT RATHER SEEK TO COLLABORATE WHEREVER WE CAN; WE DO NOT TAKE SIDES IN A DISPUTE BUT PURSUE OUTCOMES THAT HELP TO RECONCILE THE LEGITIMATE INTERESTS OF THOSE INVOLVED; AND WE ARE PREPARED TO TAKE RISKS, INCLUDING THE RISK OF FAILURE. WHAT FOLLOWS, WITHIN THIS GENERAL CONTEXT, ARE SOME OF MY IMPRESSIONS, NOT A STATEMENT OF CARTER CENTER POSITIONS.

WITH RESPECT TO THE THEME OF THIS CONFERENCE, PRESIDENT CARTER'S DEDICATION TO A MEANINGFUL PEACE PROCESS GOES BACK A WHOLE GENERATION AND I WILL RETURN TO THAT ASPECT. MY OWN DIRECT ACQUAINTANCE WITH THE PROBLEMS OF THE REGION IS MUCH MORE RECENT. FOR THE LAST SEVERAL YEARS I HAVE BEEN VISITING THE AREA IN MY CAPACITY AS THE BOARD MEMBER OF THE NATIONAL ENDOWMENT FOR DEMOCRACY RESPONSIBLE FOR OVERSIGHT OF THE ENDOWMENT SUPPORTED PROGRAMMES IN THE MIDDLE EAST, INCLUDING IN THE PALESTINIAN LANDS I ALSO HAD THE OPPORTUNITY IN LATE I 995 AND EARLY I 996, THIS TIME IN MY CARTER CENTER ROLE, TO ORGANIZE AND CARRY OUT AN ELECTION-OBSERVING MISSION, TOGETHER WITH THE NATIONAL DEMOCRATIC INSTITUTE, FOR THE PALESTINIAN ELECTIONS, A MISSION THAT PRESIDENT CARTER CO-CHAIRED.

THOSE OF YOU WHO WERE THERE AT THE TIME WILL RECALL THE EXCITEMENT AND THE PRIDE WITH WHICH THE ELECTIONS WERE CONDUCTED BY THE PALESTINIANS. DESPITE SOME PROBLEMS, THE OVERWHELMING IMPRESSION WAS ONE OF PALESTINIANS SEIZING THE OPPORTUNITY TO TAKE ON THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR MANAGING THEIR OWN AFFAIRS AND CONFIDENCE THAT THEY COULD CARRY OUT THOSE TASKS SUCCESSFULLY.

SADLY, WITHIN A FEW WEEKS, VIOLENCE AGAIN ERUPTED AND DISRUPTED THE PROCESS SO HOPEFULLY SET IN MOTION BY THE OSLO ACCORDS. IT OF COURSE WAS NOT THE FIRST INSTANCE OF VIOLENCE, JUST MONTHS BEFORE THE ELECTIONS, PRIME MINISTER RABIN HAD BEEN ASSASSINATED. NOR CAN ANYONE PREDICT WHEN VIOLENCE WILL VANISH FROM THE SCENE. AT THE SAME TIME, I WAS STRUCK, DURING MY LAST BRIEF VISIT A FEW WEEKS AGO, WITH THE DEGREE OF APATHY I FOUND WITH REGARD TO THE PEACE PROCESS. IT WAS NOT ONLY THAT THE HIGH HOPES OF THE JANUARY I 996 ELECTIONS HAD NOT BEEN REALIZED, BUT THAT NO HEADWAY HAD BEEN MADE FOR SOME TIME IN CARRYING OUT THE OSLO ACCORDS. AND MOST DEPRESSING OF ALL, I ENCOUNTERED A FEELING THAT PROGRESS WAS UNLIKELY AND THAT THERE WAS NOTING MUCH ANYONE COULD OR WOULD DO ABOUT IT.

BEFORE EXAMINING THE IMPLICATIONS OF THAT PESSIMISTIC EVALUATION, I THINK IT MIGHT BE USEFUL TO NOTE THAT SEPTEMBER 1998 MARKS THE TWENTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE CAMP DAVID ACCORD. PRESIDENT CARTER RECALLS THAT IN MARCH 1977 HE MET WITH THE THEN PRIME MINISTER RABIN AND FOUND LITTLE INTEREST ON RABIN'S PART IN ANY MEDIATION EFFORT TO END THE CONSTANT CYCLE OF VIOLENCE. IN THE ENSUING TWO MONTHS HE MET ALSO WITH A NUMBER OF ARAB LEADERS AND, SAVE FOR PRESIDENT SADAT, FOUND NO ONE WHO RESPONDED WITH ANY ENTHUSIASM TO THE IDEA OF A PEACE INITIATIVE. AND YET, A YEAR AND A HALF LATER, WHAT PRESIDENT CARTER CALLED THE SEEMINGLY INCOMPATIBLE PAIR, PRESIDENT SADAT AND PRIME MINISTER BEGIN, ACTUALLY MET AT CAMP DAVID WITH PRESIDENT CARTER AND EVEN MORE SURPRISINGLY CONCLUDED AN AGREEMENT.

WHAT WAS CAMP DAVID? ASIDE FROM NEARLY TWO WEEKS OF INTENSIVE AND EXCEPTIONALLY DIFFICULT NEGOTIATIONS, IT WAS WHAT WAS CALLED A FRAMEWORK FOR PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST AGREED AT CAMP DAVID. IT WAS NOT A PEACE TREATY, NOR A COMPREHENSIVE SETTLEMENT, BUT IT LAUNCHED A NEW AND AT THE TIME MORE HOPEFUL START IN THE SEARCH FOR PEACE, THOUGH IT WAS ALSO WIDELY CRITICIZED. WITHIN THAT FRAMEWORK, THE FOCUS WAS ON PEACE AND SECURITY AND, IMPORTANTLY FOR OUR GATHERING, IT WAS ALSO ON THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. IT WAS VERY CLEAR ON THIS POINT, SAYING THAT "THE NEGOTIATIONS MUST RECOGNIZE THE LEGITIMATE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THEIR JUST REQUIREMENTS."

IN MANY WAYS, THE CAMP DAVID ACCORD FORESHADOWED THE OSLO AGREEMENTS, BUT MY POINT HERE IS RATHER ANOTHER ONE, NAMELY THE FACT THAT DESPITE GREAT OBSTACLES IT WAS POSSIBLE TO BREAK OUT OF THE MOLD OF VIOLENCE AND MISTRUST AND TO MAKE A NEW START.

MY SECOND POINT IS THAT IF THIS COULD HAPPEN ONCE 20 YEARS AGO, IT COULD HAPPEN AGAIN. YET IT OBVIOUSLY HAS NOT. WHY NOT?

LET ME LIST SOME REASONS THAT STRIKE ME AS PERTINENT:

- I. THE CARRYING OUT OF THE OSLO ACCORDS HAS DEGENERATED MUCH OF THE TIME INTO EACH SIDE BLAMING THE OTHER RATHER THAN SEEKING SOLUTIONS. HENCE SUCH TRUST AS EARLIER EXISTED HAS BEEN DISSIPATED, IN PART BECAUSE THE NEGOTIATORS ARE ALSO THE IMPLEMENTERS. BECAUSE THE PROCESS IS CARRIED OUT IN STAGES, FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT THE PREVIOUS STAGE PRODUCES LACK OF CREDIBILITY AND INHIBITS FURTHER NEGOTIATIONS. HENCE MORE BLAME CASTING OR APATHY
- 2. FUNDAMENTAL ISSUES LIKE JERUSALEM, SETTLEMENTS, BORDERS, WATER AND REFUGEES, SAVED UNDER OSLO FOR THE FINAL STATUS TALKS, THUS LOOK EVEN MORE IMPOSSIBLE TO RESOLVE WHEN EVEN THE EASIER EARLIER GOALS REMAIN UNFULFILLED. AND YET NO LASTING AGREEMENT CAN BE REACHED WITHOUT MEANINGFUL CONCESSIONS FROM BOTH SIDES IN AREAS THAT ARE IMPORTANT TO THEM. THAT LESSON DOES NOT SEEM TO HAVE YET BEEN FULLY LEARNED.
- 3. THERE ARE ALSO SOME BASIC DIFFERENCES IN OVERALL PERCEPTIONS: FOR ISRAELIS THE PROCESS IS TOO FAST AND TOO RISKY FOR THEIR SECURITY HEEDS; FOR THE PALESTINIANS IT IS TOO SLOW AND TOO MINIMAL TO BE SATISFYING. PALESTINIANS SEE ISRAELIS AS GRUDGINGLY GIVING AND THEN GIVING LITTLE OF VALUE. ISRAELIS SEE PALESTINIANS AS ALWAYS DEMANDING AND OFFERING NOTHING IN EXCHANGE.
- 4. HAVING TO ADAPT TO CHANGED CIRCUMSTANCES ON EACH SIDE COMPLICATES REACHING POLICY CONSENSUS WITHIN THE SOCIETY. IN ISRAEL THERE ARE THE DAILY PROBLEM THAT STEM FROM THE DIVERSITY OF VIEWS WITHIN THE CABINET. IN PALESTINE THERE ARE THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THE EXECUTIVE AND THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL WHICH STILL NEED SORTING OUT.
- 5. EXTERNAL SUPPORT FOR EACH SIDE HAS BECOME LESS CERTAIN, EITHER BECAUSE OF NEW PRIORITIES FOR SOME OF THE ARAB STATES, OR IN THE CASE OF ISRAEL THE DISPUTES OVER RELIGIOUS MATTERS LIKE CONVERSIONS WHICH HAVE CONCERNED THE DISPORA.
- 6. GIVEN THE DEPTH OF THE DIFFICULTIES, THIRD PARTY MEDIATION MIGHT BE ABLE TO REBUILD SOME OF THE TRUST LOST, BUT THAT WOULD REQUIRE CONTINUING, INTENSIVE AND NOT JUST PERIODIC INVOLVEMENT, EVEN THEN, GIVEN THE OTHER FACTORS I HAVE LISTED, THAT MIGHT STILL NOT BE ENOUGH.

THE USUAL RECIPE FOR STALLED NEGOTIATIONS IS A LARGE DOSE OF POLITICAL WILL FOR ALL PARTIES. THERE ARE A LOT OF REASONS WHY PEOPLE COULD NOW SAY THAT WILL IS NOT PRESENT OR EVEN THAT IT CANNOT BE. BUT I STILL WOULD ARGUE THAT, JUST AS AT CAMP DAVID IT WAS POSSIBLE TO FIND AND APPLY POLITICAL WILL, SO HOW, 20 YEARS LATER, IN VERY DIFFERENT CIRCUMSTANCES, IT OUGHT TO BE POSSIBLE TOO. LET ME END BY QUOTING PRESIDENT CARTER, WHEN HE SPOKE TO THE AMERICAN CONGRESS IN SEPTEMBER 1978 ABOUT THE THEN JUST CONCLUDED CAMP DAVID ACCORD: HE SAID THAT WE ARE PRIVILEGED TO SEE THE CHANCE FOR ONE OF THE SOMETIMES RARE BRIGHT MOMENTS IN HUMAN HISTORY—A CHANCE THAT MAY OFFER THE WAY TO PEACE. IS IT TOO MUCH TO FIND ANOTHER CHANCE BEFORE THE END OF THE CENTURY?

MICHAEL HINDLEY

MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT (LABOUR, UNITED KINGDOM) AND CO-CHAIRMAN OF THE PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION

MAY I ATTEMPT A DIFFICULT DISCIPLINE FOR POLITICIANS AND THAT IS TO BE BRIEF AND TO THE POINT AND THAT I BE PRACTICAL RATHER THAN STAY AT THE RHETORICAL LEVEL. MY SYMPATHIES SHOULD BE OBVIOUS BY MY PRESENCE SO I WILL SPARE TIME AND NOT GO INTO A SENTIMENTAL OR POLITICAL STATEMENT AS TO WHY I HAVE SYMPATHY WITH THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE. MAY I BRING TO THIS MEETING THE GREETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION OF WHICH I HAVE THE HONOUR TO BE A VICE-PRESIDENT, THAT IS, THE PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION. THEY WISH TO EXTEND THEIR BEST WISHES TO YOUR EFFORTS. COULD I ALSO ADD ONE, A VERY NECESSARY QUALIFICATION, AND THAT IS THAT ALTHOUGH I AM A MEMBER OF THE BRITISH LABOUR PARTY, WHICH IS NOW IN GOVERNMENT, MY VIEWS ARE NOT NECESSARILY THOSE OF THAT GOVERNMENT.

Whenever there is a difficulty or hold-ups in the Middle East peace process, many people demand that Europe should do something and Europe's position in the constellation of hopes and expectations in Palestine and in the Arab world seems to go higher the more difficult the situation is. I think it is important that we have a realistic and hard-headed appraisal of just what Europe can do because only by appreciating the limited role Europe can play can we

HAVE A REALISTIC BASIS FOR COOPERATION AND EXPECTATION. MY OWN VIEW—I WOULD BE HAPPY TO SUSTAIN IT IN DISCUSSION BUT LET ME SPEAK TELEGRAPHICALLY—IS THAT THE OPTIMISM, THE BRIGHT LIGHT OF EXPECTATION WHICH WAS AROUSED WITH THE VENICE AND MADRID STATEMENTS IN THE EARLY 1980s, WAS ILLUSORY. THERE WAS A BRIEF MOMENT WHEN IT APPEARED THAT ELIROPE WOULD CONSTRUCTIVELY AND CONSISTENTLY FOLLOW A LINE AT SOME DEVIANCE FROM THAT LINE PURSUED BY THE UNITED STATES. THIS AROUSED CONSIDERABLE OPTIMISM IN THE ARAB AND PALESTINIAN WORLD AND WAS HELPFUL AT THAT TIME. SINCE THEN, THERE HAS BEEN NO INDICATION THAT THAT INITIATIVE TAKEN AT VENICE AND MADRID HAS BEEN SUSTAINED AND COULD BE THE BASIS FOR A GENUINELY INDEPENDENT POLICY.

THERE ARE VARIOUS WAYS OF INPLUENCING THE PROCESS OF PEACE IN THE PALESTINIAN SITUATION. TO MY MIND, THE BY FAR MOST EFFECTIVE IS, AND WOULD ALWAYS REMAIN, STRONG BILATERAL PRESSURE ON ISRAEL RATHER THAN MULTILATERAL PRESSURE THROUGHOUT THE AREA. I WAY THAT WITH GOOD EVIDENCE AND I WOULD TAKE A MOMENT TO EXPLAIN THAT, INDICATING AND EXPLAINING THE ROLE THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT CAN PLAY. BY FREAK REALLY, I THINK THAT THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT IN THE MID-1980s. UNDER THE "SINGLE EUROPEAN ACT", WAS GIVEN CONSIDERABLE POWERS WHEN IT CAME TO RATIFYING TRADE AGREEMENTS WITH COUNTRIES THAT HAD AN ASSOCIATION AGREEMENT WITH THE EUROPEAN UNION. ASSOCIATION AGREEMENT INDICATES THAT THAT COUNTRY WOULD EVENTUALLY BECOME A MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN UNION. IN TIMES OF OPTIMISM, E.G., SUCH ASSOCIATION AGREEMENTS WERE OFFERED AND ACCEPTED BY TURKEY AND ISRAEL. HOWEVER, UNDER THE SINGLE EUROPEAN ACT, THE PARLIAMENT WAS GIVEN THE RIGHT TO RATIFY AND THEREFORE TO VETO A TRADE AGREEMENT WITH A COUNTRY WHICH HAD AN ASSOCIATION AGREEMENT. THIS MEANS THAT ANY AGREEMENT THAT ISRAEL HAS WITH THE EUROPEAN UNION HAS TO BE RATIFIED BY THE PARLIAMENT AND HAS TO GAIN A MAJORITY-50 PER CENT OF THOSE ENTITLED TO VOTE-IN ORDER TO PASS. PARLIAMENT DISCOVERED THIS SOMEWHAT WITH SHOCK-AT THAT TIME I WAS AS I AM NOW THE MAJORITY LEADER ON THE TRADE COMMITTEE-BECAUSE IN DECEMBER 1987, THE FINANCIAL PROTOCOL BETWEEN THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITY, THE UNION AS IT NOW IS, AND ISRAEL WAS UP FOR RENEWAL AND WE WERE TOLD AS PARLIAMENTARIANS THAT THIS WAS SIMPLY A TECHNICAL MATTER. IT WASN'T. TO SOME EXTENT, IT MEANS UPDATING THE TREATY TO INCLUDE THE MEMBERSHIP OF SPAIN AND PORTUGAL BUT ALSO CONTAINED A CONSIDERABLE AMOUNT OF AID IN TERMS OF SOFT LOANS TO ISRAEL. UNFORTUNATELY, OR FORTUNATELY FOR PARLIAMENTARY MANAGERS, YOU WILL RECALL THAT IN DECEMBER 1987, THE INTIFADAM BROKE OUT. AND TO CUT A LONG PARLIAMENTARY STORY SHORT, PARLIAMENT INDICATED THAT IT WOULD NOT PASS THE FINANCIAL PROTOCOL WITH ISRAEL AS A SIGN OF DISTASTE FOR ISRAEL'S ACTIONS IN THOSE EVENTS AND AS A SIGN OF SOME SOLIDARITY FOR THE DEMAND FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES.

THAT WAS THE MOST SOLITARY EXPERIENCE I PERSONALLY HAVE EVER HAD BECAUSE WE HAVE ALWAYS HAD GREAT DIFFICULTY IN GETTING THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT TO TAKE THE EUROPEAN PARLAMENT AND INDEED THE EUROPEAN UNION THAT SERIOUSLY. THEIR MAIN PARTNER REALISTICALLY IS ALWAYS THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. BUT IT WAS QUITE SOLITARY IN THE ATTENTION THAT THE ISRAELI STATE THEN ACTUALLY GAVE THE PARLIAMENT, HAVING REFUSED POINT BLANK TO ATTEND THE TRADE COMMITTEE TO GIVE EVIDENCE AND BECAME SOLICITOUS ABOUT PARLIAMENT'S OPINION. WE DISCOVERED AT THAT TIME AS WELL THAT THERE WAS A SECRET—SECRET IS A WRONG WORD—NOT TOO WELL KNOWN AND LARGELY HIDDEN FROM VIEW SIDE PROTOCOL THAT ALLOWED PALESTINIAN GOODS DIRECT ACCESS TO THE EUROPEAN UNION. THIS IS STILL AN ISSUE. THERE WERE COMPLAINTS AT THAT TIME AS RIGHT NOW THAT ISRAEL WAS HINDERING SUCH FREE TRADE. SUFFICE IT TO SAY THAT IN HOLDING UP THE TRADE AGREEMENTS, AS PARLIAMENT DID FOR I O MONTHS, SIGNIFICANT CONCESSIONS WERE GRANTED BY ISRAEL. WE WENT FROM A SITUATION WHERE IN DECEMBER JANUARY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT WAS REFUSING TO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THERE WAS A PROBLEM, REFUSING TO COME TO THE TRADE COMMITTEE, TO A SITUATION IN OCTOBER I 988 WHEREIN ON THE EVE OF THE VOTE IN PARLIAMENT, THE ISRAELI MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE FAXED AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THAT MINISTRY AND PALESTINIAN GROWERS, GRANTING FREE ACCESS TO THE EUROPEAN MARKETS, TO EVERY SINGLE MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT. I APOLOGIZE FOR SPITTING IT OUT, PROVING THAT BILATERAL PRESSURE IS FAR MORE IMPORTANT THAN DECLARATIONS.

I WOULD LIKE TO REPORT THAT THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT HAS CONTINUED TO OPERATE IN A SIMILAR WAY, BUT I THINK THAT PARLIAMENT FRANKLY WAS RATHER FRIGHTENED TO DISCOVER THE POWERS THAT IT HAS IN THAT RESPECT. BUT SUFFICE IT TO SAY, THOSE POWERS STILL REMAIN. ANY SUBSEQUENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE EUROPEAN UNION AND ISRAEL, BECAUSE OF ISRAEL'S ASSOCIATION STATUS, WILL HAVE TO BE RATIFIED BY THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THAT BILATERAL PRESSURE POINT ON ISRAEL, I WOULD SUBMIT TO THIS CONFERENCE, IS STILL THE MOST EFFECTIVE WAY OF IMPROVING THE HUMAN RIGHTS SITUATION IN PALESTINE.

I WILL NOW MOVE ON AND MENTION A COUPLE OF OTHER AREAS OF PRESSURE AND PRACTICAL GUIDANCE TO PEOPLE HERE. THE EUROPEAN UNION DOES HAVE BILATERAL PROGRAMMES FOR THE PEACE PROCESS. THE EUROPEAN UNION IS THE MAJOR DONOR OF HUMANITARIAN AID. IT HAS AN ANNUAL PROGRAMME FOR BUILDING ON THE PEACE PROCESS WHICH IS SUPERVISED BECAUSE IT HAS A BUDGETARY SIDE. IT IS SUPERVISED BY PARLIAMENT AND THEREFORE THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT CAN HAVE A GUIDING INFLUENCE ON THE USE OF THOSE FUNDS. IN THAT RESPECT, MAY I UNDERLINE THE WORDS SPOKEN—HINTED AT—BY THE ISRAELI DEPUTY WHO SPOKE BEFORE ME. I THINK IT IS VERY IMPORTANT IN ANY COUNTRY BUT CERTAINLY IN THE PALESTINIAN SITUATION BECAUSE IT IS A VERY LARGE AMOUNT OF MONEY THAT IS BEING GRANTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION THAT THAT MONEY IS USED TO BUILD UP NATIONAL CAPACITY IN THE RECIPIENT COUNTRY AND IS NOT USED SIMPLY TO LINE THE POCKETS OF WELL-MEANING BUT SOMETIMES NOT PARTICULARLY WELL-MEANING CONSULTANTS IN THE DONOR COUNTRY. THE EUROPEAN UNION HAS BEEN RIGHTLY CRITICIZED BY ITS OWN COURT OF AUDITORS FOR ITS PROGRAMMES IN EASTERN EUROPE, WHICH SAW TOO HIGH A PERCENTAGE OF ITS DONOR FUNDS GOING INTO THE HANDS OF WEST EUROPEAN CONSULTANTS AND TOO LITTLE BEING USED ACTUALLY TO BUILD UP NATIONAL CAPITAL AND NATIONAL EXPERTISE. I WOULD ASK ALL HERE WHO HAVE AN INFLUENCE IN THIS MATTER TO MAKE SURE THAT SOMETHING SIMILAR DOES NOT HAPPEN AND THAT THE EUROPEAN UNION'S AID PROGRAMME FOR THE PEACE PROCESS IS ACTUALLY USED TO BUILD NATIONAL POTENTIAL, NATIONAL CAPITAL AND NATIONAL EXPERTISE AMONGST THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

THE OTHER AREA AS WELL WHERE THERE IS A POINT OF INFLUENCE FROM EUROPE IS THE SO-CALLED MEDITERRANEAN PROGRAMME (MEDA), WHICH INCLUDES ALL THE NON-EUROPEAN AS WELL AS EUROPEAN-MEDITERRANEAN COUNTRIES AND OF WHICH ISRAEL IS ALSO A PARTY. THAT 1995 BARCELONA SUMMIT WHICH SET UP THE MEDA PROGRAMME MADE AN EXHORTATION ON ALL STATES TO DEVELOP GOOD NEIGHBOURLINESS AND I THINK IT IS VERY IMPORTANT THAT THE EUROPEAN UNION CONTINUES, WHENEVER POSSIBLE, TO PRESS UPON ISRAEL THAT UNDER THE MEDA PROGRAMME, ISRAEL HAS TAKEN ON OBLIGATIONS TO ACT AS A GOOD NEIGHBOUR TO ITS OTHER STATES. YOU WILL KNOW THAT SPECIAL MEASURES WERE PASSED TO ENABLE THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY TO BE PARTY TO THE MEDA PROGRAMME AND THAT I THINK WAS A POSITIVE STEP TAKEN BY EUROPE. I DON'T THINK, IF I MAY ADD A CRITICAL NOTE HOWEVER, THAT THE UNE PURSUED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION THAT THE MEDA PROGRAMME IN DEVELOPING WELFARE AND ECONOMIC PROGRESS IN THE WIDE MEDITERRANEAN PROGRAMME AUTOMATICALLY CONTRIBUTES TO THE PEACE PROCESS. IT DOES ONLY IN THE VAGUEST POSSIBLE WAY, AND THAT IS WHENEVER COUNTRIES GET RICHER AND BECOME MORE STABLE, THEY TEND TO BE MORE PEACEFUL. BUT I DON'T THINK THAT THERE IS A MAGICAL PROCESS BY WHICH A QUANTITIVE DONATION OF AID AND TRADE TO THE MEDITERRANEAN AREA MAGICALLY TRANSPOSES ITSELF INTO PRESSURE ON ISRAEL TO DO THE DECENT THING WITH ITS PALESTINIAN NEIGHBOURS AND I THINK WE NEED A HARDER VIEW OF THE MEDA PROGRAMME THAN SIMPLY THINKING THAT ACCUMULATION OF AID WILL AUTOMATICALLY TRANSFER ITSELF INTO PEACE.

MAY I JUST CONCENTRATE NOW MY FINAL REMARKS ON WHAT I HOPE IS A REALISTIC ALTHOUGH MAYBE A CHALLENGED VIEW OF THE POSSIBILITIES OF THE VARIOUS EUROPEAN INSTITUTIONS INTERVENING IN THE PEACE PROCESS. FIRST OF ALL, THE COMMISSION DOES EXTREMELY GOOD WORK. THERE IS NO QUESTION THAT THE SPECIAL ENVOY FOR THE PEACE PROCESS, BY PRACTICING SOME SHUTTLE DIPLOMACY IN THE AREA, HAS DONE AN ENORMOUS AMOUNT OF GOOD WORK. BUT IT IS QUITE CLEAR THAT AS A POLITICAL BODY, THE COMMISSION HAS LONG PASSED ITS HIGH WATERMARK WHICH IT ACHIEVED WITH JACQUES DELORS. IT SEEMS NOW QUITE REALISTIC TO ASSUME THAT THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION WILL NOT EMERGE AS IT SEEMED TO HAVE THE POTENTIAL OF DOING DURING THE DELORS PERIOD AS A SIGNIFICANT POLITICAL PLAYER IN THE FIELD OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND IN THE FIELD OF SECURITY.

THE SECOND POINT IS THE LIMITATIONS OF A COMMON EUROPEAN FOREIGN POLICY. I WOULD SUBMIT AND I COULD GIVE MANY INSTANCES OF EVIDENCE THAT THE LIMITATIONS OF THIS ARE ALREADY EVIDENT. THE MINISTERS CAN ONLY ACT ON A LOWEST COMMON DENOMINATOR BASIS. WHILE INDIVIDUAL STATES MAY AND CAN DO MUCH MORE IN PUSHING FOR THE PEACE PROCESS. FACED WITH VERY SHARP CONFLICTS, FOR EXAMPLE IN YUGOSLAVIA, THE LIMITATIONS OF A COMMON FOREIGN POLICY HAVE BEEN GLARINGLY OBVIOUS. A PEACE PROCESS CANNOT BE MADE TO STICK IN YUGOSLAVIA WITHOUT THE HELP OF ON ONE SIDE THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND ON THE OTHER SIDE THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION, ACTING AS AN INFLUENCE ON SERBIA. EUROPE WAS FOUND QUITE WANTING AND ITS DEMAND THAT THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION TO A LESSER EXTENT STAY OUT OF THE YUGOSLAVIAN PROCESS BECAUSE WE WERE CLOSER IN EUROPE TO YUGOSLAVIA AND UNDERSTOOD IT BETTER PROVED TO BE A RATHER VACUOUS CLAIM. YOU ONLY NEED TO LOOK AT THE RECENT CONFLICT, OR ALMOST POTENTIAL CONFLICT, IN IRAQ TO SEE THAT THERE ARE QUITE IRRECONCILABLE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN MEMBER STATES. MY OWN GOVERNMENT, AND NOT WITH MY APPROVAL I MUST ADD, TOOK A MORE HOSTILE LINE TOWARDS IRAQ AND A MORE CRITICAL LINE TOWARDS THE UNITED NATIONS PROPOSAL THAN FOR EXAMPLE FRANCE DID. I THINK WE SHOULD BE VERY REALISTIC AND SAY THESE THINGS EXIST AND BASE OUR PRACTICAL PROBLEMS OR PRACTICAL SOLUTIONS ON THE EXISTENCE OF REALITY RATHER THAN BEING CARRIED AWAY, AS SOMETIMES EUROPEAN POLITICIANS ARE, WITH THE WISH THAT THERE SHOULD BE A COMMON FOREIGN POLICY.

MAY I CONCLUDE WITH A COUPLE OF REMARKS WHICH I HOPE WILL HELP TO MOVE THE PROCESS ON.

- 1. THE STATES IN EUROPE ARE STILL MORE IMPORTANT THAN ANY OTHER DESIRE TO HAVE A COMMON POLICY. JACQUES CHIRAQ'S VISIT AND HIS STATEMENTS AND ACTIONS IN JERUSALEM DID FAR MORE I THINK FOR THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE THAN HAVE DONE MINISTERS IN COLLECTIVE STATEMENTS. THE SAME WILL PROBABLY BE TRUE I HOPE WHEN MY OWN PRIME MINISTER, TONY BLAIR, VISITS THE AREA LATER IN THE YEAR.
- 2. THE COUNCIL WILL INCREASINGLY GAIN POWER AT THE EXPENSE OF THE COMMISSION BUT THE COUNCIL CAN ONLY OPERATE ON A LOWEST COMMON DENOMINATOR PROCESS.
- 3. I THINK IT IS INCREASINGLY UNLIKELY THAT THE EUROPEAN UNION COLLECTIVELY WILL. TAKE A VIEW THAT DIFFERENTIATES ITSELF FROM THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. YOU MAY REGRET THAT, SOME OF US MAY WORK AGAINST THAT, BUT I THINK THAT IT IS THE REALITY AND THAT THE HEYDAY OF OPTIMISM ABOUT EUROPE BEING INDEPENDENT AS IT WERE WHICH CAME IN VENICE AND MADRID HAS GONE FOR THE MOMENT.
- 4. HOWEVER, EUROPE, PARTICULARLY THE COMMISSION, WILL CONTINUE TO PAY FOR THE PEACE ON WHICH IT HAS LITTLE INFLUENCE AND AS SUCH WILL DO A GREAT DEAL OF GOOD HUMANITARIAN WORK AND WORK WHICH COULD BE BETTER IF, TAKING THE LINE I MENTIONED BEFORE OF OUR ISRAELI DEPUTY. IS THAT AID IS MORE CONCENTRATED TO GENUINELY BUILDING UP PALESTINIAN EXPERTISE.
- 5. TO REPEAT MY MAIN THEME AND THAT IS THAT THE BILATERAL PRESSURE BY THOSE OF US WHO WISH TO FORCE ISRAEL TO HONOUR ITS COMMITMENTS AND DO THE DECENT THING BY THE PALESTINIAN POPULATION—BILATERAL PRESSURE WILL BE FAR MORE EFFECTIVE, FAR MORE IMMEDIATE THAN ANY WISHED THINKING THAT THE COLLECTIVE EUROPEAN RESPONSE WOULD ACHIEVE THE SAME THING.

HENRY SIEGMAN DIRECTOR, UNITED STATES/MIDDLE EAST PROJECT AND SENIOR FELLOW, COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS

I WILL FOCUS MY BRIEF REMARKS PRIMARILY ON THE UNITED STATES ROLE IN THE PEACE PROCESS. I SHOULD SAY, HOWEVER, THAT I DO NOT SPEAK FOR THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT AND INDEED I DO NOT EVEN SPEAK FOR THE COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS WITH WHICH I AM ASSOCIATED BUT OFFER PERSONAL VIEWS, SHAPED BY MY OWN INVOLVEMENT IN THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT FOR MORE THAN THREE DECADES NOW.

AS HAS BEEN POINTED OUT TIME AND AGAIN DURING THIS CONFERENCE, WE MEET AT A TIME WHEN THE OSLO PROCESS SEEMS HOPELESSLY DEADLOCKED. THE FACT THAT BOTH SIDES ARE OVER TIME ENGAGED IN ACTIVITIES THAT VIOLATE ITS SPECIFIC PROVISIONS OF THE OSLO ACCORDS, AND WERE INCONSISTENT WITH ITS VERY PURPOSES AND SURELY ITS SPIRIT, CANNOT AND SHOULD NOT OBSCURE THE FACT, A FUNDAMENTAL FACT, AND THAT IS THAT THE PEACE PROCESS HAS NOT ADVANCED ON ANY FRONT SINCE PRIME MINISTER NETANYAHU CAME TO OFFICE WITH THE EXCEPTION, OF COURSE, OF THE HEBRON AGREEMENT, WHICH UNFORTUNATELY TURNED OUT TO BE THE FAMOUS EXCEPTION THAT PROVES THE RULE. AND THIS PRIMARILY AND OVERWHELMINGLY BECAUSE THE GOVERNMENT OF PRIME MINISTER NETANYAHU, UNLIKE ITS PREDECESSOR GOVERNMENT, SEES THE ISRAELI-PALESTINIAN RELATIONSHIP AS A ZERO-SUM GAME. EVERY CONCESSION TO THE PALESTINIANS IS EXPERIENCED BY THIS GOVERNMENT AS A NET LOSS FOR ISRAELI INTERESTS AND ISRAELI SECURITY. PRIME MINISTER NETANYAHU AND HIS COLLEAGUES IN HIS CABINET UNFORTUNATELY CANNOT CONCEIVE THAT WHICH PRIME MINISTER RABIN AND MEMBERS OF HIS GOVERNMENT CAME TO UNDERSTAND IN 1993. THAT IS, THAT AS IMPORTANT AS TERRITORY IS TO ISRAEL'S SECURITY, EVEN MORE IMPORTANT FOR ISRAEL IS A NEIGHBOUR THAT DOES NOT HARBOUR A DEEP AND FESTERING SENSE OF INJUSTICE OF HAVING BEEN DENIED THE MOST ELEMENTAL REQUISITES OF NATIONAL DIGNITY AND PERSONAL FREEDOM.

Now left to their own devices, political leaders who have so limited and narrow a view of their nation's security, focusing solely on territorial and military assets, cannot be peacemakers. Which brings us to the role of the United States, whose friendship with the Jewish State and support for the well-being of its people surely cannot be questioned. In an important foreign policy address this past August, the Secretary of State of the United States, Madeleine Albright, recognized the inseparability of Palestinian measures to advance the peace process and Israeli measures that address the legitimate political rights of the Palestinian people. It is because of this recognition that she proposed for the first time that the peace process could not proceed without first establishing a very clear understanding of goals and a framework for the final solution; and that both sides needed to agree on those goals if they were to regain confidence about where the negotiation process was leading.

UNFORTUNATELY, MRS. ALBRIGHT, IN THAT IMPORTANT SPEECH, DID NOT PUT FORWARD THE UNITED STATES' OWN UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT THOSE SPECIFIC GOALS MUST BE. AND AS INDICATED IN THE REPORT THAT WAS ISSUED LAST SUMMER BY AN INDEPENDENT TASK FORCE OF THE COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS ON UNITED STATES MIDDLE EAST POLICY AND THE PEACE PROCESS, IT IS IMPOSSIBLE TO RESTORE CONFIDENCE BETWEEN THE PARTIES IN THIS PEACE PROCESS UNLESS THE DIRECTION AND THE GOAL OF THESE NEGOTIATIONS ARE CLEARLY UNDERSTOOD TO INCLUDE PALESTINIAN STATEHOOD. NOW THE DETAILS OF STATEHOOD, THE SPECIFICS OF BORDERS, THE ARRANGEMENTS OF WATER, THE FUTURE OF JERUSALEM, REFUGEES, ETC., THESE DETAILS ARE SUBJECT TO DIRECT NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES THEMSELVES. BUT THESE NEGOTIATIONS DO NOT BEGIN TO STAND A CHANCE OF SUCCESS. INDEED THEY WOULD BE FUTILE UNLESS IT IS CLEARLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THEY TAKE PLACE WITHIN A CONTEXT THAT IS SURE AS, AMONG OTHER THINGS, STATEHOOD FOR THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN THE GAZA AND IN THE WEST BANK.

BUT UNITED STATES INITIATIVE THAT FAILS TO LINK EXPLICITLY PALESTINIAN MEASURES TO FIGHT TERRORISM, WHICH ARE CLEARLY ESSENTIAL, WITH ISRAELI MEASURES THAT MEET PALESTINIAN NEEDS, CAN ONLY REINFORCE THE DEADLOCK. THE UNITED STATES POSITION MUST BE THAT WHILE A WAR ON TERRORISM IS A PRE-CONDITION FOR CONTINUED NEGOTIATIONS, ISRAEL MUST MAKE IT POSSIBLE FOR THE PALESTINIANS TO WAGE THAT WAR BY INDICATING WHAT ISRAEL WILL DO TO ADVANCE SPECIFICALLY WHAT IT WILL DO TO ADVANCE THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE AND PALESTINIAN FUNDAMENTAL OBJECTIVES. MR. ARAFAT'S ROLE CANNOT BE SEEN BY ISRAEL SIMPLY AS SERVING ISRAEL'S SECURITY NEEDS.

A FAR DEEPER AMERICAN ENGAGEMENT THAT TACKLES ISSUES OF SUBSTANCE IS WHAT IS NEEDED NOW TO PUT THE PEACE PROCESS BACK ON TRACK. BOTH PRESIDENT CLINTON AND SECRETARY OF STATE ALBRIGHT SEEM TO HAVE RECOGNIZED THIS IN REALITY AND BOTH HAVE SAID IN RECENT WEEKS THAT THE NEGOTIATIONS MUST INDEED DEFINE THIS GOAL AND FRAMEWORK FOR THE NEGOTIATIONS. MORE IMPORTANTLY, PRESIDENT CLINTON, IN HIS LAST MEETING WITH PRESIDENT ARAFAT IN WASHINGTON, D.C., SPOKE FOR THE FIRST TIME OF UNITED STATES SUPPORT FOR PALESTINIAN ASPIRATIONS TO LIVE IN FREEDOM. THE UNITED STATES OF COURSE CANNOT COMPEL AN ISRAELI GOVERNMENT TO DO WHAT IT IS DETERMINED TO DO, WHAT IT IS DETERMINED NOT TO DO. THE UNITED STATES CANNOT CONTROL MR. NETANYAHU AND HIS POLITICS. BUT THE UNITED STATES CAN CONTROL ITS OWN POLICIES AND CAN DECLARE SUPPORT FOR PALESTINIAN STATEHOOD ALBEIT WITH RESTRICTIONS AND PROVISIONS THAT ARE NECESSARY TO ENSURE ISRAEL'S SECURITY.

A CLEAR AND UNCONDITIONAL ASSERTION BY THE UNITED STATES AS TO WHERE THE PEACE PROCESS MUST LEAD IN ORDER TO SATISFY FUNDAMENTAL REQUIREMENTS ON BOTH SIDES MAY NOT YIELD AN IMMEDIATE BREAKTHROUGH IN THE PEACE PROCESS. BUT IT CERTAINLY WOULD SET BROAD PARAMETERS FOR THE NEGOTIATIONS THAT THE PARTIES SOONER OR LATER WILL HAVE TO ENGAGE IN. IT WOULD SERVE TO LESSEN DAMAGE TO UNITED STATES INTHE REGION, FOR ANGER AT THE UNITED STATES IN THE ARAB WORLD, WHICH IS WIDESPREAD AND WHICH ENDANGERS REGIMES THAT ARE PRIENDLY TO THE UNITED STATES, IS THE RESULT NOT OF ARAB DISAPPOINTMENT THAT THE UNITED STATES HAS NOT "DELIVERED ISRAEL" BUT BECAUSE RATHER THE UNITED STATES DOES NOT SEEM TO HAVE A POSITION OF ITS OWN ON THESE IMPORTANT ISSUES. WE ARE THEREFORE SEEN AS ACQUIESCING IN THE POLICIES OF THIS PARTICULAR GOVERNMENT.

HAVING REFERRED HOWEVER TO ARAB ANGER AND ARAB PUBLIC OPINION ON THE SUBJECT, A SUBJECT I HAVE SPOKEN ABOUT AND WRITTEN ABOUT CONSIDERABLY IN THE UNITED STATES AND INTERNATIONAL MEDIA, I THINK THAT ANOTHER POINT NEEDS TO BE MADE AS WELL. I MUST TELL YOU IN ALL CANDOR THAT AS DANGEROUS AS IT IS TO IGNORE ARAB PUBLIC OPINION, AS SO MANY COUNTRIES IN THE WEST ARE GUILTY OF, IT IS EQUALLY DANGEROUS TO BE GUILTY OF UNCRITICAL PANDERING TO THAT PUBLIC OPINION. FOR ARAB PUBLIC OPINION ALSO BELIEVES THAT THE SPREAD OF AIDS IN THE ARAB WORLD IS AN ISRAELI CONSPIRACY, THAT THE ALLEGED LIAISON BETWEEN MONICA LEWINSKY AND PRESIDENT CLINTON IS A ZIONIST PLOT, THAT THE HOLOCALIST IS EITHER GROSSLY EXAGGERATED OR NEVER HAPPENED, AND THAT ISRAEL IS EXPLOITING FOODSTUFFS TO THE ARAB WORLD, E.G., CHEWING GUM, THAT DRIVE WOMEN WILD AND RENDERS ARAB MEN IMPOTENT. NOW I MENTION THIS AND I AM GLAD TO SEE SOME OF YOU SMILE BUT I MENTION THIS BECAUSE THESE ARE NOT THE RANTINGS, THE DELUSIONS, OF LUNATICS. THESE ARE REPORTS THAT APPEAR IN RESPONSIBLE. THE MOST IMPORTANT, ARAB MEDIA AND ARE REPEATED BY MINISTERS, UNFORTUNATELY IN ARAB GOVERNMENTS, SOME OF WHOM ARE CLOSE FRIENDS OF MINE. SO I DO NOT BELIEVE FOR ALL OF MY RESERVATIONS ABOUT UNITED STATES POLICY AND FOR ALL OF MY CRITICISM THAT THE POLICIES OF PRIME MINISTER NETANYAHU AND HIS GOVERNMENT THAT ARAB PUBLIC PERCEPTIONS OF THE REALITIES OF WORLD AFFAIRS SHOULD BE CELEBRATED UNCRITICALLY. TOO MANY OF THEM ARE DELUSIONAL AND PERNICIOUS. LIKE THOSE THAT ARE BASED ON TRAPS LIKE THE PROTOCOLS OF THE ELDERS OF ZION, THE VERY HATEFUL AND RACIST BOOK THAT UNFORTUNATELY ENJOYS GREAT POPULARITY EVEN IN THIS DAY IN MOST ARAB COUNTRIES. NONE OF THESE I ASSURE YOU CONTRIBUTE TO THE CREDIBILITY OF ARAB PUBLIC OPINION OR TO THE DIGNITY OF THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE.

Now having said this, let me say in conclusion that in the end, despite all of these problems on both sides of the ledger, there is no question that there will be a Palestinian state in the West Bank and Gaza. To be sure, there will be provisions for demilitarization and other arrangements to deal with the legitimate Israeli security concerns. But it should also be clear that the maps that are now being argued about in Mr. Netanyahu's Cabinet—the Sharon map and the map of the Defence Minister Mordechai—those maps could not be more irrelevant except for the interesting fact but even the most parsimonious proposals in these maps mark a historic turning point because the Likud accepts for the first time the principle of the actual division of land and of returning land to the Palestinians. And it is that principle that will in the end lead inexorably to a Palestinian state in the West Bank and in Gaza. Now the reason for this inevitability is not the effectiveness of the peace process or the genius of the Oslo Accords. The Oslo agreement is deeply flawed although it is clearly the most that could have been achieved at the time. And certainly the peace process that it triggered was not so cleverly contrived as to preclude irreversibility. Now instead, it is the relentless logic of history that will yield the Palestinian state in the West Bank and Gaza.

THE QUESTION IS NOT WHEN IT WILL HAPPEN AND AT WHAT FURTHER COST TO HUMAN SUFFERING. THE STATE WILL EMERGE NOT AS A REWARD FOR PALESTINIAN GOOD BEHAVIOUR BUT BECAUSE AT THE END OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY IT IS SIMPLY INCONCEIVABLE THAT A PEOPLE WITH ITS OWN CULTURE, ITS OWN FAITH AND POLITICAL IDENTITY CAN REMAIN UNDER PERMANENT OCCUPATION BY A POWER THAT IS UTTERLY FOREIGN TO IT. THE DAYS WHEN DREAMS OF SUCH PERMANENT FOREIGN RULE CAN BE ENTERTAINED ARE SIMPLY GONE FOREVER.

GIVEN THE INEVITABILITY OF THE OUTCOME OF THIS TRAGEDY THAT ISRAEL'S CURRENT POLITICAL LEADERSHIP IS SO LACKING IN VISION AS TO FAIL TO UNDERSTAND THAT RESISTANCE TO THIS HISTORIC PROCESS, EVEN IF MOTIVATED BY PRACTICAL CONSIDERATION, CREATES RESENTMENT AND BITTERNESS THAT UNDERMINES THE VERY SECURITY IN WHOSE NAME THE POLICIES ARE JUSTIFIED. TALK ABOUT RECIPROCITY FOR THE PALESTINIANS IS A SMOKESCREEN, FOR OF COURSE THE ISRAELI LIST OF VIOLATIONS IS JUST AS LONG AS THAT OF THE PALESTINIANS.

A PEACE AGREEMENT IN THE END WILL BE POSSIBLE WHEN ISRAEL'S LEADERS FINALLY ACCEPT AND UNDERSTAND THE TRUTH THAT GRANTING PALESTINE FREEDOM AND POLITICAL INDEPENDENCE IS NOT A MATTER OF ISRAELI ALTRUISM BUT AN ESSENTIAL PRECONDITION FOR ISRAEL'S OWN SECURITY. FOR THESE SECURITY INTERESTS CAN BE DEALT WITH EFFECTIVELY ONLY IN A CONTEXT OF NEGOTIATIONS THAT ACCEPT THE LEGITIMACY OF BOTH SIDES' BASIC ASPIRATIONS. PRESIDENT CLINTON AND SECRETARY ALBRIGHT HAVE COME TO UNDERSTAND THAT THIS CONTEXT MUST BE THE OBJECT OF UNITED STATES DIPLOMACY. ONE MUST HOPE NOW THAT THEY WILL ALSO UNDERSTAND TO TAKE THE NEXT LOGICAL AND INEVITABLE STEP.

MOHAMED ABDELLAH CHAIRMAN OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS COMMITTEE OF THE PEOPLE'S ASSEMBLY OF EGYPT

THIS MEETING IS EXTREMELY IMPORTANT BECAUSE, FIRST AND FOREMOST, IT IS A MEETING THAT WILL SUPPORT AND UNDERPING THE ROLE OF THE UNITED NATIONS IN WORKING FOR A JUST SOLUTION. THIS MEETING COMES TO UNDERSCORE THE IMPORTANCE OF THIS GATHERING THAT REPRESENTS ALL THE INTERNATIONAL BODIES AND ABOVE ALL THE POLITICAL ORGANIZATIONS. THIS MEETING DEMONSTRATES THE IMPORTANCE THAT THE ENTIRE WORLD ATTACHES TO ONE OF THE FLASH POINTS OF THE WORLD THAT HAS BEEN AN AREA OF CRISIS FOR THE LAST 50 YEARS. THE ORIGINAL RESOLUTION REVEALED WHAT WAS REALLY HAPPENING AND REFLECTED WHAT GONE ON MUCH EARLIER IN THE LAND OF PALESTINE. IT WAS A REFLECTION OF THE BLOODY CONFLICTS FOUGHT OUT IN EUROPE IN THE SECOND WORLD WAR.

WE ARE HERE TO SUPPORT PEACE. WE HAVE COME HERE TO SEE HOW TO GIVE PEACE THE STAMP OF INTERNATIONAL APPROVAL. WE ARE HERE TO CONFIRM THE FACT THAT A JUST AND LASTING PEACE MUST GO HAND IN HAND BECAUSE WITHOUT JUSTICE PEACE CANNOT BE LASTING. THE DEAL WAS LAND FOR PEACE BECAUSE THE ACQUISITION OF LAND BY FORCE CONTRAVENES THE PROVISIONS OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 242 (1967) AND 338 (1973) AND SO THE DEAL STRUCK WAS LAND FOR PEACE. WE THEREFORE HAVE TO LOOK AT THE PRINCIPLES ON WHICH PEACE IS TO BE BASED.

A LOT OF CHANGES CAME ABOUT AFTER THE MADRID AND OSLO CONFERENCES. HOPE SPRUNG AFRESH IN THE REGION. WE HAD ALL GONE THROUGH MUTUAL PEAR AND DENIAL, REJECTION, THEN TOGETHER WE WENT FORWARD INTO A STAGE OF MUTUAL RECOGNITION. AND SO WE HAVE LOCKED AT WHAT WE HAVE DONE AND PRACTICED OVER THE PAST 20 YEARS. WE HAVE TO BE CAREFUL TO LOOK AT THE CONTEXT. IT IS NOT JUST A MATTER OF THE SETTLEMENTS BEING THROWN UP HERE AND THERE. IT IS NOT A MATTER OF DELAYING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE OSLO ACCORDS. IT IS MATTER OF SEEING WHAT IS BEING DONE OVERALL, TO SLOW DOWN THE PEACE PROCESS AND TO SEE THAT IT DOES NOT GO THROUGH TO A LOGICAL CONCLUSION.

THE THINKING UNDERLINES MUTUAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND RECOGNITION OF WHAT IS NEEDED AND HERE I MUST HAIL THE COURAGE OF PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT, WHO TOOK UPON HIMSELF THE HISTORIC RESPONSIBILITY OF PUTTING AN END TO CONFLICT AND IN SO DOING SHOWED UNHEARD OF BOLDNESS AND GREAT HEARTEDNESS. EVERYTHING HAS BEEN ENDORSED AND CONFIRMED BY THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES IN THE MINISTERIAL MEETING HELD JUST BEFORE THE MADRID CONFERENCE, WHERE ACCENT WAS PLACED ON THE IDEA THAT PEACE WAS THE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE AND TARGET OF THE ARAB NATION. THE PALESTINIAN CAUSE IS AT THE VERY FOCUS OF UNREST IN THE MIDDLE EAST, COMPREHENSIVE PEACE IS THEREFORE THE PROPER SOLUTION AND ANY RESOLUTION CALLS FOR A JUST SETTLEMENT SO THAT THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AS A WHOLE CAN HAVE THEIR RIGHTS ADDRESSED, SO THAT THEY CAN ENJOY AND EXERCISE THEM.

SECURITY IS NECESSARY BUT THERE ARE RESOLUTIONS THAT LAY DOWN THE TOTAL WITHDRAWAL OF ISRAEL FROM THE OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES. ALSO, WE HAVE TO LOOK AT WHAT IS HAPPENING IN SOUTHERN LEBANON AS WELL. SO WHEN WE TALK ABOUT SECURITY, WE NEED FIRST TO HAVE PEACE AND ANY ATTEMPT TO CONSIDER SECURITY AS AN EXCUSE FOR HOLDING ON TO LAND CAN ONLY CONTINUE THE VICIOUS CIRCLE OF VIOLENCE AND COUNTER-VIOLENCE. WE HAVE TO TALK ABOUT THE CONVENTIONAL CONCEPT OF SECURITY BUT BRINGING ABOUT A DIFFERENT BLUFF BECAUSE IF WE STICK TO THE OLD FASHION GUNS OF "THIS IS MINE AND I WILL DEFEND IT", WE WILL GET NOWHERE.

THERE CAN BE NO NATURAL BARRIER TO BE SEEN AS A MEANS OF PREVENTING WAR WHEN IN FACT IT COULD BE THE VERY TRIGGER OF A WAR BECAUSE DESPAIR, SUFFERING AND DISCOURAGEMENT SOMETIMES LEAD PEOPLE TO VIOLENCE. DESPAIR HAS BEEN THE CRADLE OF VIOLENCE. DESPAIR PROMPTS PEOPLE TO VIOLENCE, PROVOKES THEM TO VIOLENCE. SO CLOSURES OF BORDERS, KEEPING PEOPLE IN A MORE OR LESS STATE OF SIEGE, PREVENTING PALESTINIANS FROM BEING ABLE TO GO TO WORK—THIS IS NOT GOING TO FOSTER PEACE. THIS IS NOT GOING TO FURTHER SECURITY BUT WILL PUSH EVERYONE ALONG THE PATH TO OPPOSITE DIRECTIONS. WE HAVE TO ADOPT A DIFFERENT STANDPOINT, A FRESH APPROACH AND I THINK WE ARE GOING FORWARD INTO A NEW ATTITUDE AND OUTLOOK WHERE THE LEGITIMACY OF THE PALESTINIAN CLAIMS IS BEING RECOGNIZED IN ORDER TO ARRIVE AT A PROPER SETTLEMENT. THIS STRATEGIC AREA OF THE MIDDLE EAST CANNOT BE A HOTBED OF CONFLICT.

WE HAVE SEEN THAT THE UNITED NATIONS HAS PROVED EFFECTIVE IN THE VERY RECENT PAST AND HAS DIFFUSED THE SITUATION THAT COULD HAVE LED TO AN ENORMOUS ESCALATION OF TENSION AND VIOLENCE IN THE MIDDLE EAST. WE CONGRATULATE THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS BUT WE HAVE TO SAY THAT IT IS THE WILL OF PEOPLES THAT WAS THE DECISIVE FACTOR BECAUSE THE PEOPLES ARE TIRED OF WAR AND VIOLENCE AND CONFLICT. WE LOOK FORWARD OPTIMISTICALLY TO SEEING THIS YEAR AS THE YEAR IN WHICH THERE WILL BE ADHERENCE TO PRINCIPLE SO THAT THE PEACE PROCESS CAN BE REVIVED AND PUT BACK ON TRACK IN ORDER TO OBTAIN THE OBJECTIVES IT SET ITSELF.

I AM NOT GOING TO MENTION ALL OF THE RESOLUTIONS WITH WHICH ARE YOU ARE ALREADY FAMILIAR. I SHOULD LIKE TO TALK TO YOU ABOUT A SITUATION THAT CAN FLAG DANGER BUT YOU ARE FAMILIAR WITH THAT TOO. IT IS A GLOBAL VILLAGE, WE ALL SAY NOWADAYS. IT'S A SMALL WORLD AND NO ONE CAN DISREGARD OR BE UNAWARE OF WHAT IS HAPPENING IN THE FIELD. BUT I WILL TALK ABOUT ONE ASPECT—CERTAIN CONCEPTS THAT CAN OFFER A DIFFERENT VIEW. I AM NOT SPEAKING AS A UNITED NATIONS EXPERT BUT AS A POLITICIAN AND I CAN SAY THAT WE HAVE TO LOOK TO THE FUTURE. OUR POINT OF DEPARTURE HAS TO BE WHAT WE ALL HAVE ALREADY DONE BECAUSE A GREAT DEAL HAS BEEN DONE. WE HAVE HESITATED AT TIMES BETWEEN PEACE AND OTHER SOLUTIONS

BECAUSE OF THE STALEMATE, THE DEADLOCK, BUT WE HAVE TO TRY AND FORESEE THE UNFORESEEABLE. WE HAVE TO DO THIS BY FOUNDING OUR ACTION ON THE PROPER BASIS FOR PEACE. WE HAVE TO LOOK AT PEACE WITHIN ISRAEL AND RECOGNIZE THAT THERE IS A PEACE MOVEMENT INSIDE THAT COUNTRY AND SO THAT WE CAN SEE IN EVERY INTERNATIONAL MEETING ALL THOSE WHO WISH TO BUILD PEACE COMING TOGETHER TO GIVE PRACTICAL EXPRESSION TO THOSE IDEAS.

WE HAVE TO LOOK TO PEACE BEYOND PEACE—THE PEACE THAT CAN CONSOLIDATE PEACE AND PRACTICE IF YOU LIKE. THIS IS THE CONCEPTIVE—THIS IS THE POST-PEACE MOVEMENT IDEA IN A NEW MIDDLE EAST, FOUNDED ON THE BUILDING OF A MIDDLE EAST WITHOUT WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION, A REGION THAT WILL BE AN EXAMPLE FOR PEACEFUL CO-EXISTENCE, A MIDDLE EAST THAT IS THE VERY CRADLE OF CIVILIZATION AND DIVINE REVELATION, OF TOLERANCE AND COOPERATION, A VERY MODEL OF A NEW SOCIETY THAT WILL BE BUILT FOR A NEW AND BETTER FUTURE. THIS, OF COURSE, IS RELATED DIRECTLY TO THE SECURITY OF EUROPE AND INDEED THE WORLD. FOR THIS REASON, OUR MEETING HERE UNDER THE AUSPICES OF THE UNITED NATIONS, IN A EUROPEAN CITY, THE VERY HEART OF EUROPE, IS A CLEAR MESSAGE THAT MUST BE UNDERSTOOD BY EVERYONE THAT SEEKS PEACE, BY ALL PEACELOVING PEOPLES BECAUSE WHAT IS SOUGHT IS UNIVERSAL, WORLDWIDE PEACE AND SECURITY. WE MUST SEE TO IT THAT THE MIDDLE EAST WHICH HAS SUFFERED SO MUCH IN SUCCESSIVE WARS CAN BECOME AN EXEMPLAR OF TOLERANCE AND PEACEFUL COEXISTENCE AMONG DIFFERING PEOPLE AND DIFFERING VIEWS.

V. CLOSING MEETING

JEAN DE RUYT DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF MULTILATERAL POLICY MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM

THE CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, ORGANIZED BY THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IN COLLABORATION WITH THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES, IS DRAWING TO A CLOSE TODAY, BUT THERE STILL REMAINS A NEED TO WORK FOR THE URGENT REVIVAL OF THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS, IN ALL ITS TOPICALITY AND COMPLEXITY.

THROUGHOUT THE CONFERENCE, ONE EMINENT SPEAKER AFTER ANOTHER HAS STRESSED THE COMPELLING NEED TO REVIVE THE PEACE PROCESS. BY COMBINING ALL OUR EFFORTS IN PURSUIT OF THIS FUNDAMENTAL GOAL, WE WILL BE ABLE TO REDUCE THE RISK OF THIS PROCESS STAGNATING OR GOING ADRIFT. WE MUST MOBILIZE ALL OUR ENERGIES VERY RAPIDLY TO THIS END.

I SHOULD LIKE TO POINT OUT, FIRST OF ALL, THAT, IN HIS STATEMENT OF 5 FEBRUARY, THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS ANNOUNCED HIS INTENTION TO TRAVEL TO THE MIDDLE EAST IN ORDER TO HOLD DISCUSSIONS THERE WITH THE LEADERS IN THE REGION CONCERNING THE ROLE WHICH THE UNITED NATIONS SHOULD PLAY IN ORDER TO GIVE GREATER SUPPORT TO THE PEACE EFFORTS. WE UNDERSTAND VERY WELL, WHY THIS VISIT HAS BEEN POSTPONED AND WE HOPE THAT, AS SIR KIERAN PRENDERGAST, THE UNDER-SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS, CONFIRMED TO US YESTERDAY, KOFI ANNAN WILL BE ABLE TO CARRY OUT THIS MISSION IN THE NEAR FUTURE. I CAN ONLY SUPPORT THE SECRETARY-GENERAL'S STATEMENT THAT PEACE CAN BE ATTAINED ONLY THROUGH A SPIRIT OF CONCILIATION THAT WILL LEAD TO THE RECOGNITION OF THE LEGITIMATE RIGHTS AND NEEDS OF ALL PARTIES. PRIOR COMMITMENTS MUST BE FULLY RESPECTED AND UNILATERAL ACTS THAT UNDERMINE CONFIDENCE MUST BE AVOIDED.

I SHOULD ALSO LIKE TO NOTE THAT, IN HIS STATEMENT, IBRA DEGUÈNE KA, TO WHOM I WISH TO PAY TRIBUTE HERE FOR THE VERY EFFICIENT WAY IN WHICH HE DISCHARGES HIS DUTIES AS CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, VERY RIGHTLY STRESSED THE PURPOSE OF THIS CONFERENCE, WHICH IS TO STRENGTHEN THE MOBILIZATION OF EUROPEAN AND INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC OPINION IN SUPPORT OF THE REVIVAL OF THE PEACE PROCESS AND RESPECT FOR THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

AS THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF BELGIUM, ERIK DERYCKE, SAID DURING THE OPENING MEETING, BELGIUM DEEPLY REGRETS THAT THE PEACE PROCESS HAS BEEN STALLED FOR NEARLY A YEAR AND BELIEVES THAT IT IS CRUCIAL AND URGENT TO REVIVE IT THROUGH THE FULL IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE INTERIM ISRAELI-PALESTINIAN AGREEMENTS. THE DELAYS IN THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGREEMENTS WHICH HAVE BEEN DULY SIGNED BY THE PARTIES CONTINUE TO POISON THE ATMOSPHERE OF NEGOTIATIONS. WE CANNOT STRESS OFTEN ENOUGH THAT THE PRINCIPLE OF LAND FOR PEACE IS THE ESSENTIAL, ELEMENT OF A PIJTURE PEACE.

DURING THIS CONFERENCE, A NUMBER OF SPEAKERS HAVE RIGHTLY REFERRED TO THE CELEBRATION IN 1998 OF THE FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE ADOPTION OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS. THIS PROVIDES AN OCCASION FOR ALL OF US TO RECALL THIS SOLEMN COMMITMENT, WHICH CONTINUES TO BE OF VITAL SIGNIFICANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

THE IMPORTANCE WHICH THE EUROPEAN UNION AND BELGIUM ATTACH TO THE LEGITIMATE POLITICAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE IS WELL KNOWN AND IS BASED ON POSITIONS THAT HAVE BEEN, FOR THE MOST PART, DEVELOPED IN RECENT DECADES.

MOREOVER, IT IS NOT POLITICAL SUPPORT ALONE. INDEED, OUR STEADFAST SUPPORT HAS ALSO BEEN REFLECTED IN A CONSIDERABLE FINANCIAL INVESTMENT IN VARIOUS PROGRAMMES OF ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIANS IN ORDER TO HELP THEM TO ESTABLISH THE NECESSARY STRUCTURES, BUILD A SOLID DEMOCRACY AND ENSURE THEIR ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT, WITH A VIEW TO ESTABLISHING IN THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES IN THE PUTURE, THE ECONOMIC STABILITY WHICH IS ESSENTIAL TO POLITICAL STABILITY.

DESPITE THIS MAJOR FINANCIAL EFFORT BY THE EUROPEAN UNION AND ALL ITS MEMBER STATES, INCLUDING BELGIUM, IT MUST BE NOTED THAT THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL SITUATION IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES HAS UNDERGONE A DISTURBING DETERIORATION IN RECENT YEARS. THIS IS APPARENT FROM THE MACROECONOMIC INDICATORS WHICH ARE AVAILABLE AND FROM A RECENT COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN UNION.

THIS PARADOXICAL REALITY - THE DECLINE OF THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY DESPITE A SUBSTANTIAL FLOW OF ASSISTANCE - CANNOT FAIL TO CAUSE CONCERN.

WE DEEM IT URGENT TO RECTIFY THIS DEPLORABLE SITUATION BECAUSE IT IS NOT ACCEPTABLE THAT THE PALESTINIANS SHOULD BE FACED WITH A DECLINE IN THEIR STANDARD OF LIVING OF SOME 30 PER CENT SINCE THE SIGNATURE OF THE OSLO AGREEMENTS.

WE BELIEVE THAT THE STALEMATE IN THE PEACE PROCESS AND THE RESTRICTIONS ON THE FREEDOM OF MOVEMENT OF INDIVIDUALS AND GOODS IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES ARE LARGELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE PROBLEMS FACED BY THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY.

AS YOU DOUBTLESS KNOW, THE EUROPEAN UNION RECENTLY ENTERED INTO A DIALOGUE WITH ISRAEL ON THE PROBLEMS CONFRONTING THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY IN ORDER TO EXPLORE WAYS AND MEANS OF STIMULATING THE PALESTINIAN ECONOMY AND MINIMIZING THE ADVERSE IMPACT OF THE BORDER CLOSINGS AND OTHER OBSTACLES. WE CAN ONLY EXPRESS OUR FERVENT HOPE THAT THESE MEASURES, WHICH IMPLY A MORE ACTIVE ROLE FOR THE UNION IN THE PEACE PROCESS, WILL HAVE A TANGIBLE IMPACT ON THE VERY DIFFICULT SITUATION IN WHICH THE POPULATION OF THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES FINDS ITSELF AT THE DAWN OF THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY.

IN THIS CONNECTION, I SHOULD LIKE TO REFER TO THE STATEMENT OF PRESIDENT ARAFAT. AS HE REMINDED US, IN TWO YEARS'
TIME, WE WILL BE CELEBRATING THE SECOND MILLENNIUM OF THE BIRTH OF JESUS CHRIST IN THE PALESTINIAN TOWN OF BETHLEHEM.
A PREPARATORY CONFERENCE FOR THE BETHLEHEM FESTIVITIES WILL, MOREOVER, BE HELD IN BRUSSELS NEXT APRIL.

I HOPE THAT THE PROSPECT OF THIS ANNIVERSARY WILL BE A POWERFUL STIMULUS FOR EACH OF THE ACTORS INVOLVED IN THE SEARCH FOR A SOLUTION TO THE CONFLICT IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND FOR THE PEOPLES OF THE REGION. PEACE, ADMITTEDLY, REQUIRES SOME SACRIFICES IF THE NECESSARY COMPROMISES ARE TO BE REACHED, BUT THE BENEFITS OF PEACE FULLY JUSTIFY THE CONCESSIONS THAT MUST BE MADE IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE IT.

M. NASSER AL-KIDWA PERMANENT OBSERVER OF PALESTINE TO THE UNITED NATIONS

IT IS MY HONOUR, ON BEHALF OF THE PALESTINIAN LEADERSHIP, AS WE ARE COMING TO THE CLOSING OF OUR MEETING, TO CONVEY TO YOU ALL OUR DEEPEST GRATITUDE FOR PARTICIPATING IN THIS IMPORTANT CONFERENCE. WE THANK MOST PARTICULARLY THE BELGIAN GOVERNMENT, OUR FRIENDS, FOR HAVING HOSTED THIS CONFERENCE. WE ALSO THANK THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND ITS CHAIRMAN, IBRA DEGUÈNE KA. QUITE NATURALLY, WE THANK THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES AND THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND WE SHOULD ALSO LIKE TO EXPRESS OUR GRATITUDE FOR THE PARTICIPATION OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE ORGANIZATION, AZZEDINE LARAKI

OUR CONFERENCE IS BEING HELD IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE SO THAT THESE RIGHTS CAN BE EXERCISED BECAUSE THIS IS THE LYNCHPIN TO THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST. THIS CONFERENCE AS WAS SO RIGHTLY SAID BY MANY PREVIOUS SPEAKERS, IS BEING HELD AT A VERY TIMELY MOMENT BECAUSE THIS IS THE FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE EXPULSION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE FROM THEIR LANDS AND THIS IS THE FIFTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES, THE AGREEMENTS OF PRINCIPLES. THIS CONFERENCE HAS ENGENDERED IMPORTANT RESULTS REPLECTING INTERNATIONAL UNANIMITY. THIS HAS EMPHASIZED THE STRENGTHENING OF THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE PRACTICAL EXPRESSION OF THOSE RIGHTS AND THE REVIVAL OF THE PEACE PROCESS IN THE MIDDLE EAST SO AS TO ENSURE PROPER RESULTS. SECONDLY AND THIRDLY, THE BASIS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW AND THE ROLE OF THE UNITED NATIONS IN THE MIDDLE EAST HAVE BEEN UNDERSCORED. WITHOUT A DOUBT THERE WAS ADDED IMPORTANCE BECAUSE OF THE PRESENCE OF PRESIDENT YASSER ARAFAT AT THIS CONFERENCE.

THIS CLEARLY MARKED THE PALESTINIAN POSITION DESPITE THE FEROCIOUS ISRAELI CAMPAIGN TO UNDERMINE ALL POSITIONS, A GREAT MANY ORGANIZATIONS AND COUNTRIES HAVE TAKEN PART AND THERE HAS BEEN OFFICIAL PARTICIPATION FROM THE EUROPEAN PARTNERS IN SOME NUMBERS. WE ARE MOST GRATEFUL TO BELGIUM, IN THE HEART OF EUROPE, FOR PROVIDING THIS VENUE AND THIS OPPORTUNITY. THE IMPORTANCE OF THE CONFERENCE HAS BECOME INCREASINGLY CLEAR AND HAS BEEN ENHANCED BECAUSE OF MAJOR REGIONAL ORGANIZATIONS INVOLVED AND ALSO BECAUSE OF UNITED NATIONS INVOLVEMENT.

THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE WILL CONTINUE ITS ENDEAVOURS TO CHOOSE THE PEACE OPTION IN THE MIDDLE EAST AND REFUSE ANY MEASURE THAT RUN COUNTER TO THEIR RIGHTFUL ASPIRATIONS. HOW CAN WE IMPLEMENT THE PROVISIONS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW? IS ISRAEL GOING TO REMAIN THE SPOILED CHILD THAT STAND OUTSIDE THE LAW AND INDEED APPARENTLY ABOVE THE LAW, INTERNATIONALLY SPEAKING. HAS NOT THE TIME NOW COME FOR ISRAEL TO BE DENIED ALL SORTS OF HELP AND SUPPORT GIVEN WHAT IS GOING IN THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES AND BE MADE TO WITHDRAW FROM THEM?

IN THE LIGHT OF THE RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS CONCERNING THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIANS, THIS WORLD FORUM CAN CONFER PROPER LEGITIMACY. IT IS UP TO US TO CONFIRM THAT THE UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS ARE THE LANDMARKS, ARE THE POINTS OF REFERENCE WITH REGARD TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, WHO MUST BE ALLOWED TO EXERCISE THEM IN FULL. THE UNITED ARAB WORLD WISHES TO SOUND A NOTE OF WARNING AGAINST ANY ATTEMPT TO CHANGE OR AMEND INTERNATIONAL RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED IN THE PAST 50 YEARS. THOSE RESOLUTIONS AND DECISIONS ARE THE REFERENCE FRAMEWORK FOR THE EXERCISE BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE OF SELF-DETERMINATION AND OTHER INALIENABLE RIGHTS. ANY SUCH ATTEMPT TO CHANGE OR AMEND WOULD IN AND OF ITSELF BE EXTREMELY DANGEROUS. IT WOULD BE AN ATTEMPT TO WIPE OUT HUMAN HISTORY AND TO REWRITE HUMAN MEMORIES. WHAT WE MUST DO IN THE MIDDLE EAST IS TO SEEK TO CONFIRM PEACE AND TO PUSH PEACE FORWARD.

IN CLOSING, I WISH TO CONVEY GREETINGS TO ALL OF YOU AND TO ANYONE AND ALL THOSE WHO RAISED THEIR VOICES IN PEACE AND FOR THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.

IBRA DEGUENE KA CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

WE HAVE COME HERE TO BRUSSELS TO SHARE OUR CONCERNS AND TO EXCHANGE VIEWS ON A VERY IMPORTANT SET OF ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, ITS LIVING CONDITIONS AND THE RECURRENT PROBLEMS FACED BY THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS. WE, REPRESENTATIVES OF GOVERNMENTS, INTERGOVERNMENTAL AND NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS, WERE DRIVEN BY A STRONG DESIRE TO CONTRIBUTE TO INTERNATIONAL EFFORTS AIMED AT SAVING THE PEACE PROCESS, ALLEVIATING THE LIVING CONDITIONS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND REALIZING ITS INALIENABLE RIGHTS.

TODAY, WE CONCLUDE THE TWO DAYS OF OUR DELIBERATIONS. ON BEHALF OF THE ORGANIZERS OF THE CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, I WOULD LIKE TO SAY HOW IMPRESSED WE WERE WITH THE QUALITY, SERIOUSNESS AND OPENNESS OF OUR DELIBERATIONS.

HAVING LISTENED TO THE INTERESTING AND VERY INSIGHTFUL PRESENTATIONS MADE BY ALL OF OUR DISTINGUISHED PARTICIPANTS, THE ORGANIZERS FELT THAT THEY COULD MAKE AN EFFORT TO REFLECT THE GENERAL THRUST OF THE DELIBERATIONS IN THEIR CONCLUDING REMARKS. I WAS REQUESTED BY THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES TO PRESENT THESE OBSERVATIONS AT THE CLOSING SESSION OF THE CONFERENCE.

I WOULD LIKE ONCE AGAIN TO EXTEND THE MOST SINCERE GRATITUDE OF THE ORGANIZERS TO ALL THE PARTICIPANTS, THE REPRESENTATIVES OF DONOR AND OTHER GOVERNMENTS, THE UNITED NATIONS SYSTEM ORGANIZATIONS, AS WELL AS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AND NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS FOR MAKING THESE TWO DAYS OF WORK PRODUCTIVE AND USEFUL.

ALLOW ME ALSO, ON BEHALF OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES. TO THANK AGAIN THE GOVERNMENT OF BELGIUM, THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS, FOR THE FACILITIES MADE AVAILABLE TO US AND FOR THE SUPPORT PROVIDED FOR THE CONFERENCE. AND, OF COURSE, I WISH TO THANK THE STAFF OF THE DIVISION FOR PALESTINIAN RIGHTS, AS WELL AS OF THE UNITED NATIONS OFFICE AT GENEVA, THE UNITED NATIONS INFORMATION CENTRE AND THE UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME OFFICE IN BRUSSELS FOR THEIR TIRELESS WORK AND ASSISTANCE TO THE ORGANIZERS.

ALSO ALLOW ME ALSO, IN MY CAPACITY AS CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, TO EXPRESS THE COMMITTEE'S GRATITUDE TO THE SECRETARIES-GENERAL OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE AND THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES FOR THEIR COOPERATION AND DEDICATED INVOLVEMENT IN ORGANIZING THIS CONFERENCE. THE REPORT OF THE CONFERENCE WILL BE PREPARED BY ITS SECRETARIAT AT UNITED NATIONS HEADQUARTERS IN NEW YORK.

VI. CONCLUDING REMARKS OF THE ORGANIZERS

- I. THE CONFERENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, HELD AT BRUSSELS ON 24 AND 25 FEBRUARY 1998, COINCIDED WITH THE PASSAGE OF 50 YEARS SINCE THE BEGINNING OF THE DISPOSSESSION OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, AS WELL AS 30 YEARS OF THE OCCUPATION OF PALESTINIAN LANDS IN 1967 AND 10 YEARS SINCE THE START OF THE INTIFADAH, THE UPRISING OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AGAINST THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION. SEPTEMBER 1998 WILL ALSO MARK FIVE YEARS SINCE THE SIGNING OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES ON INTERIM SELF-GOVERNMENT ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF ISRAEL AND THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION. THE AIM OF THE CONFERENCE WAS TO DRAW THE WORLD'S ATTENTION TO THE CONTINUING UNJUST AND APPALLING SITUATION FACED BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE, TO THE AGGRAVATING ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN THE OCCUPIED PALESTINIAN TERRITORIES AND TO THE THREATS AND DANGERS TO THE WHOLE REGION RESULTING FROM ISRAEL'S POLICIES, PRACTICES AND MEASURES.
- 2. THE MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS, WHICH RAISED GREAT HOPES, HAS COME TO A STALEMATE DUE TO THE NUMEROUS SETBACKS AND OBSTACLES PLACED BY THE ISRAELI GOVERNMENT, ITS NON-COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LAW, UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND THE AGREEMENTS SIGNED WITH THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION, ITS INHUMAN PRACTICES AND MEASURES VIOLATING THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND THE PROVISIONS OF THE FOURTH GENEVA CONVENTION OF 1949, THE CONTINUATION OF ITS EXPANSIONIST POLICY OF ILLEGAL SETTLEMENTS, ITS ATTEMPTS TO ALTER THE DEMOGRAPHIC, HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL CHARACTER AND STATUS OF THE HOLY CITY OF AL-QUDS (JERUSALEM), THE ECONOMIC BLOCKADE OF THE PALESTINIAN TERRITORY, THUS HAMPERING THE DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE.
- 3. WHILST THE WORLD IS CELEBRATING IN 1998 THE FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS, THOSE OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE CONTINUE TO BE DENIED BY ISRAEL AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE UNITED NATIONS ARE BEING VIOLATED WITH IMPUNITY.
- 4. The participation in the Conference of Many High-Level governmental delegations, eminent personalities and representatives of United Nations bodies and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations demonstrated the continued support by the international community of the Middle East peace process, based on the principle of Land for peace and aimed at implementing United Nations Security Council resolutions 242 (1967), 338 (1973) and 425 (1978), at enabling the Palestinian people to exercise their inalienable national rights and at achieving a comprehensive, just and lasting peace in the Middle East. The Conference also showed the determination of the international community to intensify its efforts to set the peace process back on all tracks, including the Syrian and the Lebanese ones. The organizers called upon the parties to abide by their contractual obligations under the agreements reached and to implement those agreements in a timely manner towards the realization of a final settlement. At this critical juncture, they also called upon the co-sponsors of the peace process to spare no effort in order to save it.
- 5. THE CONFERENCE SHOWED OVERWHELMING SUPPORT FOR THE EXERCISE BY THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE OF THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHTS, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THEIR STATE, AND REAFFIRMED THAT THIS IS A PRIMARY PREREQUISITE FOR THE SUCCESSFUL RESOLUTION OF THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT, THE CRUX OF WHICH IS THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE. THE CONFERENCE UNDERLINED THAT THE ISRAELI OCCUPATION OF PALESTINIAN AND ARAB TERRITORIES, INCLUDING AL-QUDS (JERUSALEM), MUST BE BROUGHT TO AN END WITHOUT DELAY AND MUTUAL RECOGNITION AND PEACEFUL COEXISTENCE MUST BE GIVEN AN OPPORTUNITY TO FLOURISH.
- 6. THE ORGANIZERS EMPHASIZED THE PERMANENT RESPONSIBILITY OF THE UNITED NATIONS TOWARDS THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE TILL IT IS RESOLVED IN ALL ITS ASPECTS IN CONFORMITY WITH RELEVANT UNITED NATIONS RESOLUTIONS AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL LEGITIMACY AND UNTIL PEACE IS FINALLY ACHIEVED. THEY EXPRESSED THEIR APPRECIATION FOR THE ROLE THAT THE UNITED NATIONS HAS BEEN PLAYING IN THIS REGARD. THEY REAFFIRMED THE CRUCIAL IMPORTANCE OF THE RESPECTIVE ROLES OF THEIR ORGANIZATIONS AND AGREED TO CONTINUE THEIR EFFORTS WITHIN AND OUTSIDE THE UNITED NATIONS, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE MANDATES, WITH A VIEW TO ACHIEVING THIS OBJECTIVE. THEY CALLED UPON ALL PARTICIPANTS TO CONTRIBUTE TO ENHANCE THEIR GOVERNMENTS' AND THE PUBLIC OPINION' AWARENESS TO THE PLIGHT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE AND TO THE NEED TO ENABLE THEM TO EXERCISE THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHTS.
- 7. THE ORGANIZERS EXPRESSED THEIR APPRECIATION TO THE MOVEMENT OF NON-ALIGNED COUNTRIES AND THE ORGANIZATION OF AFRICAN UNITY FOR THEIR CONTINUED ASSISTANCE TO AND UNFLINCHING SUPPORT OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THEY WERE ALSO GRATEFUL TO THE MEMBERS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION FOR THEIR POSITIVE POSITION AND INVALUABLE ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE TO THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE. THEY ALSO CALLED UPON THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY TO PERSIST IN THIS IMPORTANT ENDEAVOUR.
- 8. THE ORGANIZERS WELCOMED THE PARTICIPATION IN THE CONFERENCE OF YASSER ARAFAT, CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION AND PRESIDENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY. THEY EXPRESSED THEIR DEEP APPRECIATION FOR HIS SUSTAINED EFFORTS AND WISE LEADERSHIP IN THE QUEST FOR A PEACEFUL SOLUTION OF THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE, AS WELL AS A COMPREHENSIVE, JUST AND LASTING PEACE IN THE MIDDLE EAST.
- 9. THE ORGANIZERS EXPRESSED THEIR DEEP APPRECIATION AND PROFOUND GRATITUDE TO THE GOVERNMENT OF BELGIUM FOR HAVING GIVEN THEM THE OPPORTUNITY TO HOLD THIS CONFERENCE AND TO RAISE THE ABOVE-MENTIONED CONCERNS IN BRUSSELS, THE HEART OF EUROPE.

VII. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

GOVERNMENTS

ALBANIA GRIGOR DHASKALI, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

ALGERIA MOHAMED LAMARI, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

AZZEDINE ALLOUN, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

AHGOLA MANUEL VIEIRA DA FONSECA, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

ARGENTINA D. MARIO CÁMPORA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

VICENTE SALAS MARTÍNEZ, FIRST SECRETARY

AUSTRALIA JAANE DRAKE-BROCKMAN, CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES

ALEX BROOKING, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BRUSSELS

AUSTRIA ANDREAS RIECKEN, COUNSELLOR

PERMANENT OBSERVER MISSION OF AUSTRIA TO THE WESTERN EUROPEAN UNION, BRUSSELS

WALTER GRAHAMMER, MINISTER, DEPUTY HEAD OF MISSION TO BELGIUM

BANGLADESH KHAIRUL ANAM, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM, HEAD OF DELEGATION

SYED SHAH MOHAMMAD ALI, MINISTER

SHAPIQUE ISLAM EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

BELARUS ALEKSANDR BAICHOROV

ENVOY EXTRAORDINARY AND MINISTER PLENIPOTENTIARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

BELGIUM PIERRE LABOUVERIE, DIRECTOR, MIDDLE EAST DIVISION

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

HEAD OF DELEGATION
WILFRIED GEENS, DIRECTOR

UNITED NATIONS DIVISION, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

BOUDEWIJN DEREYMAEKER, COUNSELLOR

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

BENIN ABOUDOU SALIOU, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

OGOUDJOBI SIKIROU, MINISTER COUNSELLOR HINVI EULOGE, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

BOLIVIA MR. HORACIO BAZOBERRY, MINISTER COUNSELLOR,

CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES, A.I. EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

BRAZIL WASHINGTON LUIS PEREIRA DE SOUSA, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

MR. JORGE KARL DE SÁ EARP, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

BRUNEI DARUSSALAM DATO KASSIM DAUD, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

NORAZLINAH IBRAHIM, SECOND SECRETARY

BURUNDI LÉONIDAS NOORICIMPA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

CAMEROON ISABELLE BASSONG, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

IYA TIDJANI, MINISTER COUNSELLOR NDJODO CASIMIR, CULTURAL COUNSELLOR CANADA GEORGES BÉCHARD, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

CAPE VERDE JOSE LUIS ROCHA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HERCULES CRUZ, CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRS

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

CHILE HUGO CUBILLOS BRAVO, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

CARLOS PARKER, SENIOR ADVISER, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

CHINA WU JIUHONG, COUNSELLOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF

ASIAN-AFRICAN ISSUES, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

YAO MING, STAFF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ASIAN-AFRICAN ISSUES

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS ZHANG JINZIANG, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

COLOMBIA CARLOS LEMOS SIMMONDS, VICE PRESIDENT OF COLOMBIA

JOSÉ ANTONIO VARGAS LLERAS, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

DIEGO CARDONA C., MINISTER PLENIPOTENTIARY, EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

DIEGO ZULETA LLERAS, ADVISER TO THE VICE PRESIDENT

LIEUTENANT COMMANDER REYNALDO ESPINOSA H., AIDE-DE-CAMP TO THE VICE PRESIDENT

MAURICIO AVILA RODRIGUEZ, FIRST SECRETARY, EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

GEORGES ATTAL, COUNSELLOR PIERRE CREYSSON, ATTACHÉ ANNE FLONNEAU, ATTACHÉ

CROATIA SANDRA SEKULIC, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

CUBA RENÉ JUAN MUJICA CANTELAR, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

FRANCISCO ALFONSO LEDESMA, COMMERCIAL AND ECONOMIC COUNSELLOR, EMBASSY IN BELGIUM SILVIA BLANCA NOGALES, THIRD SECRETARY LOIPA SANCHEZ LORENZO, THIRD SECRETARY

CYPRUS CHRISTODOULOS PASIARDIS, DIRECTOR

DIVISION OF POLITICAL AFFAIRS, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

JAMES DROUSHIOTIS, COUNSELLOR

DEPUTY PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF CYPRUS TO THE UNITED NATIONS

CZECH REPUBLIC RICHARD HUK, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

DENMARK KRESTEN DUE, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

ECUADOR MENTOR VILLAGÓMEZ, MINISTER

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

EGYPT MOUNIR ZAHRAN, PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF EGYPT TO THE

UNITED NATIONS OFFICE AT GENEVA RAOUF SAAD, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM KHALED YOUSSEF, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

MOHAMED ABDELLAH, CHAIRMAN, FOREIGN RELATIONS COMMITTEE

ETHIOPIA PETER GABRIEL ROBLEH

AMBASSADOR TO THE BENELUX COUNTRIES AND THE EUROPEAN UNION

ASSEFA DELL, SECOND SECRETARY

MISSION TO THE BENELUX COUNTRIES AND THE EUROPEAN UNION

FIJI KALIOPATE TAVOLA, AAMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

FINLAND EERO AILIO, SECOND SECRETARY

FRANCE

ANNE VIDAL DE LA BLACHE, SECOND COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

JEAN HANNOYER, NORTH AFRICA-MIDDLE EAST DIVISION

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

GAMBIA

O. A. TOURAY, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SALIMATTA E. TOURAY, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

GEORGIA

KARHABER GOGOLASHVILI, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

GERMANY

HARRO ADT, MINISTER COUNSELLOR GOTTFRIED NAAGEL, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

GHANA

JACOB BOTWE WILMOT, AMBASSADOR AND

PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE TO THE UNITED NATIONS

HEAD OF DELEGATION

ROBERT TACHIE-MENSON, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELOIUM

GREECE

POLYXENI PETROPOULOU, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

GUYANA

HAVELOCK BREWSTER, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM GEORGE HALLAQ, SPECIAL ENVOY TO THE MIDDLE EAST

HUNGARY

BALÁZS BOKOR, AMBASSADOR,

DEPUTY DIRECTOR GENERAL, MINISTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

INDIA

YOGENDRA KUMAR, MINISTER

S. BAGCHI, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

HOONESIA

I.G.N.K. SUMANTERA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

ALI MARGONO, MINISTER COUNSELLOR JOHN PAREIRA, POLITICAL AFFAIRS STAFF AJI IFSAN ADIL., POLITICAL AFFAIRS STAFF

IRAN (ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF)

HAMID ABOUTALEBI, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HAMID ESLAMIZAD, THIRD COUNSELLOR MASOUD GHARANFOLI, FIRST SECRETARY

IRAO

TARIK M. YAHYA, CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES HUSSEIN ABID BAQUE, THIRD SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

IRELAND

JIM CARROLL, DEPUTY REGIONAL DIRECTOR

MIDDLE EAST

SRAEL

AMIRA DOTAH, SPOKESPERSON

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

ITALY

DIEGO BRASIOLI, COUNSELLOR

DEPUTY HEAD OF THE MIDDLE EAST DEPARTMENT OF THE

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

JAPAN

KEIISUKI SENTA, FIRST SECRETARY MISSION TO THE EUROPEAN UNION KOJI ABE, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

JORDAN

IBRAHIM BADRAN

DEPARTMENT OF PALESTINIAN AFFAIRS, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS UMAYYA S. TOUKAN, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM AND THE EUROPEAN UNION

SA'ED RADAIDEH, THIRD SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

KAZAKHSTAN

ABTYNBEK YEGIZBAYEV, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

KUWAIT

AHMAD AL-EBRAHIM, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HEAD OF DELEGATION

WALEED AL-KANDARI, FIRST SECRETARY MUTEB AL-MUTOTEH, THIRD SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

LATVIA

GINTS APALS, FIRST SECRETARY

LEBANON

JIHAD MORTADA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HASSAN ABI AKAR, COUNSELLOR ISHAYA EL-KHOURI, COUNSELLOR

LESOTHO

RETSELISITSOE VICTOR LECHESA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

POTLAKO P. NZIMA-NTSEKHE, COUNSELLOR

MASINGOANENG MOTANYANE

LIBYA

HAMED AHMED EL HOUDERI

SECRETARY OF THE ARAB LIBYAN PEOPLE'S BUREAU TO THE BENELUX COUNTRIES

CHIEF OF THE MISSION TO THE EUROPEAN UNION

AMBASSADOR TO THE EUROPEAN UNION

MALAWI

J. N. MPHANDE

AMBASSADOR TO THE EUROPEAN UNION M. M. Z. NJOLWA, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

MALAYSIA

DATO RENJI SATHIAH, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HEAD OF DELEGATION

AZMIL ZAABIDI, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

MALI

N'TJI LAÏCO TRAORE, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

MALTA

VICTOR CAMILLERI AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

AND THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES
MARLENE BONNICI, FIRST SECRETARY

MAURITANIA

BOULLAH OULD MOGUEYE, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

MAURITIUS

PARRWIZ CASSIM HOSSEN, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

Mexico

MANUEL ARMENDÁRIZ, AMBASSADOR TO THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

RAFAEL CERVANTES, MINISTER

EDUARDO MENACHE, SECOND SECRETARY

Morocco

RACHAD BOUHLAL

MOZAMBIQUE

SERGIO BALOI, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BRUSSELS

NAMIBIA

ZEDEKIA J. NGAVIRUE EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

NEPAL

KEDAR BHAKTA, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM MADHAVJI SHRESTHA, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

48

NETHERLANDS BIJOOET FRANCISCUS GIJSBERTAS

NICARAGUA NOHELIA PEREZ QUINTANA, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

NIGER HOUSSEINI ABDOU-SALEYE, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

BAZINDRE ALMOUMINE, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

OMAN MOHAMMED BIN SULTAN AL-BUSAIDI, AMBASSADOR TO FRANCE

PAKISTAN RIAZ MOHAMMAD KHAN, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

HEAD OF DELEGATION

SYED HASAN JAVED, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

PARAGUAY MANUEL CACARES, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

LOURDES RIVAS, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

PERU ALVARO GANOZA, FIRST SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

PHILIPPINES ELIZABETH P. BUENSUCESO, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES, A I., EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

POLAND JAN WOJCIECH PIEKARSKI, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

PORTUGAL FATIMA PERESTAELLO, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

QATAR ALI SULTAN AL-ZAMAN, DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ORGANIZATIONS,

CONFERENCES AND INTERNATIONAL ACCORDS, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

NASSER AL-KHALIFA, AMBASSADOR TO THE UNITED NATIONS

MOHAMED AL-HAYIKI, CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

ROMANIA MIHAI STEFAN STUPARU, DIRECTOR FOR MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

RAZVAN VICTOR RUSU, ASSISTANT ATTACHÉ

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

CORNELIU IORGULESCU, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

RUSSIAN FEDERATION ALEXANDER SHEIN, DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF THE

MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA DEPARTMENT

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

SAUDI ARABIA NASSIR ALASSAF, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

Osama Al-Dohar, First Secretary Mohammed Madani, First Secretary Mohammad-Rajai Barakat, Researcher

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SENEGAL CHERIF YOUNOUSS DIAITÉ, AMBASSADOR

DIRECTOR OF THE CABINET OF THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS

SALOUM KANDÉ, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

SLOVAKIA ELENA LETKOVÁ, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SLOVENIA JASA ZLOBEC-LUKIC, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

MR. DUBRAVKA SEKORANJA, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SOUTH AFRICA L. N. SISULU, DEPUTY MINISTER OF HOME APPAIRS

FRANÇOIS HUGO, ADMINISTRATIVE SECRETARY

SCHOEMAN DU PLESSIS, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

SPAIN JOSÉ MIGUEL MURO MARTINEZ, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SRI LANKA C. F. CHINNIAH, MINISTER COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SUDAN GALAL H. ATABANI, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

SWEDEN NIKLAS KEBBON, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

SYRIA ARAB REPUBLIC HANI HABEEB, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

> ADIB KHANI, MINISTER PLENIPOTENTIARY ZOUHEIR JABBOUR, COUNSELLOR

PENPRAPA VONGKOVIT, FIRST SECRETARY THAILAND

PICHIT BOONSUD, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

THE PORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA

DUSAN STOJANOV, MINISTER COUNSELLOR MISSION TO THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES ZORAN STOJCEVSKI, THIRD SECRETARY

TUNISIA SADOK FAYALA, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR FOREIGH AFFAIRS

> TAHAR SIOUD, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM MOHAMED FAWZI BLOUT, COUNSELLOR

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO J. ANDRÉ LAVEAU, SECOND SECRETARY

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

TURKEY FARUK LOGOGLU, DEPUTY UNDER-SECRETARY FOR POLITICAL AFFAIRS

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS SERMET ÜLKER, FIRST SECRETARY BESTE PEHLÏVAN, ATTACHÉ

UKRAINE HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO, MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS

HEAD OF DELEGATION

VALERI KUCHINSKY, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

BORYS TARASYUK, AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM

SERHIY KYSLYTSYA, FIRST SECRETARY, EMBASSY IN BELGIUM DINA MARTINA, THIRD SECRETARY, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS MR. OLEXANDR TYMOSHENKO, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES AHMAD MAHMOUD GHAITH AL-HOSANI, DIRECTOR

DEPARTMENT OF ARAB HOMELAND, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

HEAD OF DELEGATION

YOUSUF AL-HASSAN, COUNSELLOR

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS AND STUDIES

MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

SAGER NASSER ALRAISI, FIRST SECRETARY, EMBASSY TO BELGIUM

HASSAN AHMAD AL-SHEHI, FIRST SECRETARY

DEPARTMENT OF ARAB HOMELAND, MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND

EDWARD GLOVER, DEPUTY HEAD OF MISSION

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

UNITED REPUBLIC

HELEN KAFUMBA, FIRST SECRETARY OF TANZANIA

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

United States of America WILLIAM R. REGAN

FIRST SECRETARY OF THE MISSION TO THE EUROPEAN UNION

URUQUAY

ALICIA PLATA, FIRST SECRETARY

MISSION TO THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

VENEZUELA

ARTURO BERTI CUPELLA, COUNSELLOR

EMBASSY IN BELGIUM

VIET NAM

HUYNH ANH DZUNG

AMBASSADOR TO THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

YEMEN

GAZEM ABDUL KHALEQ AL-AGHBARI

AMBASSADOR TO BELGIUM ALI ZORKOT, SECRETARY

ZIMBABWE

SIMBARASHE S. MUMBENGEGWI

AMBASSADOR TO THE EUROPEAN UNION

JONATHAN WUTAWUNASHE, DEPUTY HEAD OF MISSION

IGNATIUS KAMBA, COUNSELLOR

OTHER ORGANIZATIONS HAVING RECEIVED A STANDING INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE
AS OBSERVERS IN THE SESSIONS AND THE WORK OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND
MAINTAINING PERMANENT OBSERVER MISSIONS AT HEADQUARTERS

PALESTINE

MR. YASSER ARAFAT

CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE

PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION

AND PRESIDENT OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

FAROUK KADDOUME

HEAD OF THE POLITICAL DEPARTMENT

OF THE PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION

NABEEL SHAATH

MINISTER FOR PLANNING AND INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

OF THE PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

MARWAN KANAFANI

ADVISER

NABIL ABU RUDEINEH

ADVISER

CHAWKI ARMALI

GENERAL DELEGATE OF PALESTINE TO BELGIUM

HISHAM EL-FARRA ECONOMIC ADVISOR PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

FATHI EL MOHOR

DEPUTY DIRECTOR

GENERAL DELEGATION OF PALESTINE TO BELGIUM

AHMAD ABDELRAZEK

DEPUTY GENERAL DELEGATE TO FRANCE

TADROS NOHA

POLITICAL DEPARTMENT

KHELLEF YASSER

POLITICAL DEPARTMENT

REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS

SIR KIERAN PRENDERGAST
UNDER-SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR POLITICAL APPAIRS

DELEGATION OF THE COMMITTEE ON THE EXERCISE OF THE INALIENABLE RIGHTS OF THE PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

IBRA DEGUÈNE KA
PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF SENEGAL TO THE UNITED NATIONS
CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE

BRUNO E. RODRÍGUEZ PARRILLA PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF CUBA TO THE UNITED NATIONS VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE

RAVAN FARHADI
PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF AFGHANISTAN TO THE UNITED NATIONS
VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE

GEORGE SALIBA
PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF MALTA TO THE UNITED NATIONS
RAPPORTEUR OF THE COMMITTEE

M. NASSER AL-KIDWA
PERMANENT OBSERVER OF PALESTINE TO THE UNITED NATIONS

DELEGATION OF THE ORGANIZATION OF THE ISLAMIC CONFERENCE

AZZEDINE LARAKI SECRETARY-GENERAL

ABDULAZIZ ABOUGHOSH
ASSISTANT SECRETARY-GENERAL

BOUBOU NIANG
DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF THE CABINET

AHMED TAZI
ADVISER TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL

NUREDDINE MEZNI ADVISER TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL

BILAL SASSO AL-QUOS AND PALESTINE DEPARTMENT

DELEGATION OF THE LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES

AHMED ESMAT ABDEL MEGUID
SECRETARY-GENERAL

SAID KAMAL ASSISTANT SECRETARY-GENERAL FOR PALESTINIAN AFFAIRS BRAHIM BEN BARKA HEAD OF THE MISSION, BRUSSELS

SAYED TORBEY CHARGÉ D'AFFAIRES ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE

DJANET EL-MOKRANI

PRESS AND INFORMATION

EMINENT PERSONS

AHMAD MOHAMMED ALI

PRESIDENT, ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK

SHULAMIT ALONI MERETZ PARTY

FORMER MINISTER OF EDUCATION OF ISRAEL

HARRY G. BARNES, JR.

DIRECTOR

CONFLICT RESOLUTION AND HUMAN RIGHTS PROGRAMS

THE CARTER CENTER

MICHAEL HINDLEY

MEMBER OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT

AND CO-CHAIRMAN OF THE PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION

NABIL SHAATH

MINISTER OF PLANNING AND INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

PALESTINIAN AUTHORITY

MR. HENRY SIEGMAN

DIRECTOR, United States/MIDDLE EAST PROJECT AND SENIOR FELLOW

COUNCIL ON FOREIGN RELATIONS

UNITED NATIONS ORGANS, AGENCIES AND BODIES

HENNADIY U. UDOVENKO, PRESIDENT GENERAL ASSEMBLY

OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF UKRAINE

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE

DIRECTOR, LIAISON OFFICE, BRUSSELS ORGANIZATION OF THE

A. MATTON UNITED NATIONS

LIAISON OFFICER, BRUSSELS

MOHAMME HASSANI

M. R. DE MONTALEMBERT

INTERNATIONAL FUND FOR

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME DIANA MOLI, ASSISTANT TO THE DIRECTOR

LAURENT PIERANDREI, ADVISER

UNITED NATIONS

MAKRAM GERGES

REGIONAL DIRECTOR FOR WEST ASIA ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL,

DANIEL JANICOT ASSISTANT DIRECTOR-GENERAL FOR THE DIRECTORATE

SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL O. MASSALHA, DIRECTOR **ORGANIZATION**

COORDINATION UNIT FOR ACTION IN FAVOUR OF THE

PALESTINIAN PEOPLE

UNITED NATIONS

MOHAMMED MAZOUZ POPULATION FUND

UNFPA GLOBAL PROGRAMME, BRUSSELS

OFFICIAL REPRESENTATIVE TO THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

OFFICE OF THE UNITED NATIONS

HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR

REPUGEES

ABDELHAMID EL QUALI SENIOR LEGAL ADVISER

WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME

GUISEPPE LUBATTI SENIOR LIAISON OFFICER

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

DR. ANDRÉ PROST HEAD OF MISSION

REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DIRECTOR GENERAL

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

KARIN JOHANSSON DESK OFFICER

WEST BANK AND GAZA STRIP

MARYEM VAN DEN HEUVEL

SABEL CANDELA DIEGO DE QUEDA GARANCE WATTEZ

EUROPEAN UNION

CHRIS INNES-HOPKINS

POLITICAL ADVISER TO THE EUROPEAN UNION SPECIAL ENVOY TO THE

MIDDLE EAST PEACE PROCESS

ISLAMIC DEVELOPMENT BANK

MANSOUR FETEN

CHIEF

CHIEF OPERATIONS DIVISION III

ORGANIZATION OF APRICAN UNITY

MOHAMOUD ABDI DAAR

DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF THE OAU OFFICE, BELGIUM

SPECIAL GUESTS

ANNE-MARIE LIZIN SENATOR

BELGIUM

HANNU HALINEN AMBASSADOR FINNISH EMBASSY

BERLIN

LUC SEVENHANS

MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT

BELGIUM

NGO OBSERVERS

AL-SHARQ AL-AWSAT

LONDON

AFRO-ASIAN PEOPLES' SOLIDARITY ORGANIZATION

CAIRO

ARAB LAWYERS UNION CAIRO

ARAB ORGANIZATION FOR HUMAN RIGHTS

CAIRO

ASIAN COORDINATING COMMITTEE FOR NGOS ON THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE

NEW DELHI

ASSOCIATION LUXEMBOURGEOISE POUR LES NATIONS UNIES

LUXEMBOURG

BELGIAN-PALESTINIAN ASSOCIATION

BRUSSELS, BELGIUM

BILANCE

COMITÉ LUXEMBOURGEOIS DE SOUTIEN AU PEUPLE PALESTINIEN

LUXEMBOURG

COMITÉ DE VIGILANCE POUR UNE PAIX RÉELLE AU PROCHE-ORIENT

COUNCIL FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF ARAB-BRITISH UNDERSTANDING

LONDON

ENFANTS-RÉFUGIÉS DU MONDE

MONTREUIL

EURO-PALESTINIAN ECONOMIC AND CONSULTANCY UNIT

BRUSSELS

FRENCH PLATFORM FOR PALESTINE

PARIS

GESELLSCHAFTSANALYSE UND POLITISCHE BILDUNG E.V.

BERLIN

GREEK COMMITTEE FOR INTERNATIONAL DEMOCRATIC SOLIDARITY

ATHENS

(MEMBER OF EUROPEAN COORDINATING COMMITTEE FOR NGOs ON THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE)

INTERNATIONAL JEWISH PEACE UNION

PARIS

PARLIAMENTARY ASSOCIATION FOR EURO-ARAB COOPERATION

BRUSSELS

INTERNATIONAL PROGRESS ORGANIZATION

VIENNA

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF FAMILY ORGANIZATIONS

CURITIBA-PARANÁ-BRAZIL

JUSTICE AND PEACE COMMISSION

LAW - THE PALESTINIAN SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE ENVIRONMENT

SHUFAT, JERUSALEM

LUTFIA RABBANI FOUNDATION

THE HAGUE, NETHERLANDS

MEDICAL AID FOR PALESTINIANS

LONDON

MEDICO INTERNATIONAL

OBERURSEL, GERMANY

NAJDEH HANNOVER, GERMANY

NATIONAL CENTRE FOR COOPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT BRUSSELS

NORTH AMERICAN COORDINATING COMMITTEE FOR NGOS ON THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE MADISON, NEW JERSEY, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

NORTH-SOUTH XXI

OXFAM SOLIDARITE BRUSSELS

PALESTINE COUNCIL FOR JUSTICE AND PEACE RAMALLAH-JERUSALEM

PAX CHRISTI INTERNATIONAL BRUSSELS

POLLEN

PORTUGUESE COUNCIL FOR PEACE AND COOPERATION LISBON

RADIO AL MANAR BRUSSELS

RADIO ORIENT PARIS

SAVE THE CHILDREN FUND (UK) LONDON

SOCIETY FOR AUSTRO-ARAB RELATIONS VIENNA

SPANISH NGO COMMITTEE ON THE QUESTION OF PALESTINE (IEPALA) MADRID

UNA-BELGIUM

Union of International Associations Brussels

United Towns Organization Paris

VLAAMS PALESTINA KOMITEE BRUSSELS

WORLD ALLIANCE OF YMCAS GENEVA

WORLD MUSLIM CONGRESS ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN

WORLD VISION BRUSSELS

WORLD YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION GENEVA

56